
 

 

North Devon Council 
Brynsworthy Environment Centre 
Barnstaple 
North Devon   EX31 3NP 
 
M. Mansell, BSc (Hons), 
F.C.P.F.A. 

Chief Executive. 
 

 
 

To: All Members of the Council 
and Chief Officers 

 
NOTE: PLEASE NOTE THAT PRAYERS WILL BE SAID AT 5.55 P.M. PRIOR TO THE 
COUNCIL MEETING FOR ANY MEMBER WHO WISHES TO ATTEND 
 

EXTRAORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING 
 
YOU ARE HEREBY SUMMONED to attend a Extraordinary meeting of NORTH DEVON 
COUNCIL to be held in the Barum Room - Brynsworthy Environment Centre on 
MONDAY, 15TH APRIL, 2019 at 6.00 pm. 
 

Chief Executive 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies for absence   

2.   Chairman's announcements   

3.   Business brought forward by or with the consent of the Chairman   

4.   Replies to any questions submitted by the Public and/or to receive Petitions under 
Part 4, Council Procedures Rules, Paragraphs 8 and 9 of the Constitution   

5.   To consider motions of which notice has been submitted by Members in 
accordance with Part 4, Council Procedure Rules, Paragraph 11 of the 
Constitution   

6.   Declarations of Interest   

 (NB. Members only need to re-declare any interests previously declared at 
Committee and Sub-Committee meetings if the item is discussed at 
Council). 

 

7.   Chairman's replies to any questions to Council by Members submitted under Part 
4, Council Procedures Rules, Paragraph 10 of the Constitution   

Public Document Pack



 
 

 
2 

 

8.   To agree the agenda between Part 'A' and Part 'B' (Confidential Restricted 
Information).   

PART A 

9.   Adoption of Constitution  (Pages 7 - 152) 

 Report by Head of Corporate and Community (attached). 
 

10.   Proposed Committee Timetable 2019/20  (Pages 153 - 172) 

 Report by Head of Corporate and Community (attached). 
 

11.   Head of Paid Service: Remuneration  (Pages 173 - 174) 

 Report by Human Resources Manager (attached). 
 

12.   Head of Paid Service: Appointment  (Pages 175 - 176) 

 Report by Human Resources Manager (attached). 
 

13.   Appointment of Returning Officer and Electoral Registration Officer  (Pages 
177 - 178) 

 Report by Chief Executive (attached) 
 

PART B (CONFIDENTIAL RESTRICTED INFORMATION) 

Nil. 
 
 
 

 

If you have any enquiries about this agenda, please contact Corporate and 
Community Services, telephone 01271 388253 

 
 

 
NOTE: : Please note that following the District Council Elections on 2nd May 2019, 
paper copies of agenda for all Council and Committee meetings will no be longer 
be produced. All Councillors will receive agendas and minutes electronically. 
 
 

5.04.19 
 



 
 

 
3 

 

 
GUIDANCE NOTES FOR RULES OF DEBATE AT MEETINGS OF COUNCIL 
 
Part 4, Council Procedure Rules of the Constitution 
 
The basics 
 
At a meeting of Full Council, Members shall stand when speaking unless 
unable to do so and shall address the Chair. 
 
While a Member is speaking, other Members shall remain seated unless 
rising for a point of order, a point of information or in personal explanation. 
 
No speeches may be made after the mover had moved a proposal and 
explained the purpose of it until the motion has been seconded. 
 
Unless notice of motion has already been given, the Chair may require it to 
be written down and handed to him before it is discussed. 
 
When seconding a motion or amendment, a member may reserve their 
speech until later in the debate. 
 
Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to be 
personal explanation or point of order. 
 
A speech by the mover of a motion may not exceed 5 minutes without the 
consent of the Chair. 
 
Speeches by other Members may not exceed 3 minutes without the 
consent of the Chair, unless when the Council’s annual budget is under 
discussion, the leader of each political group on the Council may speak for 
up to 5 minutes or such longer period as the Chair shall allow. 
 
 
The rules of Executive Question Time  
 
At a meeting of the Council, other than the Annual meeting, a Member of 
the Council may ask the Leader, any Executive Member or the chair of a 
committee any question without notice upon an item of the report of the 
Executive or a committee when that item is being received or under 
consideration by the Council. 

 
 



 
 

 
4 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

North Devon Council protocol on recording/filming at Council meetings 
 
The Council is committed to openness and transparency in its decision-making. 
Recording is permitted at Council meetings that are open to the public. The Council 
understands that some members of the public attending its meetings may not wish to be 
recorded. The Chairman of the meeting will make sure any request not to be recorded is 
respected.  
 
The rules that the Council will apply are:  
 

1. The recording must be overt (clearly visible to anyone at the meeting) and must 
not disrupt proceedings. The Council will put signs up at any meeting where we 
know recording is taking place.  

 
2. The Chairman of the meeting has absolute discretion to stop or suspend recording 

if, in their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice proceedings at the meeting 
or if the person recording is in breach of these rules.  

 
3. We will ask for recording to stop if the meeting goes into ‘part B’ where the public 

is excluded for confidentiality reasons. In such a case, the person filming should 
leave the room ensuring all recording equipment is switched off. 

 
4. Any member of the public has the right not to be recorded. We ensure that 

agendas for, and signage at, Council meetings make it clear that recording can 
take place – anyone not wishing to be recorded must advise the Chairman at the 
earliest opportunity.  

 
5. The recording should not be edited in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or 

misrepresentation of the proceedings or in a way that ridicules or shows a lack of 
respect for those in the recording. The Council would expect any recording in 
breach of these rules to be removed from public view.  

 
Notes for guidance: 
 
Please contact either our Corporate and Community Services team or our 
Communications team in advance of the meeting you wish to record at so we can make 
all the necessary arrangements for you on the day.  
 
For more information contact the Corporate and Community Services team on 01271 
388253 or email memberservices@northdevon.gov.uk or the Communications Team 
on 01271 388278, email communications@northdevon.gov.uk. 



 
 

 
5 

 

 
 
North Devon Council offices at Brynsworthy, the full address is:  
Brynsworthy Environment Centre (BEC), Roundswell,  
Barnstaple, Devon, EX31 3NP. 
 
Sat Nav postcode is EX31 3NS. 
 
At the Roundswell roundabout take the exit onto the B3232, after about ½ mile take the 
first right, BEC is about ½ a mile on the right. 
 
Drive into the site, visitors parking is in front of the main building on the left hand side.  
 
On arrival at the main entrance, please dial 8253 for Corporate and Community Services. 
 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

Open 

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL 

 

REPORT TO: FULL COUNCIL 

Date: 15th April 2019 

TOPIC: ADOPTION OF CONSTITUTION 

REPORT BY: HEAD OF CORPORATE AND COMMUNITY 

 

1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1   Previous reports to Council have presented a number of different options for 
changing the Constitution. 

1.2   At the last meeting in February, a steer was given to develop a Constitution 
around a Committee structure with no formal Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

1.3  This report now presents the final version of that Constitution for adoption by 
Council. 

2 RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1   That the revised Constitution as shown in Appendix 1 be adopted as from 1st 
May 2019. 

2.2 That the revised Constitution be reviewed after 12 months. 

3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1   To move ahead with adopting a revised Constitution to address issues 
identified through the Working Group 

4 REPORT 

4.1   Officers have worked with a cross party Working Group on different options for 
the adoption of a revised Constitution.   

4.2   A number of elements were identified by the Working Group as important to a 
revised structure including a wider political involvement in decisions and 
resilience to political change. 

4.3   At the meeting of Full Council on the 25th February 2019, Members provided a 
steer as to the preferred structure and as a result a full version of a Constitution 
based on the Committee system is now presented. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 9



4.4   The draft provided does not contain a formal Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.  This is because if the Council decided to have such a Committee, 
it would have to adopt the statutory provisions relating to such Committees.  
The Working Group considered that the Committee structure provided a 
scrutiny function within the actual Committee system but wanted to ensure that 
the other functions of an O&S Committee remained.  That has been 
incorporated into the draft attached. 

4.5   Some concern was also expressed about the loss of the Portfolio Holder role in 
a Committee system.  As a consequence, changes have been made to 
introduce the option of Council appointing Lead Members for areas considered 
necessary by Full Council.  The role of a Lead Member is to act as a figurehead 
and spokesperson for that area of work and not to take decisions. 

4.6   Also included within the draft at Part 7 is a revised document setting out the 
roles of the Chair, the Leader, Lead Members, Members of Strategy and 
Resources and Councillors generally.  This reinforces the need for more 
cooperative working in the new structure.  

4.7   Other changes from the draft provided at the last meeting have been cosmetic.  
Further changes to the names of various officer positions will need further 
amendment if other reports on the agenda are adopted but these changes can 
be made under delegated powers. 

4.8   Members should note that the existing protocols and Joint Committee 
arrangements will also be added to the Constitution if adopted.  A revised 
Allowance Scheme will also be presented to Members at the Full Council 
meeting in May and then included.  These are not reproduced in these papers. 

5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 There are none. 

6 CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT 

Article or Appendix 
and paragraph 

Referred or 
delegated power? 

Article 4 Delegated 

7 STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

7.1  This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under the 
provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act. 

8 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

8.1 The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 

o Previous reports, 

o IdEA Reports 

Page 8

Agenda Item 9



The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author of 
the report. 

9 STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE 

9.1 The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate 
Councillors and Officers. 

Author: Ken Miles   Date: 2nd April 2019 
Reference: 

Page 9

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 1 

MAY 2019 

1 

PART 1 

SUMMARY AND EXPLANATION 

1. THE COUNCIL’S CONSTITUTION 

North Devon District Council has agreed a Constitution which sets out how the Council 
operates, how decisions are made and the procedures which are followed to ensure 
that these are efficient, transparent and accountable to local people. Some of these 
processes are required by the law, while others are a matter for the Council to choose. 

The Constitution is divided into a number Articles which set out the basic rules 
governing the Council’s business.  More detailed procedures and codes of practice are 
provided in separate rules and protocols towards the end of the document. 

2. HOW THE COUNCIL OPERATES 

2.1 The Council is composed of 42 Councillors elected every four years.  Councillors are 
democratically accountable to the residents of their electoral division.  The overriding 
duty of Councillors is to the whole community, but they have a special duty to their 
constituents, including those who did not vote for them. 

2.2 The Council currently operates a Committee structure. Some Councillors may have 
specific responsibilities for an area of the Councils activities (Lead Members). 

2.3 All Councillors meet together as the Council.  Meetings of the Council are normally 
open to the public.  Here Councillors decide the Council’s overall policies and set the 
budget each year.  The Council is also responsible for appointing the Leader of the 
Council and for appointing committees and sub-committees,. 

3. HOW DECISIONS ARE MADE 

3.1 Full Council is responsible for the discharge of functions and duties of the District 
Council.  It delegates some of those functions and duties to Committees and to officers.  
The decisions that have been delegated are set out in Part 3. 

3.2 Most of the Council’s Committees are politically balanced.  This means that decisions 
are taken collectively by representatives of all political groups on the Council.  
Generally, the public will be able to attend meetings of the Full Council and 
Committees. 

3.3 Decisions taken by Committees and officers should be in accordance with the budget 
and policy framework.  Decisions outside of this should be taken by Full Council.  

4. THE COUNCIL’S STAFF 

4.1 The Council has people working for it (called “Officers”) to give advice, implement 
decisions and manage the day-to-day delivery of its services.  Some Officers have a 
specific duty to ensure that the Council acts within the law and uses its resources 

Page 11

Agenda Item 9
Appendix A



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 1 

MAY 2019 

2 

wisely.  A protocol (to be found in Part 5) governs the relationships between Officers 
and Councillors. 

5. CITIZENS RIGHTS 

5.1 Citizens have a number of rights in their dealings with the Council.  These are set out in 
more detail in Article 3.  Some of these are legal rights, whilst others depend on the 
Council’s own processes.  The local Citizens’ Advice Bureau can advise on individuals’ 
legal rights. 

5.2 Where members of the public use specific Council services, for example as a parent of 
a school pupil, they have additional rights.  These are not covered in this Constitution. 

5.3  Citizens have the right to: 

5.3.1 vote at local elections if they are registered; 

5.3.2 contact their local councillor about any matters of concern to them; 

5.3.3     obtain a copy of the Constitution; 

5.3.4 attend meetings of the Council and its committees except where, for 
example, personal or confidential matters are being discussed; 

5.3.5 petition to request a referendum on a mayoral form of executive; 

5.3.6 petition the Council, about a matter for which it has responsibility or which 
affects the Council’s area; 

5.3.7 ask questions at Council meetings on matters relevant to the Council’s 
functions; 

5.3.8 attend meetings of the Committees except where personal or 
confidential matters are being discussed; 

5.3.9 see reports and background papers, and any record of decisions made 
by the Council and Committees; 

5.3.10 complain to the Council about the way a service has been delivered or 
about anything the Council have done or propose to do. A copy of the 
Council’s Corporate Complaints Policy and Procedure can be obtained 
from the Head of Corporate and Community; 

5.3.11 complain to the Ombudsman if they think the Council has not followed its 
procedures properly.  However, they should only do this after using the 
Council’s own complaints process;  

5.3.12 complain to the Council’s Monitoring Officer if they have evidence which 
they believe shows that a councillor or a parish councillor has not 
followed their Council’s Code of Conduct; and 

Page 12

Agenda Item 9
Appendix A



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 1 

MAY 2019 

3 

5.3.13 inspect the Council’s accounts and make their views known to the 
external auditor. 

The Council welcomes participation by its citizens in its work. For further 
information on your rights as a citizen, please contact the Head of Corporate and 
Community.  A statement of the rights of citizens to inspect agendas and reports 
and attend meetings is set out in the Access to Information Procedure Rules in 
Part 4. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 9
Appendix A



This page is intentionally left blank



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

1 
 

NORTH DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 

1. ARTICLE 1 – THE CONSTITUTION 

1.1 Powers of the Council 

The Council will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with 
the law and this Constitution. 

1.2 The Constitution 

This Constitution, and all its appendices, is the Constitution of North 
Devon District Council. 

1.3 Interpretation of Terms 

Throughout this Constitution references to the masculine gender shall 
be taken to mean both the masculine and the feminine gender and 
expressions in the singular shall include, where appropriate, the plural. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

2 
 

2. ARTICLE 2 – MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL 

2.1 Composition and Eligibility 

2.1.1 Composition 

The Council will comprise 42 Members, otherwise called 
Councillors. One or more Councillors will be elected by the 
voters of each ward in accordance with a scheme drawn up by 
the Local Government Commission and approved by the 
Secretary of State. 

2.1.2 Eligibility 

Only registered voters of the District or those living or working 
there will be eligible to hold the office of Councillor.   

2.2 Election and Terms of Councillors 

The regular election of Councillors will be held on the first Thursday in 
May every four years beginning in 2019. The Terms of Office of 
Councillors will start on the fourth day after being elected and will finish 
on the fourth day after the date of the next regular election. 

2.3 Roles and functions of all Councillors 

2.3.1 Key roles 

All Councillors will: 

(a) collectively be the ultimate policy-makers and carry out a 
number of strategic and corporate management functions; 

(b) contribute to the good governance of the whole of the area 
and actively encourage community participation and 
citizen involvement in decision making; 

(c) effectively represent the interest of their ward and of 
individual constituents; 

(d) respond to constituent’s enquiries and representations, 
fairly and impartially; 

(e) participate in the governance and management of the 
Council; 

(f) be available to represent the Council on other bodies;  

Page 16

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

3 
 

(g) maintain the highest standards of conduct and ethics; and 

(h) participate in training and development opportunities 
offered by the Council. 

Further details on roles and responsibilities are contained in 
Part 7 of the Constitution (Member Role Descriptions). 
Councillors may fulfil more than one role and the detail is 
intended to cover these main roles. 

2.4 Rights and Duties 

2.4.1 Councillors will have such rights of access to such documents, 
information, land and buildings of the Council as are necessary 
for the proper discharge of their functions and in accordance 
with the law. 

2.4.2 Councillors should consider the situation carefully and, if 
appropriate, seek guidance from the Monitoring Officer before 
making information public which is confidential or exempt 
without the consent of the Council or divulge information given 
in confidence to anyone other than a Councillor or officer 
entitled to know it. 

2.4.3 For these purposes, “confidential” and “exempt” information 
are defined in the Access to Information Procedure Rules 
contained in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

2.5 Conduct 

Councillors will at all times observe the Members’ Code of Conduct 
and the Protocol on Member/Officer Relations, and when sitting on the 
Planning Committee, the Planning Code of Conduct, set out in Part 5 
of this Constitution. 

2.6 Allowances 

Councillors will be entitled to receive allowances in accordance with 
the Members’ Allowances Scheme set out in Part 6 of this Constitution. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

4 
 

3. ARTICLE 3 – CITIZENS AND THE COUNCIL 

Citizens have a number of rights and responsibilities.  The following list is a 
general summary of rights in terms of information, the opportunity to 
participate and the ability to make complaints. 

3.1 Citizens’ Rights 

Citizens have the following rights. Their right to information and to 
participate are explained in more detail in the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules contained in Part 4 of this Constitution: 

3.1.1 Voting and petitions 

Citizens on the electoral roll for the area have the right to: 

(a) Vote; 

(b) Sign a petition to request a referendum for an elected 
mayor form of Constitution; and 

(c) Sign any other petition they wish to support. 

3.1.2 Information 

Citizens have the right to: 

(a) attend meetings of the Council and its Committees except 
where confidential or exempt information is likely to be 
disclosed, and the meeting is therefore held in private; 

 (d) see agendas, reports and background papers, and any 
records of decisions made by the Council and 
Committees, except where confidential or exempt 
information is likely to be disclosed;  

(e) inspect the Council’s accounts and make their views 
known to the external auditor; 

(f) ask questions at Council meetings; and 

(g) subject to the rules applicable from time to time, to attend 
the Council’s Planning Committee and address the 
Committee. 

Page 18

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

5 
 

3.1.3 Complaint 

Citizens have the right to complain to: 

(a) the Council itself under its Complaints Scheme;  

(b) the Ombudsman; or 

(c) the Monitoring Officer about a breach of the Councillor’s 
Code of Conduct. 

 . 
3.2 Citizens’ Responsibilities 

Citizens must not harass, be violent, abusive or threatening to 
Councillors or officers and must not wilfully harm things owned by the 
Council, Councillors or officers. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

6 
 

4. ARTICLE 4 – THE FULL COUNCIL 

4.1 Introduction 

The full Council is a formal meeting of all Councillors.  The full Council 
is required by law to take certain important decisions including setting 
the Council’s Budget and Council Tax and approving a number of key 
plans and strategies, which together form the Policy Framework (listed 
below).  The full Council must also by law take decisions on a number 
of specific matters. 

The full Council provides a central forum for debate and gives the 
opportunity for Councillors and members of the public, the opportunity 
to ask questions about the Council or matters affecting the Council. 

4.2 The Council 

4.2.1 Role 

A meeting of the Council is one at which all 42 members are 
entitled to attend, speak and vote. The Council is responsible 
for approving the Budget and Policy Framework of the Council. 
It will carry out some functions itself but others will be 
delegated to Committees or named officers. 

4.3 Policy Framework 

The Policy Framework means the following three categories of plans 
and strategies: 

4.3.1 Those required by law to be adopted by the Council, namely: 

(a) Sustainable Community Strategy; 

(b) Crime and Disorder Reduction Strategy/Community Safety 
Strategy; and 

(c) Local Plan and Development Plan. 

4.3.2 Those which the Council has chosen to adopt as part of the 
Policy Framework, namely: 

 (a)  Corporate Plan, and 

(b) Housing Strategy. 

Page 20

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

7 
 

4.3.3 Any plan or strategy required by law to be sent to a Minister 
of the Crown for approval. 

4.4 Budget 

Responsibility for the Budget includes the allocation of financial 
resources to different services and projects, proposed contingency 
funds, determining the Council tax base, setting the Council tax level, 
decisions relating to the control of the Council’s borrowing 
requirements, investments, the control of its capital expenditure and 
the setting of expenditure limits and permitted budget transfers. 

4.5 Functions of the full Council 

Only the full Council will exercise the following functions: 

4.5.1 adopting and changing the Constitution; 

4.5.2 approving or adopting material changes to the Policy 
Framework and the Budget; 

4.5.3 approving the Statement of Accounts and the Council’s Final 
Accounts; 

4.5.4 any matter where the Strategy and Resources Committee is 
proposing to make a decision which would be contrary to the 
Policy Framework or contrary to/or not wholly in accordance 
with the Budget; 

4.5.5 appointing and removing the Leader; 

4.5.6 except where otherwise provided by any statutory provision, 
appointing the Chair and Vice-Chair of Committees including 
the Ilfracombe Harbour Board and determining which 
Committees, Sub-Committees, working parties, Boards, 
Panels etc. shall be established as standing committees, the 
terms of reference of each body, the number of members 
(voting and non-voting) that each consists of and making the 
necessary appointments to the bodies; 

4.5.7 appointing representatives to joint authorities, joint committees 
and other outside bodies unless the appointment has been 
delegated by the Council; 

4.5.8 adopting a scheme for members’ allowances; 

4.5.9 changing the name of the Council’s area; 

Page 21

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

8 
 

4.5.10 conferring the title of honorary Alderman or Freeman of the 
District; 

4.5.11 confirming the appointment of the Head of Paid Service; Chief 
Finance Officer and designating the Monitoring Officer and the 
taking of any disciplinary action against these Officers and 
Chief Officers and the designating of “Proper Officers“; 

4.5.12 the approval or adoption of applications to the Secretary of 
State for approval of a programme of disposal of 500 or more 
properties or where consent is required for disposal of land 
used for residential purposes;  

4.5.13 making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting by-laws 
and promoting or opposing the making of local legislation or 
personal Bills; 

4.5.14 adopting a Code of Conduct for Members (Councillors); 

4.5.15 taking decisions in respect of functions which have not been 
delegated by the Council to Committees, Sub-Committees or 
officers; 

4.5.16 the making of Procedure Rules, including in relation to 
Contracts and Finance; 

4.5.17 the delegation of functions to Committees, Sub-Committees 
and officers, subject to the right to amend the Delegation 
Scheme from time to time as may be required; 

4.5.18 all other matters which, by law, must be reserved to the 
decision of the Council as a whole; 

4.5.22 to consider and decide on recommendations of Committees 
not within their delegation or which a committee has referred to 
the Council for decision; 

4.5.23 to consider reports on lawfulness and maladministration; 

4.5.24 to consider reports and recommendations from the Policy 
Development Committee 

4.5.25 to take all decisions in respect of delegating functions to 
another local authority; 

4.5.26 to set the Council Tax base and the Council Tax; 

Page 22

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

9 
 

4.5.27 any function under a local Act; 

4.5.28 agreeing and publishing a pay policy covering the 
remuneration of the Council’s most senior officers; 

4.5.29 approving the Capital and Treasury Management Strategies, 
and 

4.5.30 appointing and removing Lead Members where considered 
appropriate, the role of the Leads Members being set out in 
Annexe 3 of Part 3. 

4.6 Council Meetings 

There are three types of Council meeting: 

4.6.1 the annual meeting; 

4.6.2 ordinary meetings; 

4.6.3 extraordinary meetings. 

and they will be conducted in accordance with the Council Procedure 
Rules contained in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

4.7 Responsibility for Functions 

The Council will keep under review the tables in Part 3 of this 
Constitution setting out the responsibilities for the Council’s functions. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

10 
 

5. ARTICLE 5 – CHAIRING THE COUNCIL 

The Chair and Vice-Chair of the Council will be elected by the Council 
annually.  The Chair, and in his/her absence the Vice-Chair, will have the 
following responsibilities:- 

5.1 to uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution, and to 
interpret the Constitution when necessary; 

5.2 to preside over meetings of the Council so that its business can be 
carried out efficiently and with regard to the rights of councillors and 
the interests of the community; 

5.3 to ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of matters 
of concern to the local community; 

5.4 to promote public involvement in the Council’s activities; 

5.5 to attend or be represented at such civic and ceremonial functions as 
the Council and the Chair determines appropriate; 

5.6 to determine any matter referred to the Chair  under the Budget and 
Policy Framework Procedure Rules in Part 4 of the Constitution;  

5.7 Subject to the reigning monarch, the Chair of the Council shall be the 
first citizen of the administrative area of the Council; and 

5.8 Neither the Chair of the Council nor the Vice-Chair shall be a Member 
of the Strategy and Resources Committee  

 

Page 24

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

11 
 

6. ARTICLE 6 – POLICY AND PERFORMANCE 

6.1 Introduction 

6.1.1 The Council has chosen to form a Committee to assist in 
developing the Budget and policies including those within the 
Policy Framework.   

6.1.2 As well as internal matters, the Policy Development Committee 
will focus on external issues which may have an impact on the 
Council or its citizens. 

6.2 Policy Development Committee 

6.2.1 In order to achieve this, the Council has appointed a Policy 
Development Committee which will:- 

(a) make reports or recommendations to the Council or the 
Strategy and Resources Committee in relation to policies 
or strategies of the Council or in respect of matters that it 
considers ought to be included within policies or strategies 
of the Council and which relate to Council functions; 

(b) consider matters relating to the performance of the 
Council,  

(c) act on and respond to policy issues referred to it by 
Strategy and Resources Committee, and 

(d) consider any general matter of concern which affects the 
Council’s area or its inhabitants but which also directly 
relates to or affects a Council function.  

 
6.3 Specific Functions 

6.3.1 The Policy Development Committee may:- 

(a) assist the Council in the development of its Budget and 
Policy Framework by in depth analysis of policy issues; 

(b) conduct research, community and other consultation in the 
analysis of policy issues and possible options; 

(c) question members of the Committees and Chief Officers 
from the Council about issues and proposals affecting the 
area or the performance of the Council; 

Page 25

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

12 
 

(d) liaise with other external organisations operating in the 
area, whether national, regional or local, to ensure that the 
interest of local people are enhanced by collaborative 
working; and 

(e) consider the impact of policies to assess if they have made 
a difference. 

 

Page 26

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

13 
 

7. ARTICLE 7 – LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

7.1 Leader 

7.1.1 Election 

The Leader shall be a Councillor elected to the position of 
Leader by the Council at the Annual Meeting each year. 

7.1.2 Term of Office 

(a) The Leader will hold office for one year until a new 
appointment is made at the next Annual Meeting  or until 
any of the following events arise:- 

(i) he/she resigns from the office; or 

(ii) he/she is not returned or does not stand as a 
Councillor at an election, or 

(iii) he/she is disqualified from being a Councillor; or 

(iv) where the Council passes a resolution removing him 
from office. 

(v) By suspension from being a councillor under or by 
virtue of Part III of the Local Government Act 2000, 
in which case they shall not hold office for the period 
of such suspension. 

(vi) Is required to cease holding office by a lawful 
change to this Constitution. 

(b) in the event of any casual vacancy in the position of 
Leader the Deputy Leader shall act in the Leader’s place 
until the appointment of a new Leader by the Council. 

7.2 Deputy Leader 

7.2.1 Paragraphs 7.1.1 and 7.1.2 above shall also apply to the 
appointment and removal of the Deputy Leader  

 

Page 27

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

14 
 

8. ARTICLE 8 – REGULATORY AND OTHER COMMITTEES 

8.1 Introduction 

The Council will appoint committees to undertake a variety of 
regulatory and other functions that are the responsibility of the Council 
but which do not have to be carried out by the full Council. 

8.2 Standing Committees 

The Standing Committees are listed below and full details of their 
functions can be found in Part 3 

Strategy and Resources Committee 

Planning Committee  

Licensing and Community Safety Committee 

Governance Committee 

Ilfracombe Harbour Board  

North Devon Crematorium Joint Committee 

Joint Building Control Committee 

Policy Development Committee 

Appointments Committee 

 

8.3 Other Committees and Sub-Committees 

8.3.1 The Council will appoint such other committees as it considers 
appropriate to exercise any of its functions including any 
Committee restricted in functions to a geographical area. 

8.3.2 Any committee appointed by the Council may at any time 
appoint additional sub-committees and panels throughout the 
year.  Their terms of reference and delegation of powers to 
them shall be explicit and within the appointing Committee’s 
terms of reference.  They may also delegate any of their 
powers to one or more officers. 

Page 28

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

15 
 

8.3.3 The Council, a Committee or a Sub-Committee may appoint 
such task teams or working groups as they consider 
appropriate in order to consider and report on specific matters. 

8.3.4 Standing Committees and any other Committees or Sub-
Committees will be subject to the Regulations on political 
balance made under the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989. 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

16 
 

9. ARTICLE 9 – JOINT ARRANGEMENTS 

9.1 Introduction 

There are a number of circumstances where the Council is entitled to 
carry out certain functions jointly with another local authority. 

9.2 Joint Arrangements 

9.2.1 The Council may establish joint arrangements with one or 
more local authorities to exercise functions in any of the 
participating authorities, or advise the Council.  Such 
arrangements may involve the appointment of a joint 
committee with these other local authorities. 

9.2.2 Details of any joint arrangements including any delegations to 
joint committees are to be set out in Part 3 to this Constitution. 

9.3 Access to Information 

9.3.1 The Access to Information Rules in part VA of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended) will apply. 

9.4 Delegation to and from Other Local Authorities 

9.4.1 The Council can delegate functions to another local authority. 

9.4.2 The decision whether or not to accept such a delegation from 
another local authority is reserved to the Full Council. 

9.5 Contracting Out 

The Council may contract out to another body or organisation 
functions:- 

9.5.1 which may be exercised by an Officer and which are subject to 
an order under Section 70 of the Deregulation and Contracting 
Out Act 1994; or 

9.5.2 under contracting arrangements where the Contractor acts as 
the Council’s Agent under usual contracting principles, 
provided there is no delegation of the Council’s discretionary 
decision making. 

 

 

Page 30

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

17 
 

10. ARTICLE 10 - OFFICERS 

10.1 Management Structure 

10.1.1 General 

The Council may engage such staff (referred to as officers) as 
it considers necessary to carry out its functions. 

10.1.2 Chief Officers 

The Council will engage persons for the following posts, who 
will be designated Chief Officers. The Head of Paid Service 
shall have responsibility and power to amend the functions and 
areas of responsibility of the Chief Officers as he/she 
considers necessary to deliver the Council’s functions, vision 
and priorities. Such changes will be carried out in accordance 
with any relevant Human Resources policies. 

Post Functions and Areas of Responsibility 

Post Duties 

Chief Executive/Head of Paid 
Service 

 Overall corporate management 
and operational responsibility 
including overall management 
and responsibility for all officers. 

 Provision of professional advice 
to all parties in the decision 
making process. 

 Together with the Monitoring 
Officer, responsibility for a 
system of record keeping for all 
Council's decisions. 

 Representing Council on 
partnership and external bodies 
(as required by statute or the 
Council). 

Page 31

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

18 
 

10.1.3 Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance 
Officer 

The Council will designate the following posts as shown: 

Designation Post 

Head of Paid Service Chief Executive 

Monitoring Officer Head of Corporate and Community 
Services 

Chief Finance Officer Head of Resources 

Such posts will have the functions described in 10.2, 10.3 and 
10.4 below. 

10.1.4 Structure 

The Head of Paid Service will determine and publicise a 
description of the overall departmental structure of the Council 
showing the management structure and deployment of officers. 
[This is set out in Part 1 of this Constitution.] 

10.2 Functions of the Head of Paid Service 

10.2.1 Discharge of Functions by the Council 

The Head of Paid Service will keep under review the manner in 
which the discharge of the Council’s functions is co-ordinated, 
the number and grade of officers required for the discharge of 
functions and the organisation of officers. 

10.2.2 Restrictions on Functions 

The Head of Paid Service may not be the Monitoring Officer 
but may hold the post of Chief Financial Officer if he/she is a 
qualified accountant. 

Page 32

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

19 
 

10.3 Functions of the Monitoring Officer 

10.3.1 Maintaining the Constitution 

The Monitoring Officer will maintain an up-to-date version of 
the Constitution and will ensure that it is widely available for 
consultation by Members, staff and the public. 

10.3.2 Ensuring Lawfulness and Fairness of Decision Making 

After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and Chief 
Finance Officer, the Monitoring Officer will report to the Full 
Council, if he/she considers that any proposal, decision or 
omission would give rise to unlawfulness or if any decision or 
omission has given rise to maladministration. Such a report will 
have the effect of stopping the proposal or decision being 
implemented until the report has been considered. 

10.3.3 Supporting the Governance Committee 

The Monitoring Officer will contribute to the promotion and 
maintenance of high standards of conduct through provision of 
support to the Governance Committee. 

Notwithstanding the duty of confidentiality, the Monitoring 
Officer shall be at liberty to disclose any information relating to 
the Council’s affairs, and provide copies of any records or 
documents belonging to the Council to the Governance 
Committee, for the purposes of investigation or determination 
of a complaint against a Member. 

10.3.4 Conducting Investigations 

The Monitoring Officer will conduct investigations into matters 
relating to alleged breaches of the Members’ Code of Conduct 
and carry out any other actions as directed by the Governance 
Committee and make reports or recommendations in respect 
of them to the Governance Committee. 

10.3.5 Proper Officer for Access to Information 

The Monitoring Officer will ensure that decisions, together with 
the reasons for those decisions and relevant Officer reports 
and background papers are made publicly available as soon 
as possible. 

Page 33

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

20 
 

10.3.6 Advising Whether Decisions are within the Budget and Policy 
Framework 

The Monitoring Officer will advise whether decisions of the 
Strategy and Resources Committee are in accordance with the 
budget and policy framework. 

10.3.7 Providing Advice 

The Monitoring Officer will provide advice to all Councillors on: 

 the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, 

 maladministration, 

 financial impropriety, 

 probity, and  

 budget and policy framework issues. 

Where the Monitoring Officer considers that a Member(s) has 
acted contrary to his advice it is open to him to issue a report 
to the Council under s.5 of the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989, or seek judicial review, as he/she considers 
appropriate in the circumstances. 

10.3.8 Restrictions on Posts 

The Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief Finance Officer or 
Head of Paid Service. 

10.4 Functions of the Chief Finance Officer 

10.4.1 Ensuring Lawfulness and Financial Prudence of Decision 
Making 

After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the 
Monitoring Officer, the Chief Finance Officer will report to the 
Full Council and the Council’s external auditor if he/she 
considers that any proposal, decision or course of action will 
involve incurring unlawful expenditure, or is unlawful and is 
likely to cause a loss or deficiency or if the Council is about to 
enter an item of account unlawfully. 

When the report is completed the Chief Finance Officer shall 
send a copy to:  

Page 34

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

21 
 

(a) the current auditor of the Council’s accounts; and,  

(b) each Member of the Council. 

10.4.2 Administration of Financial Affairs 

The Chief Finance Officer will have responsibility for the 
administration of the financial affairs of the Council. 

10.4.3 Contributing to Corporate Management 

The Chief Finance Officer will contribute to the corporate 
management of the Council, in particular through the provision 
of professional financial advice. 

10.4.4 Providing Advice 

The Chief Finance Officer will provide advice to all Councillors 
on: 

 the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, 

 maladministration,  

 financial impropriety,  

 probity, and  

 budget and policy framework issues 

and will support and advise Councillors and officers in their 
respective roles. 

10.4.5 Give Financial Information 

The Chief Finance Officer will, where required and authorised 
to do so by law and by the Council, provide financial 
information to the media, members of the public and the 
community. 

 10.4.6 Budget preparation 

  To be responsible for securing the preparation of the budget. 

Page 35

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

22 
 

10.5 Duty to Provide Sufficient Resources to the Monitoring Officer 
and Chief Finance Officer 

The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance 
Officer with such officers, accommodation and other resources as are 
in their opinion sufficient to allow their duties to be performed. 

10.6 Conduct 

Officers will comply with the Officers’ Code of Conduct and the 
Protocol on Officer/Member Relations set out in Part 5 of this 
Constitution. 

10.7 Employment 

The recruitment, selection and dismissal of officers will comply with the 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution. 

Page 36

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

23 
 

11. ARTICLE 11 - DECISION MAKING 

11.1 Responsibility for Decision Making 

The Council will issue and keep up to date a record of what part of the 
Council or which individual has responsibility for particular types of 
decisions or decisions relating to particular areas or functions. This 
record is set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 

11.2 Principles of Decision Making 

All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the 
following principles: 

11.2.1 proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the 
desired outcome); 

11.2.2 due consultation and the taking of professional advice from 
officers; 

11.2.3 respect for human rights and the law; 

11.2.4 a presumption in favour of openness; 

11.2.5 clarity of aims and desired outcomes; 

11.2.6 consideration of any alternative options;  

11.2.7 consideration of the resource implication in taking the 
proposed option; 

11.2.8 the implications of, and the risks associated with taking or not 
taking the proposed option; and 

11.2.7 the giving of reasons for the decision and the proper recording 
of those reasons. 

11.3 Type of Decision 

11.3.1 Decisions reserved to Full Council 

 Decisions relating to the functions listed in Article 4 (functions 
of the Full Council) will be made by the Full Council and will 
not be delegated. 

Page 37

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

24 
 

11.4 Decision Making by the Full Council 

Subject to Article 11.6, the Council meeting will follow the Council 
Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution when 
considering any matter. 

11.5 Decision Making by Other Committees and Sub-Committees 
Established by the Council 

Subject to Article 11.6, other Council committees and sub-committees 
will follow those parts of the Council Procedures Rules set out in Part 4 
of this Constitution as apply to them. 

11.6 Decision Making by Council Bodies Acting as Tribunals 

The Council, a councillor or an officer acting as a tribunal or in a quasi 
judicial manner or determining/considering (other than for the purposes 
of giving advice) the civil rights and obligations or the criminal 
responsibility of any person will follow a proper procedure which 
accords with the requirements of natural justice and the right to a fair 
trial contained in Article 6 of the European Convention on Human 
Rights. 

11.7   Urgent Decision Making 

The Chief Executive shall have powers set out in the Scheme of 
Officer Delegations in order to take decisions that would normally fall 
under the remit of a Committee in situations where it is not practicable 
to report that matter to the Committee. 

 

Page 38

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

25 
 

12. ARTICLE 12 - FINANCE, CONTRACTS AND LEGAL MATTERS 

12.1 Financial Management 

The management of the Council’s financial affairs will be conducted in 
accordance with the financial rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

12.2 Contracts 

Every contract made by the Council will comply with the Contract 
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

12.3 Authentication of Documents 

12.3.1 Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or 
proceedings on behalf of the Council, it will be signed by the  
Monitoring Officer or other person authorised by him, unless 
any enactment or otherwise authorises, requires, or the 
Council has given requisite authority to some other person. 

12.3.2 Any contract with a value exceeding £25,000, entered into 
on behalf of the Council shall be made in writing.  Subject to 
the Contracts Procedure Rules, such contracts must be 
signed by an officer of the Council or made under common 
seal of the Council attested by at least one officer if it 
exceeds £25,000 in value. 

12.3.3 In addition to any other person who may be authorised by 
resolution of the Council, the proper officer for the purposes 
of authentication of documents under the Local Government 
Acts shall be any one of the following: 

 The Chief Executive; 

 The Monitoring Officer; 

 The Deputy Monitoring Officer; 

 The Chief Financial Officer; 

 The Deputy Chief Financial Officer. 

12.3.4 Any other documents not falling within 12.3.1 or 12.3.2 
above may be signed by any of the Officers listed in 12.3.3 
or any other officer so authorised by any such persons in 
accordance with their delegated powers. 

Page 39

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

26 
 

12.4 Common Seal of the Council 

12.5.1 Common Seal 

The Common Seal of the Council shall be kept in a safe place 
in the custody of the Monitoring Officer. 

A decision of the Council, or any part of it, will be sufficient 
authority for sealing any document necessary to give effect to 
the decision. 

12.5.2 Sealing and Execution of Documents 

The common seal of the Council shall be affixed to a document 
only on the authority of:- 

(a) a resolution of the Council; 

(b) a resolution of a Committee or Sub-Committee which the 
Council has empowered to authorise the use of the seal; 

(c) a decision by the Council, or by a Committee, Sub-
Committee or officer exercising delegated functions, to do 
anything where a document under the common seal is 
necessary or desirable as part of the action; or 

(d) any of the officers listed in 12.3.3 above. 

12.5.3 Record of Sealing of Documents 

Any entry of the sealing of every deed or document to which 
the Common Seal has been affixed shall be made by the Head 
of Corporate and Community and Monitoring Officer and 
consecutively numbered in a book to be provided for the 
purpose. 

 

 

Page 40

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

27 
 

13. ARTICLE 13 - REVIEW AND REVISION OF THE CONSTITUTION 

13.1 Duty to Monitor and Review the Constitution 

13.1.1 The Monitoring Officer will monitor and review the operation 
of the Constitution to ensure that the aims and principles of 
the Constitution are given full effect.  

13.1.2 The Chief Finance Officer shall be responsible for keeping 
under review the Financial Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 
of the Constitution and shall make any necessary 
amendments and revisions as are required from time to time. 
He/she shall report any amendments made to Part 4 for the 
next available Council meeting for noting. 

13.2 Protocol for Monitoring and Review of Constitution by Monitoring 
Officer 

A key role for the Monitoring Officer is to make recommendations to   
Full Council on ways in which the Constitution could be amended in 
order to better achieve the purposes. In undertaking this task, the 
Monitoring Officer may: 

13.2.1 Observe meetings of the Member and officer structure; 

13.2.2 Undertake an audit trail of a sample of decisions; 

13.2.3 Record and analyse issues raised with him by Members, 
officers, the public and other relevant stakeholders; and, 

13.2.4 Compare practices in this Council with those in comparable 
authorities, or national examples of best practice. 

13.3 Changes to the Constitution 

13.3.1 Approval 

(a) Subject to 13.3.3 below, changes to the Constitution 
will only be approved by the Full Council .  

(b) Where the table of Chief Officers in Article 10 or the 
Management Structure section of the Constitution 
needs to be updated, the Monitoring Officer may 
make the necessary changes upon receipt of 
notification from the Chief Executive that he/she has 
made changes to these structures following Council 
or relevant committee approval of such changes. 

Page 41

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

28 
 

13.3.2 Any six members of the Council may propose amendments to 
this Constitution which shall be considered by  Full Council.  

 

13.3.3 Minor Changes 

If, in the reasonable opinion of the Monitoring Officer, a change 
is: 

(a) A minor variation; or 

(b) Required to be made to remove any inconsistency or 
ambiguity; or 

(c) Required to be made so as to put into effect any decision 
of the Council or its committees, 

 the Monitoring Officer may make such a change following 
consultation with the Leader. Any such change made by the 
Monitoring Officer shall come into force with immediate effect 
but shall be referred to Full Council as soon as is reasonably 
possible and shall continue to have effect only if Full Council 
agree. 

13.3.4 Legislative Change 

Any part of the Constitution may be amended by the 
Monitoring Officer (in consultation with the Leader) where such 
amendment is required to be made so as to comply with any 
legislative provision. Such amendments shall take effect when 
the Monitoring Officer so decides or the legislation (where 
relevant) so provides. Such changes shall be reported to the 
next Council meeting. 

 

Page 42

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 2 

MAY 2019 
 

29 
 

14. ARTICLE 14 - SUSPENSION, INTERPRETATION AND PUBLICATION OF 
THE CONSTITUTION 

14.1 Suspension of the Constitution 

14.1.1 Limit to Suspension 

The Articles of this Constitution may not be suspended. The 
Council Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution may be 
suspended by the Full Council to the extent permitted within 
those Rules and the law. 

14.1.2 Procedure to Suspend 

A motion to suspend any Rules will not be moved without 
notice unless at least one half of the whole number of 
Councillors on Council or the particular Committee is present. 
The extent and duration of suspension will be proportionate to 
the result to be achieved, taking account of the purposes of the 
Constitution set out in Article 1. 

14.2 Interpretation 

The ruling of the Chair of the Council as to the construction or 
application of this Constitution or as to any proceedings of the Council 
shall not be challenged at any meeting of the Council. Such 
interpretation will have regard to the purposes of this Constitution 
contained in Article 1. 

14.3 Publication 

14.3.1 The Monitoring Officer will provide a copy of the Constitution to 
each Member of the Council upon delivery to him of that 
individual’s declaration of acceptance of office on the Member 
first being elected to the Council. 

14.3.2 The Monitoring Officer will ensure that copies are available for 
inspection at Council offices, and on the Council’s website, 
and can be purchased by members of the local press and the 
public on payment of a reasonable fee. 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 9
Appendix B



This page is intentionally left blank



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

1 

 

PART 3 – RESPONSIBILITY FOR FUNCTIONS 

Introduction 
 
All of the powers and functions of the Council have been given by statute to Full 
Council.  Full Council has chosen to delegate some of those functions to Committees 
and also to officers. Full Council has however retained certain functions for itself.  
 
Annexe 1 – Powers and Duties of Committees sets out the functions delegated to 
Committees, Annexe 2 – Officer Scheme of Delegation sets out those delegated to 
Officers, Annexe 3 – Powers and Duties delegated to Councillors sets out those 
decision making powers delegated to individual Councillors and Annexe 4 – Joint 
Arrangements sets out the schemes for joint Committee operation that the Council has 
entered into. 
 
General Principles 
 
Decision making under this Part is subject to the normal principles of decision making 
set out in Article 11.2 of the Constitution and to the relevant Procedure Rules set out in 
Part 4.   
 
Any powers that are delegated to officers under Annexe 2 are excluded from the powers 
delegated to Committees under Annexe 1. 
 
The list of powers and functions in Annexes 1 and 2 are not exhaustive and should be 
interpreted broadly and in a purposive way.  The powers contained within Annexe 1 
include the power to develop and approve strategies and policies associated with those 
powers and functions other than those which Full Council must adopt and subject also 
to the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules.  The powers also contain the 
power to determine and issue any relevant application, consent or approval and take 
such action or request information associated with relevant enforcement action 
including service of notices. 
 
 
 

ANNEXE 1 – POWERS AND DUTIES OF COMMITTEES 

1.  STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 

Number of 
Members 

Special Requirements Quorum Notes 

Minimum of 9 The Chair shall be the 
Leader of the Council and 
membership will include all 

1/3 with a 
minimum 
of 4 

 

Page 45

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

2 

 

Group Leaders where 
political balance allows. 
 

 

Functions 

(a) The development of the Budget and the Policy Framework with 

recommendations made to Full Council, 

(b) Asset management 

(c) Treasury management 

(d) Resources and finance 

(e) Performance of the Council including service plans 

(f) Improvement 

(g) Staffing and human resources  

(h) Environmental Health 

(i) Waste and Recycling 

 

2.  POLICY DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

Number of 
Members 

Special Requirements Quorum Notes 

Minimum of 9 The Chair of the Committee 
may not be a member of the 
Strategy and Resources 
Committee 

1/3 with a 
minimum 
of 4 

 

 

Functions 

(a)  The power to consider matters and make recommendations to Council and 

Committees on matters as set out in Article 6.3 of this Constitution 

 

 

Page 46

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

3 

 

3.  PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Number of 
Members 

Special Requirements Quorum Notes 

15 Members of the Committee 
must be trained prior to 
sitting on the Committee 
(NOTE: Failure to attend the 
required training will result in 
exclusion from sitting on the 
Committee) 
 
Substitute Members may 
only be appointed from an 
appointed and trained 
reserve list.  Substitute 
Members must substitute for 
the whole of the meeting. 
(NOTE: substitute Members 
must be from the same 
political group). 

3 If a Member:  
(a) Arrives at a meeting 
during the consideration of 
an item; or  
(b) Leaves a meeting at any 
time during the 
consideration of an item;  
 
they shall not:  
(i) propose or second any 
motion or amendment; or  
(ii) cast a vote 
 
(For the avoidance of doubt 
may still participate in the 
debate)  
 
An amendment which 
opposes a motion to grant 
or refuse a planning 
application is deemed to be 
a valid amendment. 

    

Functions 

(a) To consider and determine any matters arising under the Planning Acts, including 
the powers to take decisions, issue permissions and consents, to authorise 
enforcement action and serve such notices, request such information and take 
such action as is deemed appropriate. 

(b) To discharge any function relating to contaminated land in as much as the 
function involves determination of an application for a licence, approval, consent, 
permission or regulation, direct regulation of a person or enforcement of any such 
licence, approval, consent, permission or regulation. 

(c) To act as consultee in respect of matters relating to planning functions which are 
referred to the Council by other organisations. 

(d) A referred power to consider and make recommendations on the content and 
adoption of documents comprising the local plan or other policies relating to 
planning functions 

Page 47

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

4 

 

 

4.  LICENSING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY COMMITTEE 

Number of 
Members 

Special Requirements Quorum Notes 

15 Members of the 
Committee must be 
trained prior to sitting on 
the Committee (NOTE: 
Failure to attend the 
required training will 
result in exclusion from 
sitting on the 
Committee) 
 

4 If a Member:  
(a) Arrives at a meeting 
during the consideration of 
an item; or  
(b) Leaves a meeting at any 
time during the consideration 
of an item;  
 
he/she shall not:  
(i) propose or second any 
motion or amendment; or  
(ii) cast a vote 
 
(For the avoidance of doubt 
may still participate in the 
debate)  
 
An amendment which 
opposes a motion to grant or 
refuse a licensing application 
is deemed to be a valid 
amendment. 
 

Functions 

(a) Licensing Authority functions under Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 
2005  

(b) Other licensing matters as set out in Part B of Schedule 1 to the 2000 
Regulations. 

(c) Coastal pollution or the management of air quality. 
(d) To consider any appeals against the decision of officers in relation to any of the 

matters covered by paragraph (a) or (b) above. 
(e) Community safety 
(f) To act as Crime and Disorder Committee in accordance with and with the powers 

set out in the Police and Justice Act 2006, the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007 and Regulations made under those Acts 
 

 

Page 48

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

5 

 

 
5.  GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

Number of 
Members 

Special Requirements Quorum Notes 

9 Membership of the 
Committee cannot include 
Strategy and Resources 
Members. 
 
Members of the 
Committee must be 
trained prior to sitting on 
the Committee (NOTE: 
Failure to attend the 
required training will result 
in exclusion from sitting 
on the Committee) 
 

3 – 
Provided at 
least two 
political 
groups are 
represented 

The role of the Committee 
is to promote good 
behaviour amongst 
Councillors and to ensure 
that all business 
conducted by the Council 
is carried out within the 
law, in accordance with 
the Constitution and also 
in accordance with 
statutory Codes.  It is also 
to promote improvement in 
governance issues 

 
 

(a) Audit functions including receiving and considering reports and making 
recommendations on them 

(b) Risk management and corporate governance including considering reports from 
the Local Government Ombudsman. 

(c) Reviewing the annual statement of accounts 
(d) Standards function including dealing with complaints regarding Councillor 

conduct and the imposition of sanctions. 
(e) Electoral matters including Community Governance Reviews 
(f) Human Resources and Personnel matters including pensions issues 
(g) To hear any appeal in respect of any grievance or disciplinary decision taken by 

officers 
 
 

 
6.  HARBOUR BOARD 
 

Number of 
Members 

Special Requirements Quorum Notes 

5 In addition to 4 Members, 4 
Independent Members (who 
are not Members of the 
Council) are appointed to 
provide experience and 

3 (2 of whom 
must be 
members of 
the Council). 

All persons co-opted 
to serve on the Board 
shall be required to 
provide a written 
undertaking to 

Page 49

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

6 

 

expertise in harbour 
management.  Appointments 
of independent Members shall 
be for a four year period to 
ensure continuity of experience 
and expertise available to the 
Board.  Appointments may be 
renewed at the discretion of 
the Council for a maximum of 
two four year terms after which 
any further service on the 
Board can only be achieved 
following a competitive 
appointments process. 
 

comply with the 
Council’s Members 
Code of Conduct and 
shall complete a 
register in 
accordance with that 
Code. 
 
The Chairman of the 
Board shall be 
appointed annually 
by Full Council and 
shall come from 
those Members of 
the Council 
appointed to serve 
on the Board. 
 
All Board Members 
shall have voting 
rights. 
 
 

 
 
 
Functions 

1. To discharge the duties and powers of a competent Harbours authority in respect 
of all harbours administered by the council and in accordance with relevant 
legislation, regulations, Harbour Orders and byelaws. 

2. To approve the Harbour service Business Plan including the Port Marine Safety 
Code. 

3. To make recommendations to Full Council on the approval of other plans and 
policies or on other issues affecting the harbour.. 

 

7.  JOINT CREMATORIUM COMMITTEE 

Number of 
Members 

Special Requirements Quorum Notes 

Page 50

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

7 

 

7 There is a requirement for 

compliance with the current 

Joint Crematorium 

Committee Terms of 

Reference as set out in 

Annexe 4. 

  

 
Functions 

(a) To manage all matters relating to the functions of North Devon Crematorium with 
Torridge District Council 

 

8.  JOINT BUILDING CONTROL COMMITTEE 

Number of 
Members 

Special Requirements Quorum Notes 

2 There is a requirement for 

compliance with the current 

Joint Building Control 

Committee Terms of 

Reference set out in Annexe 

4. 

  

 
Functions 

(a) To oversee the joint building control team, 

(b) To formulate a draft budget, including any fees and charges, for the joint building 

control service and to make recommendations on the same to the partner 

authorities, and 

(c) To produce an annual financial report on the costs/savings of the joint service 

and submit this to the partner authorities.  

9.  APPOINTMENTS COMMITTEE 

Number of 
Members 

Special Requirements Quorum Notes 

A minimum of 3 Membership must include all 3 Not to be politically 

Page 51

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

8 

 

including all 

Group Leaders 

Leaders of Designated 

political groups on the 

Council 

balanced 

 

Functions 

(a) To sit as a Panel to lead on and make recommendations on the appointment  of 
the Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service and Chief Officers subject to 
compliance with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this 
Constitution 

(b) To hear consider and determine any grievance or other similar matter relating to 
or by the Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service; any disciplinary matter relating to 
the Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer, Chief Finance 
Officer and Chief Officer where the issue relates to the performance of such role. 

(c) To sit as a Panel or part of a Panel in relation to the dismissal of the Head of 
Paid Service, Chief Financial Officer, Monitoring Officer and Chief Officers and to 
lead on conducting an investigation into the same 

 

  

 

ANNEXE 2 – OFFICER DELEGATIONS 

1.  PREFACE  

1.1 The purpose of this part of the Constitution is to bring together delegations to 
officers and roles and responsibilities of officers. Officers may be delegated to 
make decisions in respect of any matter other than those which by law are 
reserved only to Full Council.. 

1.2 Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 provides that: 

(a) A Council may delegate its powers (except those incapable of delegation) to 
a committee or an officer 

(b) A Committee may delegate its powers to a sub-committee or an officer 

(c) Powers which have been delegated may be exercised by the delegating 
body. 

Page 52

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

9 

 

1.3 Any delegation to a Committee or an Officer shall be exercised in compliance 
with the Council’s Constitution, any other policies or conditions imposed by the 
Council and with the law 

1.4 In making any decision regard shall be had to the principles of decision-making 
as set out in Article 11 of the Constitution. 

1.5 In exercising their delegated powers Officers will consult any appropriate 
Member. This would normally include: 

(a) Ward Councillor(s)  

(b) the Chair of the relevant Committee, or in his absence the Vice-Chair 

(c) the Leader, or in his absence the Deputy Leader 

1.6 In exercising their delegated powers Officers will consult any appropriate officer, 
in particular where there are significant financial, legal, property or human 
resource implications of the proposed action or decision 

2. INTERPRETATION 

2.1 For the avoidance of doubt unless the context otherwise requires reference to: 

(a) “the Council” shall be deemed to include any of its meetings including the 
Committees and Sub-Committees; 

(b) “the Planning Acts” shall mean the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, the 
Town and Country Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990, the Planning (Hazardous Substances) Act 1990, the Planning and 
Compensation Act 1991, the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, 
Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013, Housing and Planning Act 2016, the 
Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960, Localism Act 2011, 
Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 and the Planning Act 2008 (and in respect 
of them all any amendments  as may be made from time to time) and any 
regulations and orders made pursuant to the same or other legislation 
including in particular, but without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing 
the Use Classes Order 1987, General Permitted Development Order 2015, 
the General Development Procedure Order 2015, the Community 
Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010, Environmental Impact Assessment 
Regulations 2017, the Brownfield Land Register Regulations 2017, Self Build 
and Custom Housebuilding Regulations 2016,  the Hedgerow Regulations 
1997, and Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) 
Regulations 2007,  (including in respect of them any amendments as may be 
made from time to time). 

(c) Reference to the masculine shall include reference to the feminine and vice 
versa 

Page 53

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

10 

 

2.2 Any reference to an Act or Regulations shall be deemed to be a reference to that 
piece of legislation as amended or replaced 

2.3 An officer may nominate another named Officer to carry out any powers and 
duties which have been delegated to him providing this nomination is recorded in 
the register referred to in 2.4 below. 

2.4 Member Services will hold a register of all amendments to delegated powers 

3. CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

3.1 To act as Head of the Paid Service under Section 4 of the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989. 

3.2 To act as Returning Officer for Council Elections in accordance with Section 35 
of the Representation of the People Act 1983 (the 1983 Act). 

3.3 To act as Electoral Registration Officer for the County in accordance with Section 
8 of the 1983 Act. 

3.4 To guide and, where appropriate, direct Heads of Service in the exercise of their 
delegated functions in order to achieve the overall corporate aims and objectives 
of the Council 

3.5  To grant exemptions on the political restriction of officer posts under the 
Localism Act 2011. 

3.6 To exercise all powers referred or delegated to any other officer (except Chief 
Financial Officer and Monitoring Officer) when that officer is either absent or 
otherwise unavailable. 

3.7 All powers delegated in the “All Heads of Service” section are also delegated to 
the Chief Executive. 

3.8 To undertake any roles, actions or measures, including power to consider and 
determine any matter, allocated to a Head of Service within the Constitution 
whether specifically identified in the delegated powers to officers or otherwise. 

Health and Safety 

3.9. Responsibility for implementing any policies adopted by the Council that relate to 
health and safety. 

Human Resources 

3.10. To consider, amend and revise the manpower establishment provided any such 
amendments or revision is in accordance with any approved manpower plan and 
budgetary framework of the Council. 

Page 54

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

11 

 

3.11. To appoint temporary staff or authorise the appointment of external resources to 
undertake work normally undertaken by a Service subject to the costs thereof not 
exceeding the available budget. 

3.12. To consider, refuse or approve with or without modification: 

(a) essential car users allowances; 

(b) applications for car loans in accordance with Council policy. 

3.13. To determine whether to approve or refuse staff applications to undertake 
second employment 

3.14. To determine pursuant to Part V of the Local Government Discretionary 
Payments Regulations 1996: 

(a) the amount of any injury allowance payable to an officer; and 

(b) any time period(s) associated therewith or to any death benefit payments 
referred to in those provisions. 

3.15. To hear and determine any grievance or grievance appeal passed to the Chief 
Executive for his determination whether pursuant to any policy of the Council or 
otherwise. 

3.16 To appoint and/or dismiss officers below Head of Service level in accordance 
with Council policies and procedures, including power to nominate any other 
officer to undertake such powers on his behalf. 

3.17 To agree minor revisions to existing employment policies and/or procedures. 

3.18 To interpret employment policies, custom and practice and implement processes 
and/or decisions based on either the policy or the custom and practice of the 
Council. 

3.19 To act on the advice of medical practitioners with regard to retiring employees on 
grounds of ill health. 

3.20 To negotiate revised terms and conditions of employment with recognised trades 
unions. 

3.21 To develop employment policies and negotiate with recognised trades unions 
prior to adoption by Council. 

3.22 To apply employment legislation/European Union Directives as appropriate 
which may impact on staff terms and conditions, including pay. 

Page 55

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

12 

 

3.23 To act as the lead countersignatory for the Council and nominate other 
countersignatories for the Council in respect of the Disclosure and Barring 
Service. 

3.24 To sign employment related documents, e.g. Compromise Agreements, etc. 

3.25 To determine applications for flexible retirement where there is no net cost to the 
Council 

General 

3.26 To respond to consultation papers where timescales for responses do not fit in 
with the Council’s timetable of meetings. 

3.27 To attest the Council seal and sign any document necessary to give effect to: 

(a) a resolution of the Council ; and/or 

(b) the exercise of a power or function delegated by the Council, provided that 
any such attestation or signing accords with Article 12 of the Constitution 

3.28 To undertake any roles, actions or measures, including power to consider and 
determine any matter, allocated to the Chief Executive within the Constitution 
whether specifically identified in the delegated powers to officers or otherwise. 

3.29 For the purpose of surveillance operations to which the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 apply (or any statutory provision modifying, 
replacing or re-enacting the same) the power: 

(a) to authorise a surveillance operation; and 

(b) to designate other officers to exercise the power to authorise surveillance 
operations to other officers,  

(c) provided that such designations is only given to those officers who have 
responsibility for the management of an investigation. 

3.30 To authorise the making of an application under the Crime and Disorder Act for 
an Anti-Social Behaviour Order in consultation with the Monitoring Officer. 

3.31 To re-allocate the delegations as set out in this Annexe as necessary from time 
to time to give effect to any re-designations of post titles, re-allocation of service 
responsibility or vacancy of post. 

3.32 Coordination of the Member Training and Development Programme including 

(a) management of the approved Member Training and Development Budget 
and 

(b) authorisation of Member attendance at conferences, seminars and other 
training and development events. 

Page 56

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

13 

 

Council  and Committees 

3.33. To receive Group nominations for relevant Committees and Sub-Committees 
subject to Council being notified of the Group appointments. 

3.34. To consider and determine whether to refer to the Planning Committee any 
application pursuant to the Planning Acts that, in the opinion of the Chief 
Executive is an application which: 

(a) is on or could have significant implications for, land owned or controlled by 
the Council;  

(b) the scale of which is such as to warrant a clear separation of responsibilities 
between Members with primary responsibility for considering future 
development schemes for such land and Members who will be responsible 
for determining applications under the Planning Acts. 

3.35. To carry out such actions and take such decisions so as to give effect to any 
procedures set out in Part 4 of this Constitution. 

3.36. To summon a meeting of the Council where at his discretion, he believes there 
are circumstances warranting the same, provided the circumstances 
necessitating the calling of the meeting are identified on the agenda for that 
meeting. 

Member Claims 

3.37. To determine Members’ claims for travelling allowances, including the power to 
determine whether to authorise attendance at meetings. 

Contracts 

3.38. For the purposes of the Constitution, to consider and determine whether a 
proposed contract can be entered into: 

(a) with fewer than three quotes having been obtained; or 

(b) otherwise than the lowest quote received. 

 

Proper Officer 

3.39 To act as ‘Proper Officer’ for all functions detailed in the Local Authorities 
(Referendum) (Petitions and Directions) (England) Regulations 2000, 

3.40  To act as ‘Proper Officer’ for all functions detailed in the Constitution not 
otherwise specifically delegated to another officer; including the power: 

(a) to consider and nominate in writing any other officer to act as a ‘Proper 
Officer’ where this is permitted by law; and 

Page 57

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

14 

 

(b) to negotiate and approve variations to an officers terms and conditions of 
employment, in order to facilitate the same, provided that any such 
appointment or variations do not exceed any budget allocated for such a 
purpose. 

Emergency Powers 

3.41.  In the event of an emergency defined by the Chief Executive as a major 
emergency, which may include designated officers attending at Gold or Silver 
Control (as defined in the Council’s Major Incident Plan or successor document) 
then the Chief Executive, without consultation with any other person, may:  

(a) incur expenditure whether forming part of an identifiable budget or otherwise;  

(b) to authorise any lawful action on behalf of the Council; 

(c) The Chief Executive will act in accordance with the following requirements: 

(d) to maintain a record of response and expenditure as set out in the Major 
Incident Plan; 

(e) to inform the Chief Finance Officer of all details of any expenditure incurred 
as soon as reasonably practicable; 

(f) to report any expenditure to the next available meeting of Council. 

Financial 

3.42 To waive the charge of each inspection under the Data Protection Act 1984 
where deemed appropriate. 

Pannier Market 

3.43 To enforce any bye-laws relating to Barnstaple Pannier Market. 

3.44 To determine whether to grant or refuse (with or without modification) Barnstaple 
Pannier Market licenses 

3.45 To undertake minor amendments to the charges structure to facilitate good 
management of the Pannier Market. 

Miscellaneous 

3.46 To authorise and maintain a list of assets of community value and to make 
adjudications and decisions in relation thereto.   

3.47 To consider and determine the security arrangements for information held 
electronically. 

Page 58

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

15 

 

3.48 To consider and accept or refuse offers of re-purchase and determine 
applications for consent pursuant to covenants imposed on right to buy sales 
under. 

Urgent Decision Making 

3.49 To take a decision on any matter falling within the remit of any Committee in 
cases of urgency where it is not reasonably practicable to obtain prior approval 
of a Committee SUBJECT TO: 

 3.49.1  to the prior consultation, where practicable, with the Leader or Deputy 
Leader and the Chair or Vice Chair of the relevant Committee, and 

 3.49.2  the proviso that this power will not extend to the determination of any 
application submitted pursuant to the Planning Acts or under the Licensing Act 
2003 or the Gambling Act 2005, and 

 3.49.3  the decision being reported to the next meeting of the relevant 
Committee and the next meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee 

Building Control 

3.50 To determine and issue all Decisions and Notices arising under the Building Act 
1984 and any building regulations. 

3.51 To relax or dispense with Building Regulations and to sign and issue such 
decisions. 

3.52 To withdraw Building Regulation approvals not exercised within three years. 

3.53 To refer to the Magistrates’ Court, Notices under Section 77 of the Building Act 
1984 requiring dangerous buildings to be made safe, and to take, or instruct 
emergency action under the provisions of Section 78 of the Building Act 1984. 

3.54 To carry out, or instruct contractors to carry out, works in default of a Court Order 
obtained pursuant to Section 77 of the Building Act 1984. 

3.55 To institute proceedings for infringement of the Building Regulations. 

3.56 To serve Notice requiring removal or alteration of work not conforming with the 
Building Regulations (Section 36 of the Building Act 1984). 

3.57 To sign and issue Demolition Notices in respect of works falling within Section 80 
of the Building Act 1984. 

3.58 To issue Notices under Sections 24, 71 and 72 of the Building Act 1984, 
requiring adequate entrances, exits and means of escape in case of fire in 
appropriate buildings. 

Page 59

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

16 

 

3.59 To serve Notices under Section 79 of the Building Act 1984 relating to ruinous 
and dilapidated buildings. 

3.60 To enter sites and premises to carry out and enforce the Statutory Powers and 
Duties, such visits to be properly recorded. 

3.61 To carry out tests on sewers, drains and land and where necessary to take 
samples and conduct tests on other building materials. 

3.62 To take emergency action under the provisions of Section 78 of the Building Act 
1984 in respect of dangerous structures. 

3.63 To take action to enforce Building Regulations, including the issue of written 
Notices. 

3.64 To place officers within the building control team at the disposal of Mid Devon 
District Council under section 113 Local Government Act 1972 

 

4 ALL HEADS OF SERVICE 

4.1 The Heads of Service referred to in this scheme of delegations are those 
designated as such by the Head of Paid Service. 

4.2 Heads of Service are empowered to carry out those specific functions of the 
Council delegated to them in this Annexe 2 or in Part 4 of this Constitution.  In 
doing so Heads of Service are expected to follow principles of decision making in 
Article 11 of the Constitution. 

4.3 Functions are to be construed in a broad and inclusive fashion and include the 
doing of anything which is calculated to facilitate or is conducive or incidental to 
the discharge of any of the specified functions. 

4.4 To consider and approve or refuse (with or without modification) any grant 
application provided: 

(a) the expenditure is within the allocated budget; and 

(b) any such determination is made in accordance with a relevant policy of the 
Council. 

4.5 To introduce, set and vary as necessary fees and charges for the delivery of 
services and for the issue of any licence, registration, permit, consent or 
approval. 

4.6 To serve, receive and act upon notices, give or refuse consents, issue 
determinations, apply for permissions, make orders, grant licences in the 
exercise of any discretionary power or in complying with any duty of the Council. 

Page 60

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

17 

 

4.7 To provide services to other local authorities and organisations. 

4.8 Each Head of Service shall act as the designated Proper Officer for the following 
functions under the Local Government Act 1972: 

(a) to identify which background papers disclose facts on which a particular 
report or an important part of the report is based (Section 100D(5)(a) of the 
Act) 

(b) to prepare a list of background papers and to make arrangements for 
production of copies of background papers (Section 100D(1)(a) and (b) of 
the Act) (such delegation relates to the Chief Officer(s) in whose name(s) 
the report is prepared). 

 

Human Resources 

4.9 Provided that the Chief Executive has nominated the Head of Service for such a 
purpose, to recruit, select and appoint any officer below Head of Service. 

4.10  Provided that the Head of Service has been nominated by the Chief Executive 
for such a purpose, in relation to an officer to hear, consider and determine: 

(a) any grievance and/or harassment matter; 

(b) any disciplinary/capability or health/long term sickness matter providing the 
officer is below Head of Service level; and 

any appeal in relation to a decision resulting from a grievance, harassment 
and/or disciplinary matter other than a decision taken by a Head of Service; 
including in all cases, power to authorise such action as the Head of Service 
deems appropriate in relation to any determination that is made (whether 
formal or informal) including the suspension and/or dismissal of any officer. 

4.11 To determine the outcome of job evaluation processes based on the rule of the 
Job Evaluation Scheme and its application to the Council’s pay and grading 
structure. 

4.12 to take informal or formal disciplinary action (including power to dismiss an 
Officer provided the Head of Service has been nominated by the Chief 
Executive) should any officer within the Service fail to achieve or breach 
standards of conduct or performance as may be set by the Council. 

 

Contracts 

4.13 Within service budgets, to accept tenders, place contracts and procure other 
resources within or outside the Council subject to compliance with the Council’s 
Financial and Contract Procedure Rules.  

Page 61

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

18 

 

4.14 To terminate contractual and other commissioning arrangements. 

4.15 That, in respect of covenant 3.4 of the Transfer dated 21st February 2000 to 
North Devon Homes Limited of the Council's former housing stock, authority be 
delegated to the Head of Service to issue a waiver of that covenant where: 

(a) in the opinion of the Head of Service it would be appropriate to do so; and 

(b) the effect of the waiver is to allow the incorporation of that land into an 
existing domestic garden and for no other purpose. 

Finance 

4.16 To vire up to £5,000 within budget heads, subject to: 

(a) all virements being reported to the Chief Financial Officer; and 

(b) approval by the Chief Financial Officer of any virements from income to 
expenditure, provided any such virement does not result in a net change in 
the Council'’ overall budget. 

 

4.17 To authorise instructions: 

(a) for the raising of customer accounts; 

(b) to cancel customer accounts;  

(c) to recommend write off of customer accounts. 

4.18 To investigate and resolve complaints (whether made through the formal Council 
complaint procedure or otherwise) relating to the Service, provided that where a 
resolution of a complaint involves the payment or waiving of money then the 
same can be met without any increase to the Service’s budget and is no more 
than £750. 

4.19 To determine a reasonable charge for the preparation, production and sale of 
notices, agreements, orders, licenses and any other documents, including for 
copying or the undertaking of any other associated work. 

4.20 To undertake any roles, actions or measures, including power to consider and 
determine any matter, allocated to the Head of Service within the Constitution 
whether specifically identified in the delegated powers to officers or otherwise. 

4.21 Where the Head of Service has the power to institute criminal proceedings he 
shall be able to issue a formal warning instead.  This is subject to: 

(a) him having full regard to any guidance that may be issued for the benefit of 
crown prosecutors, and 

(b) in the event of any doubt consulting with the Monitoring Officer. 

Page 62

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

19 

 

4.22 To authorise officers and any other persons (including inspectors appointed on 
behalf of the Council) to carry out inspections and to exercise powers of entry for 
any purpose which in the opinion of the Head of Service is reasonably necessary 
for the performance of a delegated or referred power or duty. 

4.24 The responsibility for the monitoring, storage, archiving and destruction of 
documentation held by their Service provided the same is in accordance with 
Council policies. 

4.25 To authorise and sign identity cards on behalf of any officer within their Service 
as may be necessary for the proper performance of their duties. 

5 HEAD OF ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH AND HOUSING  

Environmental Health and Housing 

5.1 In relation to applications for the grant, variation, renewal or transfer of any 
licences or registrations submitted pursuant to any of the provisions identified in 
Part B of schedule 1 to the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) 
(England) Regulations 2000: 

(a) to consider representations, conduct conciliation and mediation and 
determine whether to approve or refuse (with or without modification) the 
grant, variation, renewal or transfer the same, provided: 

(b) in the case of Premises Licenses or Club Premises Certificates this power 
does not include the power to revoke or refuse such grant, variation, 
renewal or transfer;  

(c) in the case of all other applications, there have been no objections;  

5.2 The power to suspend a premises licence or club premises certificate if the 
annual maintenance fee is not paid when it is due  

5.3 To issue requests and requisitions for information in the performance of the 
Council's Environmental Health functions and Licensing functions 

5.4 To consider and determine applications for film classification 

5.5 In relation to houses in multiple occupation, to exercise discretionary powers 
relating to the registration scheme 

5.6 In relation to Closing Orders under the Housing Acts, to authorise the alternative 
use of a property or part of a property 

5.7 To authorise the service by duly appointed Authorised Officers, Authorised 
Persons of orders on behalf of the Council, and the initiation of related works, 
default, charging and recovery procedures  

Page 63

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

20 

 

5.8 To undertake on behalf of the Council all those functions relating to health and 
safety identified in Part C of Schedule 1 of the Local Authorities (Functions and 
Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000: including the provisions contained 
in the Health and Safety at Work Etc Act 1974 

5.9 Power to waive or vary the repayment conditions attached to renovation, 
common parts, Houses in Multiple Occupation, and relocation grants. 

5.10  To initiate the review procedure under the Gambling Act 2005 on behalf of the 
licensing authority in respect of gambling premises, and to decide whether 
grounds for review are irrelevant, frivolous, vexatious or repetitive. 

5.11 To provide any person with financial assistance for any property which is or is 
intended to be privately let as housing accommodation, under Section 24 of the 
Local Government Act 1988. 

5.12 The power to suspend a hackney carriage or private hire driver’s licence:  

(a) with immediate effect where the interests of public safety require the 
suspension, 

(b) in any other case, with effect from the end of a period of 21 days beginning 
on the day when notice is given to the driver,  

5.13 Power to carry out all functions which the Council has a duty to enforce or 
regulate as set out and referred to in the Animal Welfare Act 2006. 

5.14 To determine requests for variation(s) to the annual table of fares, subject to the 
decision adhering to the following criteria: 

(a) reasonable and fair to all stakeholders 

(b) proportionate with the locality 

(c) benchmarked with other local authorities 

(d) justified; simple and easily calculated 

(e) designed with a view to practicality 

(f) in line with published best practice guidance 

(g) mathematically correct and capable of being entered on to a meter 

(h) structurally the same for vehicles of different seating capacity 

(i) designed where possible to avoid either deliberate or accidental over-
charging 

Appointments and Authorisations 

5.15 To appoint all Authorised Officers, Authorised Persons, Enforcement Officers 
and Inspectors as Proper Officers of the Council for the purpose of 
authenticating documents issued by them on behalf of the Council. 

Page 64

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

21 

 

5.16 To act as Proper Officer of the Council for the purposes of the Public Health 
(Control of Disease) Act 1984 and of an alternate Proper Officer nominated by 
the Health Authority to act in the absence of the Proper Officer in accordance 
with the terms of the agreement with the Health Authority under Section 113 of 
the Local Government Act 1972 to act concurrently with the Manager  

5.17 To authorise all duly appointed Authorised Officers, Authorised Persons, 
Enforcement Officers and Inspectors to carry out inspections and to exercise 
powers of entry and other powers necessary for the effective discharge of the 
Council's Environmental Health functions and Licensing functions, on being 
satisfied on matters upon which the Council is obliged to be satisfied and that all 
statutory requirements are fulfilled.  

Housing 

5.18 To allocate properties. 

5.19 Powers under Part VI and Part VII of the Housing Act 1996 and powers to 
investigate allegations of illegal eviction and harassment and other private rented 
sector issues. 

5.20 To authorise the payment of removal expenses to homeless families when 
considered necessary under Part VI of the Housing Act 1996 and to recharge 
accordingly. 

5.21 To manage arrangements for the provision of temporary accommodation for 
those rendered homeless or evacuated in an emergency. 

5.22 To pay sums and agree terms for securing private rented accommodation for 
those to whom a duty is owned under Part VII of the Housing Act 1996. 

5.23 To be designated “Proper Officer” to execute any housing function provisions 
contained in any agreement under s106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 

6 CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND HEAD OF RESOURCES 

6.1 The investment and re-investment of Council monies provided this is undertaken 
in accordance with the Financial Procedure Rules and any other relevant 
policies. 

6.2 To draw, sign and endorse cheques on the Council’s Bank Accounts, to pay 
approved accounts including wages and salaries, housing benefit and all other 
authorised payments. 

Page 65

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

22 

 

6.3 To authorise and make transfers between the Council’s bank accounts, including 
power to authorise and act as authorised signatory for the purposes of instructing 
the Council’s bankers to make transfers by electronic transfer. 

6.4 To borrow and raise loans on behalf of the Council provided this is undertaken in 
accordance with the Financial Procedure Rules and any other relevant policies  

6.5 To act as signatory for Housing Association Partnership/Homes and 
Communities Agency documents. 

6.6 To make the following determinations relating to the statement of accounts under 
the Local Government and Housing Act 1989: 

(a) the amount to be set aside from revenue account as provision for credit 
liabilities (Section 63(1)) 

(b) the amount of capital expenditure to be financed by credit approval (Section 
56(1)); 

(c) the amount of credit approval (if any) to be transferred to another local 
authority (Section 56(2));  

(d) the amount of capital expenditure to be financed by useable capital receipts 
(Section 60(2)). 

6.7 To act as authorised signatory, authorise transfer and/or give instructions to the 
Council’s bankers to transfer money from, between and to accounts held by or 
on behalf of the Council in respect of sums properly payable and/or held by the 
Council. 

6.8 To act as Proper Officer for the purposes of the following provisions of the Local 
Government Act 1972: 

(a) Section 115(2) (Accountability of Officers); 

(b) Section 146 (Transfer of Securities on Alteration of Area Etc.) 

6.9 To make a statutory declaration of local authority mortgage interest. 

6.10 To respond to notices in relation to European Union financial sanctions. 

6.11 To receive and respond to expressions of interest under Community Right to 
Challenge, under Part 5, Chapter 2 of the Localism Act 2011. 

6.12 To consider and determine whether the Council should opt to tax any property to 
preserve the interest of the Council 

6.13 To act as Stage 1 Internal Dispute Resolution in respect of pensions 

 

Page 66

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

23 

 

Treasury Management 

6.14 To plan and manage the Council's cash flow requirements within approved 
borrowing limits and in accordance with the Council's investment strategy. 

6.15 To sign or endorse cheques drawn on the council's accounts.  

6.16 To authorise writing-off customer invoices. Subject to the amount to be written off 
in respect of one customer not exceeding £1,500 and a list of all debts written off 
being placed in the Members’ Room. 

6.17 To take any applicable recovery action in respect of outstanding sums due to the 
Council, including appearing in Court 

Loans Administration 

6.18 In accordance with Council policy, to advance loans to third parties and to take 
action to recover loan repayments due to the Council. 

6.19 To commence repossession action proceedings. 

6.20 To declare Interest rates under the Housing Act 1985 and other interest rates 
appropriate to a class of loan. 

Revenues and Benefits 

6.21 To administer and implement the Benefit Scheme, including the exercise of all 
discretions on behalf of the Council 

6.22 To represent the Council in bankruptcy and liquidation proceedings. 

6.23 To represent the Council in the Magistrates Court on applications for Liability 
Orders in respect of Council Tax and Non Domestic Rates. 

6.24 To approve applications for mandatory rate relief  

6.25 To determine applications for discretionary rate relief in accordance with Council 
policy or any statutory provision 

6.26 To approve claims for a reduction in Council Tax due as a consequence of the 
statutory provisions of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

6.27 To administer the Discretionary Housing Payment Scheme and to make 
decisions in respect of applications. 

6.28 To offer administrative penalties as an alternative to prosecution for housing 
benefit and council tax fraud cases. 

Page 67

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

24 

 

6.29 To instigate, defend, attend at, represent and take further action as deemed 
appropriate in respect of housing benefit, council tax benefit, or council tax 
support appeals. 

6.30 To administer the Council Tax Support Scheme. 

6.31 To attest the Council seal and sign any document necessary to give effect to: 

(a) a resolution of the Council ; and/or 

(b) the exercise of a power or function delegated by the Council, provided that 
any such attestation or signing accords with Article 12 of the Constitution. 

Property Management 

6.32 To authorise assignments, subletting, assignments of sublets, charging, exercise 
of break options, consent to change of use (within the same use class), and 
other consents and variations of leases. 

6.33 To refuse applications to purchase Council land and buildings. 

6.34 To determine applications for temporary access over Council owned land.  

6.35 To determine applications for wayleave agreements and easements across 
Council owned land. 

6.36 To determine applications for  

(a) temporary licences for land use 

(b) annual licences relating to property management. 

6.37 To determine minor land transactions, which means acquisitions, disposals 
easements and licences.  

(Note: for the purposes of this delegation “minor land transaction” refers to those 
areas of land with no development potential and where the consideration is less 
than an amount of £5,000). 

6.38 To approve sales or leases of land for sub-stations or similar installations of 
statutory undertakers 

6.39 To grant and extend existing licences for advertisement hoardings on Council-
owned car parks. 

6.40 To set charges for circuses. 

6.41 To consider, determine, grant or refuse all applications for the consent of the 
Council in its capacity as Landlord or landowner pursuant to any requirement for 
such consent contained in any lease, transfer or other instrument pertaining to 

Page 68

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

25 

 

interests in land to which the Council is a party save to the extent that such 
power is otherwise specifically delegated by the Scheme of Delegations. 

6.42 To determine (including all terms and conditions relating to) rent reviews, lease 
renewals and new leases provided that this shall not extend to a new or renewal 
of a lease where it is proposed that the term will exceed 21 years. 

6.43 To manage the Council’s property portfolio in accordance with the Council’s 
Asset Management Plan; and to seek planning or listed building consent as 
appropriate. 

6.44 The power to: 

(a) Consider and decide the merits of any claim to ownership of or rights over 
land owned by the Council, and as appears at her discretion to be 
appropriate either: 

(i) Lodge and pursue objection with the Land Registry; or 

(ii) Accept and agree the claim; or 

(iii) Negotiate and carry through settlement of the claim. 

(b) Determine whether or not to seek rectification of the Land Registers in 
respect of Council land already registered to third parties. 

(c) Determine whether or not to pursue registration of any land to which the 
Council holds disputed title. 

 
 
 
Miscellaneous 

6.45 To carry out the Council’s functions as Land Drainage Authority in accordance 
with the Land Drainage Act 1991. 

6.46 To carry out the Council’s functions as Maritime District Council in accordance 
with the Coast Protection Act 1949. 

7 HEAD OF  PLACE 

7.1 To make any drafting amendment to any emerging development plan document 
and supplemental planning document which is in the course of preparation and is 
produced for the purposes of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 that in 
the opinion of the Head of Place is of a minor nature and to consider and 
respond to requests and questions from an appointed Inspector during a 
Development Plan examination. 

Page 69

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

26 

 

7.2 To consider and determine any application (excluding applications for particular 
applications that are specifically referred to elsewhere in this section) submitted 
pursuant to the Planning Acts or any regulations or orders made pursuant to the 
Planning Acts (as revoked and replaced or amended from time to time) excluding 
an application: 

(a) which in the opinion of the Head of Place: 

(i)  is in conflict with the adopted Development Plan (as may be 
reviewed and/or amended from time to time); and 

(ii)  is of sub-regional or district wide significance; or  

(iii)  is on the Council's own land or land occupied by the Council, 
excluding an application to carry out works to trees covered by a 
TPO; or,  

(iv)  is an application submitted by the Council, a Member or Officer (or 
their respective partners) who at the time of submitting the 
application is part of the Planning Service, except that in the case of 
such an application by an Officer (or their partner), the Head of Place 
may still determine the application so long as he has previously 
consulted with the Monitoring Officer and the Officer concerned does 
not participate in the processing or determination of the application; 
or 

(b) which in the opinion of the Head of Place, save otherwise provided for 
herein, ought to be determined by the Planning Committee (provided that in 
such a case, at the absolute discretion of the Head of Strategic Planning 
and Development, the application may be first referred to a site inspection 
Committee after consultation with the Chairman of the Planning Committee 
and the Ward Member(s) for the ward in which the application site is 
situated; or 

(c) in respect of which the Head of Place receives within 28 days of notification 
of receipt of the application being first sent to one or more Members a 
written representation from a Member(s) which in the opinion of the Head of 
Strategic Planning and Development both conflicts with the Officer 
recommendation in respect of the application and contains planning 
reasons indicating why a different conclusion ought to be reached (provided 
that for the avoidance of doubt, a notification shall be deemed sent once it 
has been placed in the post in an envelope addressed to the Member or 
placed in a pigeon hole allocated for use by the Member in offices of the 
Council). In any such case the Head of Place may first refer that application 
to a site inspection committee after consultation with the Chairman of the 
Planning Committee and the Ward Member for the ward in which the 
application site is situated. 

Page 70

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

27 

 

7.3 To exercise and determine all functions of the Council arising from the Planning 
Acts that can reasonably be regarded as ancillary to the process of determining 
applications. 

7.4 The power, in conjunction where necessary with the Head of Environmental 
Health and Housing, to make recommendations on Paragraph 5 Certificates 
under the Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960. 

7.5 To consider and determine any matter arising in respect of the Council’s 
planning function. 

7.6 To determine whether or not to issue and serve any notice which in the opinion of 
the Head of Strategic Planning and Development is appropriate in order to 
regulate planning breaches (including conditions attached to any permissions or 
consents) pursuant to the Planning Acts. 

7.7 To make observations on proposed Tree Felling Licences to the Forestry 
Commission except that where the view of a Ward Councillor is in conflict with 
that of the Head of Place, they be reported to the Committee for decision. 

7.8 To take enforcement action to prevent the unauthorised holding of open air 
markets. 

7.9 To prepare, issue, serve and confirm provisional Tree Preservation Orders.  

7.10 The making of representations to the County Council in respect of road safety, 
subject to any matter having policy implications being referred to the Planning 
Committee. 

7.11 To consider and determine applications for works to trees which were subject to 
Tree Preservation Orders or within Conservation Areas. 

7.12 Power to determine applications for Lawful Development Certificates. 

7.13 Power to determine certificates of lawful use for existing development, following 
consultation with the Monitoring Officer. 

7.14 Power to determine appropriate measures for inclusion in Appropriate 
Assessments under the Habitats Regulations 

7.15 Power to amend the adopted Sustainability Appraisal Framework. 

7.16 Power to determine hedgerow removal notifications, determine high hedge 
complaints and prepare and serve associated notices. 

7.17 Power to determine whether to take action in respect of dangerous trees. 

Page 71

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

28 

 

7.18 Power to identify and include candidate buildings of local importance on the 
Council’s list of locally important buildings after consultation with the relevant 
ward member. 

7.19 Power to consider and respond to consultation documents. 

7.20 Power to determine applications for eligibility for entry to the self build and 
custom build register. 

7.21 Power to determine the developability of SHLAA sites and when any housing can 
be expected to be delivered. 

7.22 Power to prepare housing trajectories and reach a conclusion as to whether the 
Council has a 5 year housing land supply. 

8 HEAD OF OPERATIONAL SERVICES 

8.1 The power to manage, administer and operate waste and litter collection 
services. This power includes: 

(a) determination of whether a place at which fly-tipped waste is situated is so 
isolated as to make the cost of collection unreasonably high,  

(b) setting of charges for the collection of waste 

(c) determination of whether to collect industrial waste or other waste where 
the Council has the discretion to decide 

(d) disposal of the collected waste 

(e) determination of the specific receptacles for storage and collection of waste 

(f) serving litter clearance and other notices relating to waste and litter 

(g) in consultation with the Chief Financial Officer, disposal of plant and 
equipment used within the service  

 

Burial grounds 

9.2 To approve the erection of memorials in cemeteries administered by the Council. 

9.3 To manage and administer burial grounds. 

9.4 To agree and sign exclusive rights of burial 

9.5 To discharge any functions relating to the efficient management and running of 
North Devon Crematorium 

9.6 The power to execute exclusive Rights of Burial on behalf of the Council 

Car parking 

Page 72

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

29 

 

9.7 To arrange for vehicles parked illegally on car parks controlled by the Off-Street 
Parking Places Order to be removed. 

9.8 To manage car parks in accordance with the Off Street Parking Order including 
the issuing of penalty notices and permits. 

 

10 HARBOUR MASTER  

10.1 To exercise within the harbour at Ilfracombe all statutory and regulatory powers 
given to a Harbourmaster under the provisions of the Harbours Docks and Piers 
Clauses Act 1847, the Harbours Act 1964 and the Ilfracombe Harbour Byelaws. 

 
11 MONITORING OFFICER AND HEAD OF CORPORATE AND COMMUNITY 

11.1 To instruct and use Counsel and other external experts in respect of any legal 
issues relating to the Council. 

11.2 To institute, prosecute, defend, and appear in any legal proceedings (including 
tribunals, hearings and inquiries) on behalf of the Council and to take such 
decisions affecting such matters as are necessary.  

11.3 To prepare, issue and serve any Notices, Orders, Requisitions or other 
documents arising from or relating to any functions of the Council. 

11.4 To take such further action as the Monitoring Officer at his absolute discretion 
deems necessary for the purposes of implementing, enforcing in respect of 
breaches of, or regulating any decisions, Notices, Orders, Requisitions or other 
documents (including any conditions relating thereto) issued by or on behalf of 
the Council. 

11.5 To consider applications for, any representations received in respect of, and 
determine whether to grant or refuse (with or without modification) a road closure 
pursuant to the Town Police Clauses Act 1847. 

11.6 To consider and determine applications for late night opening in accordance with 
the Shops Act 1950.  

11.7 After consultation with the Head of Place and having considered any 
representations, to determine whether or not to confirm (with or without 
modification) a Tree Preservation Order pursuant to the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

11.8 To consider and determine whether to vary and / or revoke a Tree Preservation 
Order pursuant to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

Page 73

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

30 

 

11.9 Where no objections have been received, to determine whether or not to confirm 
any bylaw which the Council has the statutory power to issue. Provided that 
where an objection has been received determination can still be made if in the 
opinion of the Monitoring Officer there is an urgent need for a decision. 

11.10 To consider and determine applications for certificates of lawfulness of existing 
use or development and certificates of lawfulness of proposed use or 
development pursuant to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

11.11 To attest the Council seal and sign any document necessary to give effect to: 

(a) a resolution of the Council ; and/or 

(b) the exercise of a power or function delegated by the Council, provided that 
any such attestation or signing accords with Article 11 of the Constitution 

11.12 To hear and determine the appropriate action / responses to any offers and 
representations on behalf of the Council at a meeting, which, pursuant to any 
statutory authority, a person is entitled to make to the Council. 

11.13 In the absence of the Chief Finance Officer, in respect of any proceedings, to 
consider and determine whether the Council should lodge a formal offer with the 
Court. 

11.14 To act as the Proper Officer to receive complaints of breach of the Members' 
Code of Conduct. 

11.15 To grant or refuse dispensation for a Member to participate in a meeting on a 
matter that would otherwise be barred by the Code of Conduct, but only on the 
grounds that without the dispensation the meeting would be inquorate. A 
Member who is dissatisfied with the decision of the Monitoring Officer shall have 
a right of appeal to the Ethics Committee. 

11.16 Power to deal with, consider and determine complaints regarding the conduct of 
District and Parish Councillors, including  

(a) the power to make recommendations to Group Leaders, Committees and Full 
Council,  

(b) the power to consult with an Independent Person, and  

(c) the power to refer a complaint to the Governance Committee. 

 

11.17 Power to award Councillor and Community Grants in accordance with Council 

policies 

11.18 Power to take decisions on whether to list an asset as an Asset of Community 

Value 

Page 74

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

31 

 

11.19 Power to agree compensation payments recommended as a result of a complaint 

up to a value of £500.00 

11.20 Power to agree to advertisement or sponsorship arrangements and the power, in 

consultation with the Head of Resources and the relevant Portfolio Holder, to set 

appropriate fees for such arrangements 

11.21 Power to make changes to the Constitution in order to give effect to legislation 

changes and to make minor amendments, in consultation with the Leader. 

11.22 Power to make any changes to the Policy on the use of covert surveillance to 

ensure that it is in compliance with the relevant legislation and Code of Practice 

 

Page 75

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 3 

 

32 

 

 

ANNEXE 3 –  

A - DELEGATIONS TO COUNCILLORS 

The power to award community grants of up to £1,000 per annum to organisations 

based within the Councillor’s ward subject to the awarding of the grant complying with 

the relevant policy of the Council and subject also to the Council agreeing the 

necessary budget and PROVIDED THAT this power shall not be exercised by a 

Councillor to award a grant to an organisation in which he/she has a disclosable 

pecuniary interest, a prejudicial interest or a personal interest as defined within the 

current Code of Conduct, or in which he/she is otherwise a member of. 

B – ROLE OF LEAD MEMBERS 

Lead members will be appointed and removed by Full Council where Full Council 

considers it appropriate to do so based on the needs of the Council taking into account 

the Corporate Plan and other strategies.  Lead members will act as spokesperson for 

the area/subject designated by Full Council and will also act as the Council 

representative for that area/subject other than where the Leader considers differently.  

Lead members will have no delegated decision making powers and will eb appointed for 

the period set by Full Council. 

 

 

 

 

Page 76

Agenda Item 9
Appendix C



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

1 

 

PART 4: RULES OF PROCEDURE 

CONTENTS 

Council Procedure Rules 

Access to Information Procedure Rules 

Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 

Financial Procedure Rules  

Officer Employment Procedure Rules 

Contract Procedure Rules  

 

  

Page 77

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

2 

 

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 

1. ANNUAL MEETING OF THE COUNCIL 

1.1 Timing and business 

In a year when there is an ordinary election of councillors, the annual meeting will 
take place within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing councillors. In any 
other year, the annual meeting will take place in March, April or May. 

The annual meeting will: 

1.1.1 elect a person to preside if the Chair and Vice Chair of the Council is not 
present; 

1.1.2 elect the Chair of the Council; 

1.1.3 elect the Vice-Chair of the Council;  

1.1.4 in an election year, the outgoing Chair will preside until the election of a 
new Chair. 

1.1.5 elect the Leader and Deputy Leader; 

1.1.6 appoint such committees as the Council considers appropriate agree the 
Scheme of Officer Delegations (as set out in Part 3 of this Constitution); 
and 

1.1.7 consider any business set out in the notice convening the meeting. 

1.2 Selection of Councillors on Committees and Outside Bodies 

At the annual meeting, the Council meeting will: 

1.2.1 decide which committees and sub-committees to establish for the 
forthcoming municipal year; 

1.2.2 decide the size and terms of reference for those committees; 

1.2.3 decide the allocation of seats to political groups in accordance with the 
political balance rules; 

1.2.4 receive nominations of councillors to serve on those committees; 

1.2.5 appoint the Chairs and Vice-Chairs of Committees save where the 
Constitution expressly provides otherwise; and 

1.2.6 appoint non-voting Members to any Committee as it deems appropriate; 

1.2.7 make appointments to outside bodies except where appointment to those 
bodies has been delegated by the Council . 

Page 78

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

3 

 

2. ORDINARY MEETINGS 

Ordinary meetings of the Council will take place in accordance with the approved 
programme. The order of business at ordinary meetings will be as follows: 

2.1 elect a person to preside if the Chair and Vice-Chair are not present until such 
time as they are present; 

2.2 apologies for absence; 

2.3 approve the minutes of the last meeting and sign the minutes of the last 
meeting of Council; 

2.4 receive any announcements from the Chair; 

2.5 any business required by statute to be undertaken before any other business; 

2.6 business brought forward by or with the consent of the Chairman; 

2.7 receive questions from, and provide answers to, the public in relation to matters 
which in the opinion of the Chair are relevant to the Council’s functions; 

2.8 receive petitions from the public in relation to matters which in the opinion of the 
Chair are relevant to the Council’s functions; 

2.9 Deal with questions from Members in accordance with Rule 10. 

2.10 consider motions; 

2.11 receive any declarations of interest from Members; 

2.12 where the meeting has been called by Members under the provisions of 
Schedule 12 of the 1972 Act to consider the business specified in the 
summons;  

2.13 where a meeting has been summoned to consider: 

2.13.1 a change of name of the area of the authority under section 74 of the 
1972 Act; 

2.13.2 the promotion or opposition of a bill under section 239 of the 1972 Act; 

2.13.3 the presentation of a petition to The Queen praying for the grant of a 
charter under section 245 of the 1972 Act; and 

2.13.4 a report from the Chief Financial Officer under section 114 of the 1988 
Act; and 

2.13.5 a report from the Monitoring Officer under section 5 of the 1989 Act. 

Page 79

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

4 

 

2.14 Where the meeting is the last ordinary meeting before 2 April in any year, and 
where the Council has not set an amount for their Council Tax for the ensuing 
financial year, to consider the setting of such amount; 

2.15 To consider items of business if any which were on the agenda of the last 
meeting of the Council and which were not disposed of or did not lapse; 

2.16 Receive a report from the Leader and receive questions and answers on the 
report; 

2.17 Receive reports from the Council’s committees and receive questions and 
answers on those reports; 

2.18 Receive reports about and receive questions and answers on the business of 
joint arrangements and external organisations; 

2.19 Consider any other business specified in the summons to the meeting, 
including consideration of proposals from the Strategy and Resources 
Committee in relation to the Council’s budget and policy framework and 
reports of the Policy Development Committee; 

3. EXTRAORDINARY MEETINGS 

3.1 Calling extraordinary meetings of Council 

The Proper Officer may call Council meetings in addition to ordinary meetings 
and those listed below may request the Proper Officer to call additional Council 
meetings: 

3.1.1 the Council by resolution; 

3.1.2 the Chair of the Council; 

3.1.3 any five Members of the Council if they have signed a requisition 
presented to the Chair of the Council and he/she has refused to call a 
meeting or has failed to call a meeting within seven days of the 
presentation of the requisition; 

3.1.4 The Monitoring Officer; 

3.1.5 The Chief Financial Officer; 

3.1.6 The Chief Executive; 

3.2 Business 

The business to be conducted at an extraordinary meeting shall be restricted to 
the item(s) of business contained in the request for the extraordinary meeting 
and there shall be no consideration of previous minutes or reports from 
committees etc.  

Page 80

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

5 

 

3.3 Calling extraordinary meetings of Committees etc 

 The Council shall fix the date, time and place of ordinary meetings of 
Committees subject to the Chair of the relevant Committee having the right to 
change the date, time or venue of a Committee meeting at their discretion.  
Those listed below may call extraordinary meetings of Committees or Sub-
Committees: 

 3.3.1 The Chair or Vice Chair of Council 

 3.3.2 The Chair or Vice Chair of the relevant Committee or Sub-Committee 

 3.3.3 The Chief Executive  

4. TIME, PLACE AND DURATION OF MEETINGS 

4.1 Time and Place of Meetings 

The time and place of meetings will be determined by the Proper Officer and 
notified in the summons. 

4.2 Duration of Meetings 

At an ordinary meeting of the Council, when 3 hours have elapsed after the 
commencement of the meeting, the Chair shall, at the conclusion of the debate 
on the item of business then under consideration, put the matter in hand to the 
vote and then adjourn the meeting to a time fixed by the Council, Committee or 
Sub-Committee at the time of the adjournment unless the Members resolve to 
continue the sitting. 

5. NOTICE OF AND SUMMONS TO MEETINGS 

The Proper Officer will give notice to the public of the time and place of any meeting in 
accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules. At least five clear 
working days before a meeting, the Proper Officer will send an electronic summons 
signed by him to every Member of the Council. The summons will give the date, time 
and place of each meeting and specify the business to be transacted, and will be 
accompanied by such reports as are available. 

6. CHAIR OF MEETING 

The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of the Chair. 
Where these rules apply to committee and sub-committee meetings, references to the 
Chair also include the Chair of committees and subcommittees. 

7. QUORUM 

The quorum of a meeting will be one quarter of the whole number of Members 
provided that in no case shall the quorum be less than three voting members or in the 
case of a Sub Committee of the Licensing and Community Safety Committee two 

Page 81

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

6 

 

voting members. During any meeting if the Chair counts the number of Members 
present and declares there is not a quorum present, then the meeting will adjourn 
immediately for fifteen minutes.  If after fifteen minutes the person presiding, after 
again causing the number of Members present to be counted, declares that there is 
still no quorum, the meeting shall end. Remaining business will be considered at a 
time and date fixed by the Chair. If he/she does not fix a date, the remaining business 
will be considered at the next ordinary meeting.   

8. QUESTIONS BY THE PUBLIC  

8.1 General 

8.1.1 Subject to 8.3 below members of the public may ask questions at 
ordinary meetings of the Council.   

8.1.2 The total time allocated for questions by the public should be limited to 15 
minutes. 

8.2 Order of questions 

Questions will be asked in the order that notice of them was received, except that 
the Chair may group together similar questions. 

8.3 Notice of questions 

A question may only be asked if notice has been given by delivering it in writing 
or by electronic mail to the Head of Corporate and Community and Monitoring 
Officer at least 9 clear working days before the day of the meeting. Each 
question must give the name and address of the questioner, make it clear to 
whom the question is directed and identifies the meeting of Council to which it is 
intended to be put.  Questions will be no more than 100 words long unless 
otherwise agreed with the Chair in advance of the meeting. 

8.4 Number of questions 

At any one meeting no person may submit more than one question and no more 
than one such question may be asked on behalf of one organisation.  There shall 
be no more than two public questions considered at any one meeting. 

8.5 Scope of questions 

The Head of Corporate and Community and Monitoring Officer may reject a 
question if it: 

8.5.1 is not about a matter for which the Council has a responsibility or which 
affects the District; 

8.5.2 is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 

Page 82

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

7 

 

8.5.3 is substantially the same as a question which has been put at a meeting 
of the Council in the past six months; 

8.5.4 requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information, or  

8.5.5 is otherwise inappropriate 

8.6 Record of questions 

The Head of Corporate and Community and Monitoring Officer will enter each 
question in a book open to public inspection and will immediately send a copy of 
the question to the Councillor to whom it is to be put. Rejected questions will 
include reasons for rejection. 

Copies of all questions will be circulated to all Councillors and will be made 
available to the public attending the meeting. 

8.7 Asking the question at the meeting 

The Chair will invite the questioner to put the question to the Councillor named in 
the notice. If a questioner who has submitted a written question is unable to be 
present, they may ask the Chair to put the question on their behalf. The Chair  
will put the question on the questioner’s behalf and may indicate that a written 
reply will be given or decide, in the absence of the questioner, that the question 
will not be dealt with. 

8.8 Supplementary question 

A questioner who has put a question in person may also put one supplementary 
question without notice.  A supplementary question must arise directly out of the 
original question or the reply.  The Chair may reject a supplementary question on 
any of the grounds set out in Rule 8.5 above. 

8.9 Answers 

An answer may be given orally or in writing at the meeting or in writing after the 
meeting.  Any written answer will be circulated to all Councillors   

8.10 Discussion 

No discussion will take place on any question or answer.  

9. PETITIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 

9.1 Notice of Petition 

If a citizen wishes to present a petition to a Council meeting, notice must be 
given by that citizen, or by a Member on their behalf, at least 9 clear working 
days before the meeting. Petitions to be debated at the Council meeting will have 
been selected according to the Petitions Scheme. 

Page 83

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

8 

 

9.2 Presentation of Petitions 

The petition organiser, or a Member acting on their behalf, will be allowed 5 
minutes to present the petition at the meeting. Only one person may speak to 
present a petition.  No Member may present a petition if that Member has signed 
the petition. 

9.3 The Council will then debate the petition for a maximum of 30 minutes. 

9.4 The Council will decide how to respond to the petition at the meeting. Such 
response may include: 

9.4.1 taking the action requested; 

9.4.2 not taking the action requested; 

9.4.3  commissioning further investigation into the matter, eg by the relevant 
Committee; 

9.4.4 to hold further meetings with the petitioners; 

9.5 The petition organiser will receive written confirmation of this decision which will 
also be published on the Council website. 

9.6 Number of Petitions 

At any one meeting no person or organisation may present more than one 
petition. 

9.7 Scope of Petitions 

The Chief Executive may reject a petition if it: 

9.7.1 does not qualify under the scheme; 

9.7.2 is vexatious, abusive or otherwise inappropriate; 

9.7.3 is a petition qualifying under another enactment; 

9.7.4 is excluded by order; 

9.7.5 relates to a planning decision; 

9.7.6 relates to a licensing decision; 

9.7.7 relates to any other matter relating to an individual or entity in respect of 
which that individual or entity has a right of recourse to a review or right 
of appeal conferred by or under any enactment,  

9.7.8 is the same or substantially the same as a petition which has been 
discussed as a meeting of the Council in the previous 6 months, or 

Page 84

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

9 

 

9.7.9 it requests that a senior council officer gives evidence at a public 
meeting. 

10. QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS 

10.1 On reports of the Leader or committees 

At a meeting of the Council, other than the Annual meeting, a Member of the 
Council may ask the Leader or the chair of a committee any question without 
notice upon an item contained within a report of the Leader or a committee when 
that item is being received or under consideration by the Council. 

10.2 Questions on notice at full Council 

Subject to Rule 10.4, a Member of the Council may ask: 

10.2.1 the Chair; 

10.2.2 the Leader of the Council; or 

10.2.3 the chair of any committee or sub-committee,  

a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or 
which affects the District. 

10.3 Questions on notice at Committees and Sub-Committees 

Subject to Rule 10.4, a member of a committee or sub-committee may ask the 
chair of it a question on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or 
duties or which affects the District and which falls within the terms of reference of 
that committee or sub-committee. 

10.4 Notice of questions 

A member may ask a question under Rule 10.2 or 10.3 if either: 

10.4.1 they have given notice of the question in writing or by electronic mail no 
later than midday 9 clear working days before the day of the meeting to 
the Proper Officer or in the case of a question raised under 10.2.2 no 
later than 9.00am on the day which is one clear working day before the 
day of the meeting ; or 

10.4.2 the question relates to urgent matters, they have the consent of the Chair 
and member to whom the question is to be put and the content of the 
question is given to the Head of Corporate and Community and 
Monitoring Officer by 12.00 noon on the day of the meeting.  

 For the purpose of this rule, a matter is urgent if:-  (a) it could not have 
been known about and so notice under 10.4.1 above could not have 

Page 85

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

10 

 

been given, and (b) if the subject matter is of such a nature that 
consideration of it at the next meeting would not be reasonable.  

10.5 Order of Questions 

Questions of which notice has been given under Rule 10.2, 10.3 or 10.4.2 will be 
listed on the agenda in the order determined by the Chair of the Council, 
committee or sub-committee. 

10.6 Content of Questions 

Questions under Rule 10.2 or 10.3 must, in the opinion of the Chair: 

10.6.1 contain no expressions of opinion; 

10.6.2 relate to matters on which the Council has or may determine a policy and 
for which the Council has responsibility; 

10.6.3 not relate to planning or licensing applications to be determined or 
determined by the Council 

10.6.4 not be defamatory, frivolous or offensive in nature; and 

10.6.5 not relate to the appointment, dismissal, remuneration condition of 
service of any person employed by the Council, or the conduct of any 
Member. 

10.7 Response 

An answer may take the form of: 

10.7.1 a direct oral answer at the meeting; 

10.7.2 where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other 
published work, a reference to that publication;  

10.7.3 where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written answer 
circulated within 10 working days to the questioner, or 

10.7.4 in respect of a question submitted under 10.2.2 and in accordance with 
10.4.1, a written response will be provided at the meeting and if possible 
will be communicated to all Councillors by mid-day of the day of the 
meeting. 

10.8 Supplementary question 

A Member asking a question under Rule 10.2 or 10.3 may ask one 
supplementary question without notice of the Member to whom the first question 
was asked. The supplementary question must arise directly out of the original 

Page 86

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

11 

 

question or the reply and must not consist mainly of a statement or be a repeat of 
the original question. 

10.9 Length of Questions 

When a Member asks a question under Rule 10.2 or 10.3 the Member answering 
such a question may speak for no longer than 5 minutes unless the Chair 
consents to a longer period. 

10.10 Time Allowed for Questions at Council Meetings 

10.10.1 The time allowed for consideration of questions submitted under Rule 
10.2 shall not, without the consent of the Council, exceed 30 minutes  

10.10.2 At the conclusion of the answer to the question under consideration at 
the expiry of the relevant period of 30 minutes (or such longer period to 
which the Council has consented) from the time when the first questioner 
started to speak, the Chair shall conclude the item and any remaining 
questions shall be responded to in writing before the next ordinary 
meeting of the Council.  

10.11 There shall be no discussion on any matter raised by a question from a Member 
on notice but a motion may be moved without notice that the subject matter be 
referred to an appropriate Committee and on such a motion being seconded, it 
shall immediately be put to the vote. 

11. MOTIONS ON NOTICE 

11.1 Notice 

Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Rule 12, written 
notice of every motion must be delivered to the Head of Corporate and 
Community and Monitoring Officer 9 clear working days before the Council 
meeting at which it is to be considered. Motions received will be entered in a 
book open to public inspection. 

11.2 Motion set out in agenda 

Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda in the order 
determined by the Chief Executive. 

11.3 Scope 

Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility or 
which affect the District and must not be illegal, improper or defamatory in 
nature. 

Page 87

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

12 

 

11.4 One Motion per Member 

No Member may give notice of more than one motion for any Council meeting, 
except with the consent of the Chair. 

11.6 Lapse of a Motion 

 Where notice of a motion has been given for any meeting, and that motion is 
neither moved, seconded nor deemed to have been referred to a Committee 
under 11.7 below, the notice shall lapse and the motion shall not be moved 
without further notice. 

11.7 Referral to Committee 

 Where a notice of motion has been given for any meeting and that motion is 
within the terms of reference of any Committee the motion shall be deemed to 
have been referred to the next meeting of the Committee within whose terms of 
reference it falls and any question as to the appropriate Committee to which the 
motion is to be referred shall be determined by the Chair of Council.  

12. MOTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE 

The following motions may be moved without notice: 

12.1 to appoint a Chair of the meeting at which the motion is moved; 

12.2 in relation to the accuracy of the minutes; 

12.3 to change the order of business in the agenda; 

12.4 to refer something to an appropriate body or individual; 

12.5 to appoint a committee or member arising from an item on the summons for the 
meeting; 

12.6 to receive reports or adoption of recommendations of committees or officers and 
any resolutions following from them; 

12.7 to withdraw a motion; 

12.8 to amend a motion, subject to the provisions of the Budget and Policy 
Framework Procedure Rules in relation to amendment of the proposals for the 
Council’s Budget and Policy Framework; 

12.9 to proceed to the next business; 

12.10 that the question be now put; 

12.11 to adjourn a debate; 

12.12 to adjourn a meeting; 

12.13 to suspend a particular Council Procedure Rule; 

12.14 to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules; 

Page 88

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

13 

 

12.15 to not hear further a Member named under Rule 19.3 or to exclude them from the 
meeting under Rule 19.4; and 

12.16 to give the consent of the Council where its consent is required by this 
Constitution; 

12.17 that the vote now be taken 

12.18 that a vote be by way of a recorded vote or ballot 

12.19 to refer to a Committee any petition that has been presented to Council, 

12.20 that a motion, amendment or business of an objectionable nature be not 
entertained or permitted, 

12.21 on consideration of a report or recommendation, a motion to adopt the report or 
recommendation or a motion which is in response to the report or any 
recommendation including a motion to refuse or amend the same 

13. RULES OF DEBATE 

13.1 No speeches until motion seconded 

No speeches may be made after the mover has moved a proposal and explained 
the purpose of it until the motion has been seconded. 

13.2 Right to require motion in writing 

Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the Chair may require it to 
be written down and handed to him before it is discussed. 

13.3 Seconder’s speech 

When seconding a motion or amendment, a member may reserve their speech 
until later in the debate. 

13.4 Content and length of speeches 

13.4.1 Speeches must be directed to the question under discussion or to a 
personal explanation or point of order. 

13.4.2 A speech by the mover of a motion may not exceed 5 minutes without 
the consent of the Chair. 

13.4.3 Subject to paragraph 13.4.4 below, speeches by other Members may not 
exceed 3 minutes without the consent of the Chair. 

13.4.4 When the Council’s annual budget is under discussion, the leader of 
each political group on the Council may speak for up to 5 minutes or 
such longer period as the Chair shall allow. 

Page 89

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

14 

 

13.5 When a Member may speak again 

A member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is the 
subject of debate, except: 

13.5.1 to speak once on an amendment moved by another member; 

13.5.2 to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended since 
he/she last spoke; 

13.5.3 if his first speech was on an amendment moved by another member, to 
speak on the main issue (whether or not the amendment on which he/she 
spoke was carried); 

13.5.4 in exercise of a right of reply; 

13.5.5 on a point of order; and 

13.5.6 by way of personal explanation. 

13.6 Amendments to motions 

13.6.1 An amendment to all motions at Council meetings must be relevant to the 
motion and will either be: 

(a) to refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual for 
consideration or reconsideration; 

(b) to leave out words; 

(c) to leave out words and insert or add others; or 

(d) to insert or add words 

(e) as long as the effect of (b) to (d) is not to negate the motion. 

13.6.2 Notwithstanding 13.6.1 (e) above, where a motion to approve, refuse or 
defer an application for planning permission or a license has been made 
and seconded, it shall be capable of amendment by a motion to approve 
rather than refuse or defer, or to refuse rather than approve or defer, as 
the case may be.    

13.6.3 Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time.  No 
further amendment may be moved until the amendment under discussion 
has been disposed of. 

13.6.4 If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original motion 
may be moved. 

Page 90

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

15 

 

13.6.5 If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of 
the original motion. This becomes the substantive motion to which any 
further amendments are moved. 

13.6.6 After an amendment has been carried, the Chair will read out the 
amended motion before accepting any further amendments, or if there 
are none, put it to the vote. 

13.7 Alteration of motion 

13.7.1 A Member may alter a motion of which he/she has given notice with the 
consent of the meeting. The meeting’s consent will be signified by the 
show of hands. 

13.7.2 A Member may alter a motion which he/she has moved without notice 
with the consent of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s 
consent will be signified without discussion. 

13.7.3 Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may be made. 

13.8 Withdrawal of motion 

A Member may withdraw a motion which he/she has moved with the consent of 
both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent will be signified 
without discussion. No member may speak on the motion after the mover has 
asked permission to withdraw it unless permission is refused. 

13.9 Right of reply 

13.9.1 The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate on the 
motion, immediately before it is put to the vote but shall not introduce a 
new matter. 

13.9.2 If an amendment is moved, the mover of the original motion has the right 
of reply at the close of the debate on the amendment, but may not 
otherwise speak on it. 

13.9.3 The mover of the amendment shall have the right of reply to the debate 
on his amendment immediately before the amendment is put to the vote. 

13.10 Motions which may be moved during debate 

When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved except the 
following procedural motions: 

13.10.1 to withdraw a motion; 

13.10.2 to amend a motion; 

13.10.3 to proceed to the next business; 

Page 91

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

16 

 

13.10.4 that the vote now be taken 

13.10.5 to adjourn a debate; 

13.10.6 to adjourn a meeting; 

13.10.7 to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules;  

13.10.8 to not hear further a Member named under Rule 19.3 or to exclude them 
from the meeting under Rule 19.4; and 

13.10.9 that the subject of debate be referred to a Committee or other appropriate 
body having power to deal with the same 

13.11 Closure motions 

13.11.1 A Member may move, without comment, the following motions at the end 
of a speech of another Member; 

(a) to proceed to the next business; 

(b) that the vote now be taken; 

(c) to adjourn a debate; or 

(d) to adjourn a meeting. 

13.11.2 If a motion to proceed to next business is seconded and the Chair thinks 
the item has been sufficiently discussed, he/she will give the mover of the 
original motion a right of reply and then put the procedural motion to the 
vote. 

13.11.3 If a motion that the question be now put is seconded and the Chair thinks 
the item has been sufficiently discussed, he/she will put the procedural 
motion to the vote. If it is passed he/she will give the mover of the original 
motion a right of reply before putting his/her motion to the vote. 

13.11.4 If a motion to adjourn the debate or to adjourn the meeting is seconded 
and the Chair thinks the item has not been sufficiently discussed and 
cannot reasonably be so discussed on that occasion, he/she will put the 
procedural motion to the vote without giving the mover of the original 
motion the right of reply. 

13.12 Point of order 

A point of order is a request from a member to the Chair to rule on an alleged 
irregularity in the procedure of the meeting.  A member may raise a point of order 
at any time. The Chair will hear them immediately. A point of order may only 
relate to an alleged breach of these Council Rules of Procedure or the law. The 

Page 92

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

17 

 

member must indicate the rule or law and the way in which he/she considers it 
has been broken. The ruling of the Chair on the matter will be final. 

13.13 Personal explanation 

A member may make a personal explanation at any time. A personal explanation 
may only relate to some material part of an earlier speech by the member which 
may appear to have been misunderstood in the present debate. The ruling of the 
Chair on the admissibility of a personal explanation will be final. 

13.14 Participation 

 A Member appointed to the Planning Committee or any Committee or Sub-
Committee sitting in a quasi judicial role who arrives at a meeting of that 
Committee or Sub-committee during the consideration of an item, or leaves a 
meeting at any time during the consideration of an item, shall not propose or 
second any motion or amendment or cast a vote in relation to that item. 

13.15 Additional Issues 

 At a meeting of the Council, Members shall stand when speaking, unless unable 
to do so, and shall address the Chair.  While a Member is speaking, other 
Members shall remain seated unless rising for a point of order, a point of 
information or in personal explanation. 

14. MEMBERS RIGHT TO PLACE ITEMS ON COMMITTEE AGENDAS 

14.1 Members Right 

A member of a Committee has the right to request that a matter of policy be 
placed on the Committee agenda for consideration by the Committee.  A 
Member who is not a member of the Committee may also have the same right 
where the item relates to an issue that directly affects the Member’s ward. 

 

14.2 Procedure 

 The Member shall give the Chief Executive notice in writing not less than 7 clear 
days before the relevant meeting of the content of the item.  The Chief Executive 
shall consider whether the item can properly be considered by the Committee 
subject to consultation with the relevant Chair.  

 
15. VOTING 

15.1 Majority 

Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by a 
simple majority of those members voting and present in the room at the time the 
motion was put. 

Page 93

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

18 

 

15.2 Chair’s casting vote 

If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Chair will have a second 
or casting vote. There will be no restriction on how the Chair chooses to exercise 
a casting vote. 

15.3 Method of Voting 

Unless a recorded vote is demanded or required under Rule 15.4 or a ballot is 
demanded under Rule 15.5, the Chair will take the vote by a show of hands, or 
by use of the Council’s electronic voting system if any, or if there is no dissent, by 
the affirmation of the meeting. 

15.4 Recorded vote 

If the majority of members present at the meeting demand it, or if a vote is to be 
taken on a “budget decision” as defined within the Local Authorities (Standing 
Orders)(England) Regulations 2001 as amended, the names for and against the 
motion or amendment or abstaining from voting will be taken down in writing and 
entered into the minutes.  A demand for a recorded vote will override a demand 
for a ballot. 

 15.5 Ballot 

On a motion being moved and seconded and supported by the majority of 
Members present, the vote on an item of business will be by ballot. 

15.5 Right to require individual vote to be recorded 

Where any member requests it immediately after the vote is taken, their vote will 
be so recorded in the minutes to show whether they voted for or against the 
motion or abstained from voting. 

15.6 Voting on appointments 

If there are more than two people nominated for any position to be filled and 
there is not a clear majority of votes in favour of one person, then the name of 
the person with the least number of votes will be taken off the list and a new vote 
taken. The process will continue until there is a majority of votes for one person. 

16. MINUTES 

16.1 Signing the minutes 

The Chair of the Council, a Committee or Sub Committee will sign the minutes of 
the proceedings at the next suitable meeting of that body. The Chair will move 
that the minutes of the previous meeting be signed as a correct record. The only 
part of the minutes that can be discussed is their accuracy.  The minutes are 
deemed as “draft” until approved as a correct record by the next meeting. 

Page 94

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

19 

 

16.2 No requirement to sign minutes of previous meeting at extraordinary 
meeting 

Where in relation to any meeting, the next meeting for the purpose of signing the 
minutes is a meeting called under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12 to the Local 
Government Act 1972 (an extraordinary meeting), then the next following 
meeting (being a meeting called otherwise than under that paragraph) will be 
treated as a suitable meeting for the purposes of paragraph 41(1) and (2) of 
Schedule 12 relating to signing of minutes. 

16.3 Form of minutes 

Minutes of full Council meetings will contain all motions and amendments in the 
form and order the Chair put them. 

17. RECORD OF ATTENDANCE 

All members present during the whole or part of a meeting must sign their names 
on the attendance sheets before the conclusion of every meeting to assist with 
the record of attendance. 

18. EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC 

Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in accordance with 
the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Part 4 of this Constitution or Rule 
20 (Disturbance by Public). 

19. MEMBERS’ CONDUCT 

19.1 Speaking at meetings 

When a Member speaks at full Council he/she must stand and address the 
meeting through the Chair. If more than one member signifies their intention to 
speak, the Chair will ask one to speak. Other Members must remain silent whilst 
a Member is speaking unless they wish to make a point of order or a point of 
personal explanation. 

19.2 Chair speaking 

When the Chair speaks during a debate, any member speaking at the time must 
stop. 

19.3 Member not to be heard further 

If a Member persistently disregards the ruling of the Chair by behaving 
improperly or offensively or deliberately obstructs business, the Chair may move 
that the member be not heard further. If seconded, the motion will be voted on 
without discussion. 

Page 95

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

20 

 

19.4 Member to leave the meeting 

If the Member continues to behave improperly after such a motion is carried, the 
Chair may move that either the Member leaves the meeting or that the meeting is 
adjourned for a specified period. If seconded, the motion will be voted on without 
discussion. 

19.5 General disturbance 

If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the Chair 
may adjourn the meeting for as long as he/she thinks necessary. 

20. DISTURBANCE BY PUBLIC 

20.1 Removal of member of the public 

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Chair will warn the person 
concerned. If they continue to interrupt, the Chair will order their removal from 
the meeting room. 

20.2 Clearance of part of meeting room 

If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the 
public, the Chair may call for that part to be cleared. 

21. SUSPENSION AND AMENDMENT OF COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULES 

21.1 Suspension 

All of these Council Rules of Procedure except Rule 1.1, 16.1, 15.5 and 16.2 
may be suspended by motion on notice or without notice by a majority of those 
members voting and present in the room at the time. Suspension can only be for 
the duration of the meeting. Rule 1.1 can only be suspended by motion on notice 
and the motion must have the support of a majority of those members present 
and voting. 

21.2 Amendment 

Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Council Rules of Procedure will, 
when proposed and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next 
ordinary meeting of the Council. 

22. APPLICATION TO COMMITTEES AND SUB-COMMITTEES 

All of the Council Rules of Procedure apply to meetings of full Council.. Only 
Rules 4 - 7, 10 - 23 (but not Rule 19.1) apply to meetings of committees and sub-
committees. 

Page 96

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

21 

 

23. APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS ON COUNCIL BODIES 

23.1 The substitution rules will not apply to meetings of the Strategy and Resources 
Committee, Governance Committee or Licensing and Community Safety 
Committee save that substitute Members may attend, speak and vote at meetings 
of a Sub Committee appointed by the Licensing and Community Safety 
Committee provided that the substitute Member appointed also sits on the 
Licensing Committee. 

23.2 The Head of Corporate and Community and Monitoring Officer may consider a 
request from a Member of a Council Body, Leader or Deputy Leader of a political 
group to appoint a substitute Member, providing that the substitute Member is 
from the same political group. 

23.3 In order to be eligible to sit as substitutes on the Planning Committee and the 
Governance Committee, Members must have received formal training in relevant 
procedures and the law. 

23.4 A member of the Planning Committee may only appoint a substitute to sit on that 
Committee if the substitute has been appointed to the Planning Committee 
Substitution Panel by Full Council.  Substitute Members will have all the powers 
and duties of any ordinary Member of the committee but will not be able to 
exercise any special powers or duties exercisable by the person they are 
substituting.  For the avoidance of doubt no substitution is permitted to the 
Substitution Panel.  An appointed substitute Member of the Planning Committee 
must be present for the whole of the meeting. 

23.5 Substitute Members may attend meetings in that capacity only: 

23.5.1 to take the place of the ordinary Member for whom they are designated 
substitute; 

23.5.2 except where the meeting is a meeting of a Sub Committee of the  
Licensing and Community Safety Committee, where the ordinary Member 
will be absent for the whole of the meeting; 

23.5.3 where the ordinary Member has notified the Head of Corporate and 
Community Services and Monitoring Officer of the intended substitution 
at least one hour before the start of the relevant meeting.  

Page 97

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

22 

 

ACCESS TO INFORMATION PROCEDURE RULES 

1. SCOPE 

1.1 These rules apply to all formal meetings of the Council and any Committee or Sub-
Committee.  For the avoidance of doubt, the Rules do not apply to informal 
meetings involving Councillors or to Working Groups.   

2. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS TO INFORMATION 

These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained elsewhere 
in this Constitution or the law nor do these rules limit or diminish the Council’s duties 
to protect certain information, including personal information. This includes the rights 
and duties from the provisions of the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the 
General Data Protection Regulations 2018. 

3. RIGHTS TO ATTEND MEETINGS 

3.1 Members of the public may attend all meetings subject only to the exceptions 
in these Rules. 

3.2 If a member of the public or press interrupts the proceedings at any meeting 
the Chair may warn him. If he/she continues the interruption and a warning 
has been given, the Chair may order his removal from the meeting place. 

3.3 In the event of a general disturbance in any part of the meeting place open to 
the public, the Chair may order that part to be cleared. 

3.4 If the Chair considers the orderly dispatch of business impossible, he/she may 
without question adjourn the meeting. 

3.5 The above powers of the Chair are in addition to any other power vested in 
him. 

4. NOTICES OF MEETING 

The Council will give at least five clear working days notice of any meeting by posting 
details of the meeting at Lynton House Commercial Road Barnstaple EX31 1DG and on 
its website at www.northdevon.gov.uk. 

5. ACCESS TO AGENDA AND REPORTS BEFORE THE MEETING 

5.1 All Members of the Council shall be provided with the front agenda pages of all 
Council and committee meetings and full copies of the agenda and reports 
including those containing exempt and/or confidential information can be 
requested and will be provided electronically . 

5.2 The Council will make copies of the agenda and reports open to the public 
available for inspection at the designated office and available on the website  at 
least five clear working days before the meeting. If an item is added to the agenda 

Page 98

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D

http://www.northdevon.gov.uk/


NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

23 

 

later, the revised agenda will be open to inspection from the time the item was 
added to the agenda (where reports are prepared after the summons has been 
sent out, the designated officer shall make each such report available to the public 
as soon as the report is completed and sent to Councillors). 

6. SUPPLY OF COPIES 

6.1 Supply of Copies at the Meeting 

The Council will make available to the public present at a meeting a 
reasonable number of copies of the agenda and of the reports for the meeting 
(save during any part of the meeting to which the public are excluded). 

6.2 The Council will supply copies of: 

6.2.1 any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection; 

6.2.2 any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the nature of 
the items in the agenda; and 

6.2.3 if the Proper Officer thinks fit, copies of any other documents supplied to 
Councillors in connection with an item 

to any person on payment of a charge for postage and any other costs. 

7. ACCESS TO MINUTES ETC. AFTER THE MEETING 

The Council will make available copies of the following for six years after a meeting or 
a decision: 

7.1 the minutes of the meeting or records of decisions taken, together with 
reasons, for all meetings of Council and Committees or Sub committees, 
excluding any part of the minutes of proceedings when the meeting was 
not open to the public or which disclose exempt or confidential 
information; 

7.2 records of decisions taken by individual Members or officers, 

7.3 a summary of any proceedings not open to the public where the minutes 
open to inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and coherent 
record; 

7.4 the agenda for the meeting; and 

7.5 reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public. 

Page 99

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

24 

 

8. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

8.1 List of background papers 

The Officer preparing a report will set out in such report a list of those documents 
(called background papers) relating to the subject matter of the report which in his 
opinion: 

8.1.1 disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of 
the report is based; and 

8.1.2 which have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report 

but does not include published works or those which disclose exempt or 
confidential information (as defined in Rule 10). 

8.2 Public inspection of background papers 

The Council will make available for public inspection for four years after the date 
of the meeting one copy of each of the documents on the list of background 
papers. 

9. SUMMARY OF PUBLIC’S RIGHTS 

A written summary of the public’s rights to attend meetings and to inspect and copy 
documents will be kept at and made available to the public at Lynton House  
Barnstaple. 

10. EXCLUSION OF ACCESS OF THE PUBLIC TO MEETINGS 

10.1 Extent of Exclusion 

The public may only be excluded under 10.2 or 10.3 for the part or parts of the 
meeting during which it is likely that confidential or exempt information would be 
divulged.   

10.2 Confidential information – requirement to exclude public 

The public must be excluded from meetings and from access to reports whenever 
it is likely in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of 
the proceedings that confidential information would be disclosed. 

10.3 Exempt information – discretion to exclude public 

The public may be excluded from meetings and from access to reports whenever 
it is likely in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of 
the proceedings that exempt information would be disclosed.  Such a decision to 
exclude the public is to be made by resolution of the relevant decision making 
body. 

Page 100

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

25 

 

Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or 
adversely affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 
establishes a presumption that the meeting will be held in public unless a private 
hearing is necessary for one of the reasons specified in Article 6. 

10.4 Meaning of confidential information 

Confidential information means information given to the Council by a Government 
Service or Agency on terms which forbid its public disclosure or information 
which cannot be publicly disclosed by any enactment or Court Order. 

10.5 Meaning of exempt information 

Exempt information means information falling within the following categories 
(subject to any qualification). 

Categories of Exempt Information 

1. Information relating to any individual 

2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual 

3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information). 

4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or 
negotiations, in connect with any labour relating matter arising between the authority or a 
Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority. 

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained 
in legal proceedings. 

6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes-  

(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are 
imposed on a person; or 

(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, 
investigation or prosecution of crime. 

The above categories are subject to qualifications and to the public interest test.  These are 
laid down in Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972. 

10.6 Extent of Exclusion 

The public may only be excluded under 10.1 or 10.3 for the part or parts of the 
meeting during which it is likely that confidential or exempt information would be 
divulged. 

Page 101

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

26 

 

NOTE Information falling within any of paragraphs 1 – 7 is not exempt 
information if it relates to proposed development for which the local planning 
authority may grant itself planning permission pursuant to regulation 3 of the 
Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992. 

10.7 Exclusion of Members 

Where a Sub-Committee of the Licensing Committee is held and the press and 
public are excluded under these provisions, any Members who are not members 
of that Sub Committee who are present shall also be excluded. 

11. EXCLUSION OF ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO REPORTS 

11.1 If the Proper Officer thinks fit, the Council may exclude access by the public to 
reports which in his/her opinion relate to items during which, in accordance with 
Rule 10, the meeting is likely not to be open to the public. Such reports will be 
marked “Not for publication” together with the category of information likely to be 
disclosed. If the information is exempt information, the category of the exempt 
information must also be marked on the report. 

11.2 The relevant body is requested in the agenda to confirm the action set out in 11.1 
by resolution. Arrangements will be made to recall the press and public 
immediately should the motion not be passed. 

11.3 If the matter is considered in public, any related report will also become available 
to the public. 

 
12. RECORD OF DECISIONS 

After any meeting of the Council or any of its Committees, whether held in public or in 
private, the Head of Corporate and Community Services and Monitoring Officer or, 
where no Officer was present, the person presiding at the meeting, will produce a 
written record of every decision taken at that meeting as soon as practicable. The 
record will include: 

12.1 a record of the decision including the date it was made; 

12.2 a record of the reason for the decision; 

12.3 details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the decision-making 
body at the meeting at which the decision was made; 

12.4 a record of any conflict of interest relating to the matter decided which is declared 
by any member of the decision-making body which made the decision; and 

12.5 in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of dispensation if granted by 
the relevant local authority’s head of paid service. 

 

Page 102

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

27 

 

 

12.6 Inspection of background papers 

12.6.1 Subject to Rule 17, when a copy of the whole or part of a report for a 
meeting is made available for inspection by members of the public in 
accordance with Rule 5 , at the same time- 

(a) a copy of a list compiled by the Oroper Officer of the background 
paper to the report or part of the report, must be included in the 
report or, as the case may be, part of the report; and 

(b) at least one copy of each of the documents included in that list, 

must be available for inspection by the public at the offices of the Council 
and on www.northdevon.gov.uk. 

13. JOINT COMMITTEES 

These Access to Information Rules apply to the Council’s Joint Committees.  

14. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS OF ACCESS FOR MEMBERS 

14.1 Material relating to business to be transacted at a Public Meeting 

14.1.1 All Members of the Council will be entitled to inspect any document 
(except those available only in unpublished draft form) in the possession 
or under the control of the Council or its Committees which contains 
material relating to any business previously transacted at a private 
meeting unless (a) or (b) applies: 

(a) it contains exempt information falling within paragraphs 1, 2, 4, 5 or 7 
of the categories of exempt information; or 

(b) it contains exempt information falling within paragraph 3 of the 
categories of exempt information and that information relates to any 
terms proposed or to be proposed by or to the Council in the course 
of negotiations for a contract. 

14.2  Meetings of Committees sitting in a Quasi-Judicial role 

 Where a Committee or Sub-Committee is meeting in a quasi-judicial role and a 
resolution is passed to exclude the press and public under Rule 10 and Rule 11, 
any Member present who is not a member of the Committee or Sub Committee 
will also be excluded. 

 
15. NATURE OF RIGHTS 

These rights of a Member are additional to any other right he/she may have. 

Page 103

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D

http://www.northdevon.gov.uk/


NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

28 

 

16. MEMBERS’ OTHER RIGHTS TO INFORMATION AND TO SPEAK AT COMMITTEES 

16.1 A Member of the Council may, for the purposes of his duty as a Member and no 
other, inspect any document that has been considered by a committee or the 
Council including background papers. Applications should be made to the Head 
of Corporate and Community Services and Monitoring Officer and, if available, 
copies will be supplied upon request. 

16.2 A member shall not knowingly inspect or request a copy of any document relating 
to a matter in which he/she: 

16.2.1 is professionally interested; or 

16.2.2 has a pecuniary, prejudicial or personal interest within the meaning of the 
Code of Conduct for Members as set out in this Constitution. 

16.3 This shall not preclude the Head of Corporate and Community Services and 
Monitoring Officer from declining to allow inspection of any document which is or 
would be protected by privilege in the event of legal proceedings arising from the 
relationship of solicitor and client and should be exempt under either the 
Freedom of Information Act or the General Data Protection Regulations 2018.  

16.4 All reports, background papers to reports and minutes kept by any committee shall 
be open for the inspection of any member of the Council, as soon as the 
committee has concluded action on the matter to which such reports or minutes 
relate. 

16.5 A Councillor who is not a member of the Planning Committee may attend that 
Committee and speak on an item that affects their ward and in relation to all 
other Committees may attend and speak on a matter with the discretion of the 
Chair.  

 
17. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION, EXEMPT INFORMATION  

17.1 Nothing in these Rules is to be taken to authorise or require the disclosure of 
confidential information in breach of the obligation of confidence. 

17.2 Nothing in these Rules: 

17.2.1 authorises or requires the Council to disclose to the public or make 
available for public inspection any document or part of document if, in the 
opinion of the Head of Corporate and Community Services and 
Monitoring Officer, that document or part of a document contains or may 
contain confidential information; or 

17.2.2 requires the Council to disclose to the public or make available for public 
inspection any document or part of document if, in the opinion of the 
Proper Officer, that document or part of a document contains or is likely 

Page 104

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

29 

 

to contain exempt information or the advice of a political advisers or 
assistant. 

Page 105

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

30 

 

 

BUDGET AND POLICY FRAMEWORK PROCEDURE RULES 

1. ADOPTION OF THE BUDGET AND THE FRAMEWORK  

 The Council will be responsible for the adoption of its budget and policy framework 
as set out in Article 4. Once a budget or a policy framework is in place, it will be the 
responsibility of the Committees to implement it. 

1.1 In approving the Budget and Policy Framework, the Council will also specify 
the extent of virement within the budget and degree of in-year changes to the 
policy framework which may be undertaken by the a Committee or officer, in 
accordance with paragraphs 5 and 6 of these Rules (virement and in-year 
adjustments). Any other changes to the policy and budgetary framework are 
reserved to the Council. 

2. PROCESS FOR DEVELOPING THE BUDGET 

2.1 The Council will follow the process set out in the Financial Procedure Rules in 
Part 4 of the Constitution. In addition, the draft budget will be reported to 
Policy Development Committee prior to firm proposals being recommended to 
Council and the views of the Policy Development Committee will be taken into 
account by Strategy and Resources Committee when drawing up the final 
recommendations to Council. Immediately after a vote is taken at a budget 
decision meeting of the authority, there must be recorded in the minutes of the 
proceedings of that meeting the names of the persons who cast a vote for the 
decision or against the decision or who abstained from voting and for the 
purposes of this provision:- 

(a) a “budget decision” means a meeting of the relevant body at which it 
makes a calculation (whether originally or by way of substitution) in 
accordance with any of sections 31A, 31B, 34 to 3A, 42A, 42B, 45 to 49, 52ZF 
and 52ZJ of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, or issues a precept 
under Chapter 4 of Part 1 of that Act.  This includes a meeting where the 
calculation or issuing the precept as the case may be was included as an item 
of business on the agenda for that meeting, and 

(b) references to a “vote” are references to a vote on any decision relating to 
the making of the calculation or the issuing of the precept as the case may be. 
 

3.   DECISIONS OUTSIDE THE BUDGET OR POLICY FRAMEWORK 

3.1 Subject to the provisions of paragraph 4  Committees and Sub Committees 
and officers may only take decisions which are in line with the Budget and 
Policy Framework. If any of these bodies or persons wishes to make a 
decision which is contrary to the Policy Framework, or contrary to or not 
wholly in accordance with the Budget approved by full Council, then that 

Page 106

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

31 

 

decision may only be taken by the Council, subject to paragraph 5 below and 
subject also to article 11.7 of Part 1 of the Constitution. 

3.2 Paragraph 3.1 above shall not apply where a decision is made by an officer or 
by the Planning Committee contrary to the then adopted Development Plan 
forming part of the Policy Framework 

4 VIREMENT 

4.1 In the event that virement across budget heads or budgets becomes 
necessary or desirable, it shall be carried out in accordance with the Financial 
Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of this Constitution.  Beyond that limit, 
approval to any virement across budget heads shall require the approval of 
the Full Council. 

5 IN-YEAR CHANGES TO POLICY FRAMEWORK 

The responsibility for agreeing the Budget and Policy Framework lies with the 
Council and decisions by any committee or officers or joint arrangements  must be in 
line with it. No changes to any policy or strategy which make up the policy framework 
may be made by those bodies or individuals except those changes: 

5.1 which will result in the closure or discontinuance of a service or part of a 
service to meet a budgetary constraint; 

5.2 necessary to ensure compliance with the law, ministerial direction or 
government guidance; 

5.3 in relation to the Policy Framework in respect of a policy which would normally 
be agreed annually by the Council following consultation, but where the 
existing policy document is silent on the matter under consideration; 

2.2 for which provision is made within the relevant budget or policy. 

 

 

Page 107

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

32 

 

FINANCIAL PROCEDURE RULES 

 
 
DEFINITIONS 

“Chief Financial Officer” shall be the holder of the post having responsibility for the statutory 
duties set out in Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 as identified by the Council. 

Any reference to the “Chief Financial Officer” in Standing Orders or Financial Procedure 
Rules shall refer to the post holder defined above or a nominee, except in so far as any duty 
is required by statute to be performed personally by the post holder.  A record of nominees 
and the duties allocated shall be kept by the Chief Financial Officer. 

1 GENERAL 
 
1.1 These financial procedure rules form part of the Constitution and may not be 

amended without a Council resolution. 
 
1.2 The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for the proper administration of the 

Council’s financial affairs and must be consulted on any matter that could materially 
affect the Council’s finances. 

 
1.3 Interpretation of these financial procedure rules is the responsibility of the Chief 

Financial Officer. 
 
1.4 The Council operates a delegated budget system.  It is the responsibility of all budget 

holders to ensure they are familiar with these procedural rules and adhere to them. 
 
2 ACCOUNTING 
 
2.1 The accounting procedures and records shall meet the standards that, in the opinion 

of the Chief Financial Officer, deliver financial information and control to a level 
required by him to be satisfied that the council's financial affairs can be properly 
administered. 

 
2.2 Accounting duties shall be allocated to ensure wherever possible that- 
 

(a) The duties of providing information on amounts due to or from the 
Council (together with calculating, checking and recording) shall be 
separated as far as possible from the duty of collecting or paying; and 

 
(b) Officers who examine or check the accounts of cash transactions 

should not be engaged in any of these transactions. 
 
2.3 All paid accounts and vouchers shall be available for examination by Members of the 

Council at all reasonable times. 
 

Page 108

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

33 

 

2.4 Financial records must be retained for audit and taxation purposes.  Guidance on 
retention periods is contained in Schedule 1 to this document. 

 

3. AUDIT 
 
3.1 The Council has responsibility for maintaining an effective system of internal Audit.  

This responsibility has been formally delegated to the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
3.2 The accounting and financial operations of the Council shall be subject to a 

continuous internal audit under the independent control and direction of the Chief 
Financial Officer. 

 
3.3 The Chief Financial Officer or his authorised representative shall have authority to - 
 

(a) enter any Council premises within the Council’s ownership or control at 
all reasonable times; 

 
(b) have access to all records and documents relating to financial and 

other transactions of the Council; 
 

 (c) require explanations on any matter under investigation; 
 

(d) require any Council employee to produce cash, stores or any other 
Council property under his control. 

 
3.4 In any case of suggested or potential irregularity in the exercise of the Council’s 

functions, the Head of Service  concerned shall immediately notify the Chief 
Financial Officer who shall determine any necessary action. 

 
3.5 The Chief Financial Officer  shall have direct access to and freedom to report to 

Members, the Chief Executive and any member of the  Senior Management Team as 
required. 

 
4 FINANCIAL PLANNING AND CONTROL 
 
4.1 The format of the Capital and Revenue estimates shall be determined by the Chief 

Financial Officer.  The draft budget shall be submitted to each relevant Committee 
for discussion prior to submission of the overall budget to the Strategy and 
Resources Committee if so delegated. 

 
4.2 The Strategy and Resources Committee shall submit the draft budget, together with 

any amendments recommended by Policy Development Committee to the Council 
with a recommendation of the Council Tax to be levied in accordance with the 
Budget and Policy framework rules. 

 

Page 109

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

34 

 

4.3     (a) Every Member shall be provided with a copy of the proposed Capital 
Programme and Revenue estimates and their implications on the Council Tax 
prior to the Council meeting called to set the Council Tax. 

 
(b) The Council shall set the Council Tax for the coming year. 

 
4.4     (a) No capital liability shall be incurred (except as otherwise provided for in the 

Constitution including the Financial Procedure Rules) unless provision is 
included in the approved Capital Programme or Full Council approval is first 
secured. 

 
(b) No revenue liability shall be incurred (except as otherwise provided for in the 

Constitution  including the Financial Procedure Rules) unless provision is 
included in the approved budget (as may be amended from time to time),  is 
covered by authorised virement or Full Council approval is first secured.   

 
4.5     (a) Revenue virement up to a limit of £5,000 may be exercised by a Head of 

Service or delegated budget holder holding a budget between heads of 
expenditure or between heads of income within their control provided there is 
no net change in the Council’s overall budget and subject to any virements 
from a direct employee budget head being approved by the Chief Finance 
Officer. 

 
(b) Any revenue virement either above £5,000, or between income and 

expenditure, must be approved by the Chief Finance Officer who shall report 
any such approval to the Senior Management Team.   

 
(c) Any virement from earmarked reserves must be approved by the Chief 

Financial Officer who shall report any such approval to Strategy and 
Resources Committee. 

 
(d) Any capital virement up to £25,000 in relation to a previously approved capital 

scheme must be approved by the Chief Finance Officer who shall report any 
such approval to the   Senior Management Team.  Any capital virement above 
£25,000 requires formal approval through Council, committee or sub-
committee (as the case may be). 

 
 (e) All virement adjustments must be reported in writing to the Chief Finance 

Officer or any officer authorised by him to receive such notification as soon as 
reasonably practicable after the decision is made. 

 
4.6  Other than as provided for in the Constitution (including the Finance Procedure 

Rules), no contractual commitment in excess of £10,000 in respect of land or capital 
works shall be entered into: 

(a)  prior to a report being taken to and approved by Full Council; and 
(b)   appropriate budgetary provision exists in relation to the same. 

 

Page 110

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

35 

 

4.7 Any report to a committee involving expenditure shall contain details setting out the 
planned means of financing the proposal. 
 

4.8 The Chief Financial Officer shall provide each Officer holding a budget with 
periodical statements of receipts and payments under each budget head.  The 
Officer holding the budget (or any other Officer authorised by him) shall monitor their 
financial performance against approved estimates. 

 
4. 9 When an Officer holding a budget becomes aware that a budgeted item of 

expenditure may be exceeded and/or income not achieved, the Officer holding the 
budget shall report thereon to the Chief Financial Officer.  The report should set out 
how variation is proposed to be handled using virement powers or identify any need 
for a supplementary estimate as necessary. 
 

4.10 In consultation with the Chair of Strategy and Resources Committee (or in his 
absence the Vice Chairman, the Chief Executive (or if unavailable any Head of 
Service), may incur such expenditure as in his opinion is appropriate to address an 
urgent situation even if there is no identifiable budgetary provision.  Any such 
expenditure together with details of any proposed method of financing shall be 
notified to the Chief Financial Officer as soon as practicable thereafter and a report 
taken to the next available meeting or Full Council. 

 
4.11 The Chief Financial Officer will set in place a timetable and allocate responsibilities 

for the production of the final accounts as soon as possible after the year end. 
 
4.12  Following the closure of the Final Accounts, the Chief Financial Officer shall 

ascertain whether any underspend of actual expenditure against the original budget 
has occurred for report to the Council. 
 

4.13  The annual accounts of the Council to the 31st March shall be compiled by the Chief 
Financial Officer and published within such time scales as are from time to time 
prescribed. Every Member shall be supplied with a set of final accounts. 

  
5 BANKING ARRANGEMENTS 
 
5.1 All arrangements with the Council’s bankers shall be made by the Chief Financial 

Officer who is authorised to operate such bank accounts (including National Giro) as 
he/she considers necessary. 

 
5.2 All cheques (including National Giro) shall be ordered by the Chief Financial Officer  

who shall make arrangements for their safe custody. 
 
5.3 All cheques (including National Giro) shall: 

 
(a) bear the facsimile signature of the Chief Finance Officer or, for the purpose 

only of using existing cheques held in stock, the facsimile signature of the 
immediate past holder of the post of Chief Finance Officer or 

 

Page 111

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

36 

 

(b) be signed by the Chief Finance Officer or the Chief Executive or any other 
authorised bank signatory. 
 

5.4 All cheques of £10,000 or above shall be countersigned by the Chief Financial 
Officer or any other Officer referred to in paragraph 5.3 (b)  above. 

 
5.5 Any alterations to the banking arrangements, including the opening and closing of 

bank accounts, shall be the responsibility of the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
6 EXPENDITURE 

 
(a) Petty Cash 

 
(i) The Chief Financial Officer shall provide:  

such petty cash floats as he/she considers appropriate for Council 
Officers who need them for paying petty cash and other expenses.  The 
accounts are to be kept on the imprest system. 
 

(ii) Payments from the petty cash floats shall be limited to minor items of 
expenditure and other items as approved by the Chief Financial Officer. 
Payments shall be supported by a receipted voucher. 
 

(iii) Officers responsible for petty cash floats shall, on request, give the 
Chief Financial Officer a certificate on the state of the accounts. 
 

(iv) An Officer who ceases to be entitled to hold a petty cash float shall 
account to the Chief Financial Officer for the amount advanced to them. 

 
(b) Orders for Work, Goods and Services 

 
(i) Official orders shall be issued for all work, goods or services to be 

supplied to the Council except for supplies of public utility services; 
periodical payments (e.g. rent and rates); petty cash purchases and 
any other exceptions approved by the Chief Financial Officer. 
 

(ii) Orders made by telephone shall be immediately confirmed by an  
official order which may consist of an email. 
 

(iii) The format of official orders shall be approved by the Chief Financial 
Officer.  Official orders are to be authorised only by those officers 
authorised by the appropriate  Head of Service who is responsible for 
all orders issued from the Service. 
 

(iv) A copy of each order number shall be supplied to the Chief Financial 
Officer with the invoice for the supplies duly authorised for payment. 
 

(v) The Council shall produce and maintain a Procurement Policy (as 
amended from time to time).   

Page 112

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

37 

 

 
(vi) Prior to making any commitment, officers must familiarise themselves 

with the requirement for quotations and tendering set out in the 
Constitution, Contracts Procedure Rules and Financial Procedure 
Rules. 
 

(c) Payments 
 
(i) Payments of money due from the Council shall normally be made by 

cheque (or other instrument) drawn on the Council’s bank or National 
Giro Accounts or by electronic transfer of funds from the Council's bank 
account. 
 

(ii) Invoices and payment vouchers shall be examined, verified and 
certified by the Officer holding a budget who is responsible for the initial 
order or service. A Head of Service may, in accordance with 
procedures in standing orders, further delegate authorisation powers to 
members of his staff to certify on his behalf .  A Head of Service shall 
send a list of these officers so authorised, together with specimen 
signatures to the Chief Financial Officer. 
 

(iii) The certifying officer should ensure where appropriate that – 
 
(i) The works, goods or services invoiced for have been received, 

carried out, examined and approved; 
 

(ii) The prices, arithmetic and allocation are correct; 
 

(iii) The expenditure has been properly incurred and is a proper 
liability of the Council; and 
 

(iv) The amount has not already been passed for payment. 
 

  Items (i) and (ii) should be independently verified insofar as they are relevant by an 
Officer other than the one authorising the voucher for payment. 

 
(iv) Certified accounts shall be passed to the Head of the Treasury 

Services without delay.  The Chief Financial Officer may examine the 
invoice and shall be entitled to make enquiries and receive such 
information as he/she requires. 

 
(v) Any permissible amendments to accounts must be in ink and initialled 

by the certifying officer. 
 

(vi) Officers holding budgets shall notify the Chief Financial Officer of any 
outstanding expenditure for the previous financial year, not later than 
the date specified and notified by the Chief Financial Officer. 

 

Page 113

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

38 

 

(vii) The Chief Financial Officer Officer shall maintain the Council’s tax 
records and is responsible for the completion and return of all 
associated returns by the due date. 

 
(d) Travelling and Subsistence Allowances 

 
(i) All claims for payment of car allowances, subsistence allowances, 

travelling and incidental expenses, shall be submitted, duly certified on 
a form supplied by the Chief Financial Officer.  Claims are to be made 
up to a date each month determined by the Chief Financial Officer and 
submitted to him within 7 days thereof.  

 
(ii) A Head of Service may, in accordance with procedures under standing 

orders, authorise members of staff to certify claims on their behalf and 
shall send a list of those officers so authorised, together with specimen 
signatures, to the Chief Financial Officer. Claims in respect of any 
individual must be authorised independently of that person. 

 
(iii) The certification shall be taken to mean that the certifying officer is 

satisfied that the journeys were authorised, expenses properly and 
necessarily incurred and allowances are properly payable by the 
Council. 

 
(iv) Officers claims submitted more than 3 months in arrears will only be 

paid with express approval of the Chief Financial Officer. 
 

(v) Payments to Members for travelling and other allowances shall be 
claimed on a form supplied by the Chief Financial Officer and shall be 
certified by the Chief Executive or other delegated officer.  All claims for 
a financial year should be made by the following 30th April. 

 
 
 

(e) Salaries and Wages 
 

(i) Payment of all salaries, wages, gratuities, etc. to employees or former 
employees of the Council shall be made by the Chief Financial Officer. 

 
(iii) Each Head of Service shall provide the Chief Financial Officer via the 

Human Resources Manager as soon as possible with details of any 
matter affecting the payment of such emoluments, in particular – 
 
(a) appointments, resignations, dismissals, suspensions, 

secondments and transfers; 
 
(b) absence from duty for sickness or other reasons (apart from 

approved leave, training, etc.); 
 

Page 114

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

39 

 

(c) changes in remuneration (excluding normal increments and 
nationally negotiated pay awards); and 
 

(d) information required for Superannuation, tax and national 
insurance purposes. 
 

(iv) Appointments of all staff shall be made in accordance with the 
Council’s policies (as amended from time to time), establishment, 
grades and rates of pay.  Proposed permanent variations to the 
establishment must be submitted to Strategy and Resources 
Committee for approval, unless delegated to another body or individual. 

 
(v) Time records or other pay documents, including pay records for casual 

staff, shall be certified by or on behalf of the Head of Service on a form 
approved by the Chief Financial Officer.  Each Head of Service shall 
provide the Chief Financial Officer with a list of those officers 
authorised to sign on his behalf, together with specimen signatures. 

 
(vi) Each submitted document must be signed by an appropriate officer, in 

line with the approved signatory list, before it is processed. 
 

(vii) Heads of Service must inform the Chief Financial Officer and the 
Human Resources Manager of any additional benefits proposed for 
staff (cars, phones, clothing etc.) in order to determine any additional 
tax liabilities or remuneration issues. 

 
7 CONTRACTS FOR BUILDING CONSTRUCTIONAL OR ENGINEERING WORK 
 
7.1 The Chief Executive, or such other responsible officer, shall maintain a contracts 

register.  All contract orders shall be held on the e-procurement system which will 
record payments made to contractors or for professional fees for any contract. 

 
7.2 All interim payments to contractors shall be shown on the e-procurement system 

showing the value of work to date, the balance remaining and the amount of 
retention held.   

 
7.3 Every extra or variation to a contract shall be authorised by the designated Project 

Officer, Architect or Engineer as nominated by the Project Officer in writing for the 
contract. 

 
7.4 Any variation shall be reported to the Chief Financial Officer and the Strategy and 

Resources Committee where a substantial change in the design of any works or 
additional expenditure is involved.  The Project Officer shall only need to report 
additional expenditure on a contract where the final cost is likely to exceed the 
contract sum by 15% or £15,000 whichever is the greater.  

 
7.5 The Chief Financial Officer shall, as far as he/she deems appropriate, examine 

contract accounts.  He/she shall be entitled to make such enquiries and receive such 

Page 115

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

40 

 

information and explanation as he/she may require to satisfy himself as to the 
accuracy of the accounts. 

 
7.6 Claims from contractors for matters not clearly within the terms of any existing 

contract shall be referred to the Head of Corporate and Community Services for 
consideration of the Council’s legal liability and, if necessary, to the Chief Financial 
Officer for financial consideration before a settlement is reached. 

 
7.7 Where completion of a contract is delayed, the designated Project Officer shall take 

appropriate action in respect of any claim for liquidated damages. 
 
7.8 Project Officers should consider the need for a bond or parent company guarantee 

for all contracts in excess of £40,000 and if necessary should consult with the Head 
of Resources and/or the Head of Corporate and Community 

 
8 INCOME 
 
8.1 Each Head of Service shall provide the Chief Financial Officer with details of work 

done, goods supplied, services rendered, or any other amounts due, sufficient to 
enable the Chief Financial Officer to arrange for accounts to be raised for the 
recovery of the sums involved. 

 
8.2 Each Head of Service is responsible, in conjunction with the Chief Financial Officer, 

for outstanding arrears relating to their service area.  Aged debts outstanding will be 
reported to the Senior Management team and the Strategy and Resources 
Committee. 

 
8.3 Heads of Service shall notify the Chief Financial Officer promptly of all contracts, 

leases and other agreements entered into which result in money due to the Council. 
The Chief Financial Officer shall have the right to inspect any relevant documents, 
etc. as he/she may require. 

 
8.4 All receipts, tickets, etc. relating to income, shall be ordered and supplied (or under 

directions) by the Chief Financial Officer who shall satisfy himself/herself as to the 
arrangement for their control. 

 
8.5 All Council money received by an Officer shall be paid directly to one of the Council’s 

bank accounts, or to the Council’s cash office within five working days of receipt. 
Receipts paid into the cash office will be paid to the council's bank account.  No 
deduction shall be made from such money without the express authority of the Chief 
Finance Officer.  Each banking officer shall ensure that the paying in slip has a 
reference to the related debt or origin of each cheque banked. 

 
8.6 No cheques shall be cashed out of Council money or Third Party cheques accepted 

unless authorised by the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
8.7 Transfer of Council money from one member of staff to another must be recorded, 

together with the signature of the receiving officer. 

Page 116

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

41 

 

 
9 STORES AND STOCKS 
 
9.1 Heads of Service shall be responsible for the care and custody of all stocks and 

stores in their Service. 
 
9.2 Stocks shall not be held in excess of normal requirements without committee 

approval. 
 
9.3 Heads of Service shall arrange for periodic independent test checks of stocks and 

stores and shall ensure that all stocks are checked at least once in every year. 
 
9.4 Heads of Service shall supply the Chief Financial Officer with sufficient information 

on stores for accounting costing and financial records. 
 
9.5 Surplus materials, stores or equipment shall be disposed of by competitive tender or 

public auction, including internet based auction sites, unless the Chief Financial 
Officer has previously agreed that the likely disposal value makes this unnecessary. 

 
10 INSURANCES/SECURITY/RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
10.1 The Chief Financial Officer shall effect all insurance cover and liaise with the 

Council’s insurers on all matters including claims. 
 
10.2 Heads of Service shall promptly advise the Chief Financial Officer of all new risks, 

properties, vehicles or plant which may require insurance cover and of any 
alterations affecting existing insurance.  It is the responsibility of all Heads of Service 
to complete risk assessments and maintain such systems, procedures and controls 
as are necessary to manage and reduce risk. 

 
10.3 Heads of Service shall promptly notify the Chief Financial Officer of any loss, liability, 

damage or event, which may lead to a claim. 
 

10.4 All appropriate Council employees shall be insured by fidelity guarantee insurance. 
 
10.5 The Chief Financial Officer shall regularly review all insurance subject to consultation 

with Heads of Service if necessary. 
 
10.6 No indemnities shall be given without authority of the Chief Financial Officer and the 

Council’s insurers. 
 
10.7 Heads of Service shall promptly advise the Chief Financial Officer of any property 

whose custody has been temporarily accepted on behalf of the Council. 
 
10.8 All valuables held on behalf of a Third Party e.g. jewellery, watches, documents of 

title, etc. shall be securely held under arrangements agreed by the Heads of Service 
with the Chief Financial Officer. 

 

Page 117

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

42 

 

10.9 Heads of Service are responsible, in consultation with the Chief Financial Officer, for 
the security of all buildings, stocks, stores, furniture, equipment, cash, etc., under 
their control. 

 
10.10 Maximum limits for cash holdings shall be agreed with the Chief Financial Officer and 

shall not be exceeded without his permission. 
 
10.11 Keys to safes, etc. are to be carried by the person responsible.  Any losses must be 

immediately reported to the Chief Financial Officer. 
 
10.12 The Business  is responsible for the security of the information held in the central 

computer network.  Heads of Service are responsible for security of information held 
on computers in their units. 

 
10.13 Any losses as a result of theft or fraudulent activity will be dealt with in accordance 

with the Council’s Anti Fraud and Corruption Strategy (as amended from time to 
time). 

 
11 INVENTORIES 
 
11.1 Heads of Service shall, in consultation with the Chief Financial Officer as to the form 

and content, maintain an inventory of all furniture, fittings, equipment, vehicles, plant 
and machinery held in their departments. 

 
11.2 Heads of Service shall maintain an annual check on all items on the inventory and 

shall take action on any surplus or deficiency in consultation with the Chief Financial 
Officer. 

 
11.3 The Council’s property shall not be removed outside of the ordinary course of the 

Council’s business without the authority of the responsible Head of Service. 
 
11.4 The ICT Manager shall maintain an inventory of all computer equipment.  Heads of 

Service must inform the ICT Manager of any changes to this inventory. 
 

12 ESTATES 
 
12.1 The Head of Corporate and Community Services  shall have custody of all title deeds 

and shall be responsible for their security. 
 

12.2 The Head of Corporate and Community shall maintain a terrier of all land and 
buildings owned by the Council in a form approved by the Chief Financial Officer.   

 
The terrier shall contain the following details: 
 

 holding committee; purpose for which held; location; extent and plan reference; 
purchase details; particulars of interest held; rents payable and tenancies 
granted. 

 

Page 118

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

43 

 

13 TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
 
13.1 This function will be discharged in accordance with the CIPFA Code on Treasury 

Management.  All investments of money under its control shall be made in the name 
of the Council or such nominee as it approves. 

 
13.2 All securities owned by or in the name of the Council or its nominees shall be held in 

custody by the Council’s bankers. 
 
13.3 All borrowing shall be effected in the Council’s name. 
 
13.4 The Chief Financial Officer shall be the Council’s registrar of stocks, bonds and 

mortgages, and shall maintain a record of all Council borrowing. 
 
13.5 Any officer acting as trustee by virtue of his official position shall, unless otherwise 

provided by the deed, deposit all securities, etc., relating to the trust with the Chief 
Financial Officer. 

 
13.6 Borrowing limits will be reviewed annually and approved by Full Council. Officers with 

delegated powers may raise loans within approved borrowing limits (as amended 
from time to time), provided the same is in accordance with the terms of the code of 
practice for local authority borrowing (as amended from time to time). 

  
13.7 Investments of surplus revenue funds or capital receipts may be invested in 

accordance with the terms of the Council's Treasury Management Policy (as 
amended from time to time), by Officers with delegated power for investing monies. 

 
13.8 Full Council is required to receive and approve as a minimum three treasury 

Management reports each year, which shall incorporate policies, estimates and 
actual performance. 

 
14 WRITE OFFS 
 
14.1 Irrecoverable debts not exceeding £1,500 in respect of Council Tax, NNDR, and 

overpayments may be written off on the authorisation of the Chief Financial Officer. 
 

14.2 Other irrecoverable debts not exceeding £1,500 may be written off on the 
authorisation of the Chief Financial Officer. 

 
14.3 Irrecoverable debts in excess of £1,500 shall be reported to the Chief Financial 

Officer who may write off such debts following consultation with the Leader. 
 
14.4 The Chief Financial Officer shall report at least annually on the stewardship of debts 

due to the Council.

Page 119

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

44 

 

SCHEDULE 1 
 

NORTH DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

RETENTION OF ACCOUNTING RECORDS 

 

Type 
Description Disposal 

BANK ACCOUNT RECORDS 
  

Cheques and 
associated records 

cheque book/butts for all accounts 2 years 

 cancelled cheques 2 years 

 dishonoured cheques 2 years 

 fresh cheques 6 years 

 paid/presented cheques 6 years 

 stoppage of cheque payment 
notices 

2 years 

 record of cheques opened books 2 years 

 cheque registers 2 years 

 record of cheques drawn for 
payments 

6 years 

Bank Deposits bank deposit books/slips/butts 2 years 

 bank deposit summary sheets; 
summaries of daily banking; cheque 
schedules 

2 years 

 register of cheques logged for 
collection 

2 years 

Bank reconciliations reconciliation files/sheets 2 years 

 daily list of paid cheques 2 years 

 unpaid cheque records 2 years 

Page 120

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

45 

 

Bank statements bank statements, periodic 
reconciliations 

2 years 

 bank certificates of balance 2 years 

Electronic banking 
and electronic funds 
transfer 

cash transactions; payment 
instructions; deposits; withdrawals 

Disposal 
action in line 
with paper 
records 

 Audit trails Disposal 
action in line 
with paper 
records 

 
EXPENDITURE RECORDS 

  

Cash books and 
sheets 

expenditure sheets 6 years 

 cash books/sheets 6 years 

Petty cash records petty cash records/books/sheets 2 years 

 petty cash receipts 2 years 

 postal cash book/sheets; 
postage/courier account/cash 
records; register of postage 
expenditure; postage paid record; 
postage books/sheets 

2 years 

 summary cash books 2 years 

Creditors creditors’ history records; 
lists/reports 

6 years 

Statements statements of accounts outstanding; 
outstanding orders 

2 years 

 statements of accounts – 
rendered/payable 

2 years 

Subsidiary records copies of extracts and expenditure 
dissections 

1 year 

 credit note books 2 years 

 debit note books 2 years 

Page 121

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

46 

 

Vouchers Vouchers – claims for payment, 
purchase orders, requisition for 
goods and services, account 
payable invoices…etc 

6 years 

LEDGER RECORDS 
  

General and 
subsidiary ledgers 

general and subsidiary ledgers 
produced for the purposes of 
preparing certified financial 
statements or published information 

6 years 

 creditors’ ledgers 6 years 

Journals journals – prime records for the 
raising of charges 

6 years 

 journals – routine adjustments 2 years 

Trail balances and 
reconciliations 

year-end balances, reconciliations 
and variations to support ledger 
balances and published accounts 

6 years 

RECEIPTS AND REVENUE RECORDS 
  

Books/butts receipt books/butts; office copy of 
receipts – cashiers’, cash register, 
fines and costs, sale of publications, 
general receipt books/butts/records  

6 years 

 postal remittance books/records 6 years 

Cash registers copies of forms 6 years 

 reconciliation sheets 6 years 

 audit rolls 2 years 

 summaries/analysis records 2 years 

 reading books/sheets 2 years 

Revenue records revenue cash books/sheets/records; 
receipt cash books/sheets 

6 years 

Debtors records and 
invoices 

copies of invoices/debit notes 
rendered on debtors (invoices 
paid./unpaid, registers of invoices, 
debtors ledgers, etc) 

6 years 

Page 122

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

47 

 

 source documents/records used for 
raising of invoices/debit notes 

6 years 

Debts and refunds copies of invoices and copies of 
source documents 

2 years 

 records relating to unrecoverable 
revenue, debts and overpayments 
(register of debts written off, register 
of refunds…etc) 

6 years 

SALARIES AND RELATED RECORDS 
  

Salary records employees pay histories 6 years 

 salary records 6 years 

OTHER FINANCIAL RECORDS 
  

Asset registers assets/equipment registers/records 6 years after 
the asset of 
disposed of 

Depreciation registers records relating to the calculation of 
annual depreciation 

 6 years 
after the 
asset of 
disposed of 

Financial statements statements/summaries prepared for 
inclusion in annual reports 

6 years 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 123

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

48 

 

OFFICER EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE RULES 

This part deals with the appointment and dismissal of staff.  

PRESCRIBED STANDING ORDERS 

These Rules incorporate the standing orders prescribed under the Local Authorities 
(Standing Orders)(England) Regulations 2001 as amended  

DEFINITIONS 

“Chief Officer” means the Statutory Chief Officers, Non Statutory Chief Officers and the 
Deputies of those persons as defined within s2 of the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989 

“Chief Financial Officer” shall mean any officer appointed under s151 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 

“Head of Paid Service” shall mean the officer appointed under section 4(1) of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989 

“Independent Persons” means a person appointed by the Council under s28(7) of the 
Localism Act 2011  
 
“Monitoring Officer” means any officer appointed under s5 of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989 

“Proper Officer” means the Human Resources Manager 

“Relevant Independent Person” means an Independent Person appointed by the 
Council or where there are fewer than two such persons, such Independent Persons as 
have been appointed by another authority. 

 

1. RECRUITMENT AND APPOINTMENT 

1.1 Declarations 

1.1.1 The Council has drawn up procedures which include a requirement that 
any candidate for an appointment as an Officer must state in writing 
whether they have any relationship with any councillor or officer of the 
Council; 

1.1.2 No candidate so related to a Councillor or an Officer will be appointed 
without the authority of the Head of Paid Service or where the 
relationship is between the candidate and the Head of Paid Service, the 
authority of the Proper Officer. 

Page 124

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

49 

 

1.2 Seeking support for appointment 

1.2.1 The Council will disqualify any applicant who directly or indirectly seeks 
the support of any Councillor for any appointment with the Council. The 
content of this paragraph will be included in any recruitment information. 

1.2.2 No Councillor or employee of the Council will seek support for any person 
for any appointment with the Council. 

2. RECRUITMENT OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE/HEAD OF PAID SERVICE AND CHIEF 
OFFICERS 

Where the Council proposes to appoint a Chief Executive/Head of Paid Service or a 
Chief Officer, including on a joint basis with another public body, and it is not proposed 
that the appointment be made exclusively from among their existing Officers, the 
Council will: 

2.1 draw up a statement including the following: 

2.1.1 the duties of the Officer concerned; and 

2.1.2 any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be 
appointed; 

2.2 make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is likely to 
bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply for it; and 

2.3 make arrangements for a copy of the procedures mentioned in paragraph 1 to 
be sent to any person on request. 

3. PROCEDURE FOR RECRUITMENT  OF HEAD OF PAID SERVICE AND CHIEF 
OFFICERS 

3.1   The appointment of the Head of Paid Service and Chief Officers shall be the 
responsibility of the Full Council following a recommendation on the 
appointment from the Appointments Committee.   

3.2   The Appointments Committee or a Sub Committee of it shall carry out the 
interview process and will make a recommendation on the appointment to the 
Full Council. 

3.3 In respect of the appointment of a Chief Officer, the interview process shall be 
chaired by the Head of Paid Service or a person nominated by him. 

4. PROCEDURE FOR THE DISMISSAL OF HEAD OF PAID SERVICE, MONITORING 
OFFICER , CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER OR OTHER CHIEF OFFICER 

4.1   The dismissal for disciplinary reasons of the Head of Paid Service, Monitoring 
Officer, Chief Financial Officer or other Chief Officer shall be the responsibility 
of a panel consisting of the Appointments Committee or a Sub Committee of 

Page 125

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

50 

 

it, two or more Relevant Independent Persons and such other persons as may 
be considered appropriate by Full Council (“the Panel”)  

4.2   The Panel must be appointed at least 20 working days before the meeting of 
Full Council at which a decision is to be made as to whether to dismiss the 
officer. 

4.3   The Council shall appoint to the Panel the Relevant Independent Persons in 
accordance with the following priority order:- 

(a)  A relevant Independent Person who has been appointed by the authority 
and who is a local government elector, 

(b)  Such other Relevant Independent Person appointed by the Council, 

(c)  A Relevant Independent Person appointed by another authority.  

 
5. RESPONSIBILITY FOR RECRUITMENT OR DISMISSAL OF OTHER OFFICERS 

6.1  The function of the appointment and dismissal of and taking disciplinary action 
against any other officer will be discharged by the Head of Paid Service 
subject to any delegations contained within Part 3 of this Constitution, and 
shall not be the responsibility of Councillors. 

6.2   Councillors will not be involved in disciplinary action against any Officer below 
Chief Officer except where such involvement is necessary for any 
investigation or inquiry or where the Council’s procedures as adopted from 
time to time allow a right of appeal to Councillors. 

6. SUSPENSION 

7.1   The Head of Paid Service, a Chief Officer and the Monitoring Officer may be 
suspended whilst an investigation takes place into alleged misconduct. The 
suspension will be on full pay and, in respect of the Head of Paid Service, the 
Chief Finance Officer and the Monitoring Officer, must terminate no later than 
2 months after the suspension takes effect. 

7. APPEALS 

None of the above shall prevent a Councillor serving as a member of an appeals 
committee or body established to consider an appeal by: 

7.1 any person against any decision relating to the appointment of that person as 
a member of staff of the authority; or 

7.2 a member of staff of the authority against any decision relating to the 
dismissal of, or taking disciplinary action against, that member of staff unless 
the dismissal relates to a capability issue, misconduct, some other substantial 
reason, some other statutory enactment or planned retirement where the 

Page 126

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

51 

 

member of staff has less than six months notice – in these instances the 
appeal shall be conducted by a senior officer. 

 

 

 

Page 127

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

52 

 

 CONTRACT PROCEDURES RULES 
 

PART 1 

General 

1. Definitions and interpretation 

In these Contract Procedure Rules the following words and expressions shall have the 
following meanings: 

 
2006 Regulations the Public Contracts Regulations 2006 (as amended by the 

Public Contracts (Amendment) Regulations 2009 and as 
may be further amended from time to time) 

 
2015 Regulations the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (as amended) 

 
Central Purchasing Body an authority that:  

(a) acquires goods or services intended for one or more 
contracting authorities; 

(b) awards public contracts intended for one or more 
contracting authorities; or 

(c) concludes Framework Agreements for works, goods 
or services intended for one or more contracting 
authorities 
 

Contracts Finder a web-based portal provided, pursuant to the 2015 
Regulations, by or on behalf of the Cabinet Office 

 
Controlled Organisation an organisation which:  

(a) carries out more than 80% of its activities with the 
Council (or the Council jointly with other public 
authorities);  

(b) the Council (or the Council jointly with other public 
authorities) exercises decisive influence over in 
respect of both its strategic objectives and significant 
decisions; and  

(c) has no private sector ownership or any intention that 
there should ever be 

 
Dynamic Purchasing System an electronic market place through which the Council and 

other contracting authorities can source requirements by 
inviting tenders from economic operators admitted to the 
system 

 
Financial Procedure Rules the Financial Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of the 

Constitution 
 

Page 128

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

53 

 

Framework Agreement an agreement, procured by a Central Purchasing Body, 
which sets up a framework which allows the Council to call 
off a contract with a supplier/contractor to provide goods, 
services or works without having to run its own procurement, 
provided such contract is called off in accordance with the 
terms of the agreement 
 

Innovation Partnerships long term partnerships which allow for both the development 
and subsequent purchase of new and innovative products, 
services or works 

 
ITT invitation to tender in the form available from Legal Services 

 
Leader the Leader of the Council 
 
Officer any officer of the Council designated by their Head of 

Service to deal with the contract in question 
 
OJEU Official Journal of the European Union 
 
PQQ  pre-qualification questionnaire in the form available from the 

Legal Services Unit 
 
Pre-Procurement Stage the stage of the commissioning process where the subject of 

a procurement is conceived ending on the earliest of:  
(a) the publishing of an advertisement or notice seeking 

expressions of interest for the contract, in any form 
whatsoever;  

(b) an expression of interest or offer being sought or 
responded to; or 

(c) a contract being entered into or a framework 
agreement being concluded 

 
Procurement Documentation shall include RFQ, PQQ, ITT (as defined in these 

Contract Procedure Rules) and associated documentation as 
relevant to the procurement being conducted 

 
Procurement Portal an online procurement portal compliant with paragraph 7.1 of 

these Contract Procedure Rules 
 
Regulations the 2006 Regulations and the 2015 Regulations 
 
RFQ a request for quotation in the form provided on the 

Procurement Portal or available from the Legal Services Unit 
 
RFW a request for waiver from compliance with these Contract 

Procedure Rules in the form available from the Legal 
Services Unit 

Page 129

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

54 

 

Specification a description of exactly what goods, services, works or 
outcomes are to be provided under a contract 

 
Standstill Period as provided by the Regulations, the mandatory period of at 

least 10 calendar days between the notification of the 
intended award of a contract and the actual award of a 
contract 

 
Suitability Questions questions to assess whether a potential supplier can meet 

the Minimum Standard required to be invited to tender 
 
Verifying Officer the Head of Corporate and Community Services or such 

other officer appointed by them to open tenders on the 
Procurement Portal 

 
2. Compliance with the Contract Procedure Rules 

2.1 These Contract Procedure Rules refer to the selection, award and entry into any 
contract by the Council and by any person or representative acting on behalf of the 
Council or Council partnership. 

2.2 Every contract to be entered into on behalf of the Council shall comply with: 

(a) domestic legislation, common law and EU procurement legislation; 

(b) the Financial Procedure Rules; and 

(c) any other policies and procedures of the Council, 

insofar as they are directly relevant to that contract. 
 
2.3 It shall be a condition of any contract between the Council and any person who is 

required to supervise a contract on behalf of the Council (where that person is not an 
Officer), that in relation to such a contract he/she shall comply with the requirements 
of these Contract Procedure Rules as if he/she were an Officer.  Failure to comply 
with the Contract Procedure Rules may result in the termination of any contract 
between the Council and any person who is required to supervise a contract on 
behalf of the Council. 

 

2.4 In the event of failure by Officers to comply with the Contract Procedure Rules, the 
Council may invoke its disciplinary policy and procedure depending on all the 
circumstances of any such failures. 

 
3. Delegated Authority 

3.1 Any procurement carried out on behalf of the Council may be undertaken only by 
those Officers with the appropriate delegated authority to carry out such tasks as set 
out in the Council’s scheme of delegation and such Officers authorised by Council 

Page 130

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

55 

 

and which have been notified and recorded in the register held by Members 
Services. 

4. Exemptions and exceptions from the Contract Procedure Rules 

4.1 Subject to the requirements of the Regulations and EU procurement legislation, the 
following contracts are exempt from the requirements of the Contract Procedure 
Rules: 

(a) contracts of employment; 

(b) contracts relating solely to the disposal or acquisition of an interest in land; 

(c) transactions conducted by the Head of Resources in respect of dealing in the 
money market or obtaining finance for the Council; and 

(d) the appointment of counsel or specialist legal representative by the Head of 
Corporate and Community Services to advise the Council generally. 

4.2 Subject to the requirements of the Regulations, the following contracts are exempt 
from the requirements of Part 3 of the Contract Procedure Rules: 

(a) contracts of a value less than £5,000; 

(b) contracts procured through a Central Purchasing Body in accordance with 
paragraph 20 below; 

(c) contracts with another public authority where such contracts include no private 
sector participation whatsoever and, in the opinion of the Head of Corporate 
and Community Services: 

(i) the contract establishes or implements a co-operation between the 
Council and other participating public authorities with the aim of 
ensuring that public services they have to perform are provided with a 
view to achieving objectives they have in common;  

(ii) the implementation of co-operation as referred to in 4.2(c)(i) is 
governed solely by considerations relating to the public interest; and 

(iii) the participating public authorities (including the Council) perform, on 
the open market, less than 20% of the activities concerned by the co-
operation. 

(d) contracts with Controlled Organisations. 

4.3 An exception from the provisions in these Contract Procedure Rules relating to the 
selection, award and entry into contracts may be made by: 

(a) resolution of the Council; 

Page 131

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

56 

 

(b) resolution of the Strategy and Resources Committee; 

(c) an urgent decision of Chief Executive in accordance with Article 11.8 of Part 2 
of the Constitution; or 

(d) by authorisation of the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer or the 
Head of Resources in accordance with paragraph 12.2 below  

providing that they are satisfied that the exemption is justified on special 
circumstances and details of those special circumstances are recorded at the time 
the exception is given. 
 

4.4 Whenever an exception is made under 4.3(a), 4.3(b) or 4.3(c) above, the Head of 
Corporate and Community Services should make arrangements for an item to be 
placed on the agenda of the next meeting following of the Policy Development 
Committee for that Committee to note the details of the exception and the reasons 
for it. 

 
5. Equality  
 
5.1 In the procuring of works, services and supplies, organisations that are awarded 

tenders are acting on behalf of the Council and will be expected to comply with 
current equality legislation in the same manner as the Council, in both employment 
and service delivery. 

 
5.2 In accordance with the requirements of the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012; 

where the Council is conducting a procurement of services, and the value of such 
services is estimated to be in excess of the relevant threshold pursuant to the 
Regulations, full consideration must be given, and, where appropriate, consultation 
undertaken and conclusions recorded, at the Pre-Procurement Stage in respect of: 
 
(a) how what is proposed to be procured might improve the economic, social and 

environmental well-being of the Council’s area; and 
 

(b) how the Council may act with a view to securing that improvement in 
conducting the process of procurement. 

 
6. Sustainability  

6.1 The Sustainable Procurement Strategy must be adhered to in the procuring of all 
works, services and supplies.  

7.       Procurement Portal 

7.1 The Council shall at all times maintain an effective Procurement Portal which must: 
 
(a) be an appropriate and secure system for transmitting Procurement 

Documentation and receiving responses to such Procurement Documentation; 
 

Page 132

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

57 

 

(b) be capable of recording evidence and an audit trail of all activity in respect of a 
procurement; and 
 

(c) be capable of preventing:  
 

(i) the opening of tenders until the deadline for the receipt of tenders has 
passed; and 

(ii) the editing of, or otherwise tampering with, tenders at any point. 
 

PART 2  
 

Before entering into a contract/procurement 

8. Preparation 

8.1 In the case of every contract Officers must ensure that they have sufficiently planned 
the procurement of a contract by:  

 (a) estimating its value in accordance with paragraph 9 below; and  

 (b) taking preparatory action as required in the Pre-Procurement Stage as 
appropriate to the complexity and value of the contract. 

9. Estimating contract value 

9.1 The calculation of the estimated value of a procurement shall be based on the total 
amount payable, net of VAT, as estimated by the Officer, including any form of option 
and any renewals of the contract(s) as explicitly set out in the Procurement 
Documents. 

9.2 Where there is any provision for prizes or payments to potential suppliers or 
tenderers this must be taken into account when calculating the estimated value of the 
procurement. 

9.3 As the Council is comprised of separate operational departments, account must be 
taken of the total estimated value for all of those departments.   

9.4 Where a contract for services does not indicate a total price, the basis of calculating 
the estimated contract value shall be:(a) in the case of fixed term contracts where 
that term is less than or equal to 48 months, the total value for their full term; or 

(b) in the case of contracts without a fixed term or with a term greater than 48 
months, the monthly value multiplied by 48. 

9.5 Where a contract for supplies relates to the leasing, hire, rental or hire purchase of 
products, the basis for calculating the estimated contract value shall be: 

(a) in the case of fixed term contracts, where that term is less than or equal to 12 
months, the total estimated value for the term of the contract or, where the 

Page 133

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

58 

 

term of the contract is greater than 12 months, the total value including the 
estimated residual value; or 

(b) in the case of contracts without a fixed term, or a term which cannot be 
defined, the monthly value multiplied by 48. 

9.6 Where a supply or service contract is, by nature, regularly procured or are intended 
to be renewed within a given period, the calculation of the estimated contract value 
shall be based on either: 

(a) the total actual value of the successive contracts of the same type awarded 
during the preceding 12 months or financial year adjusted, where possible, to 
take account of the changes in quantity or value which would occur in the 
course of the 12 months following the initial contract; or 

(b) the total estimated value of the successive contracts awarded during the 12 
months following the first delivery, or during the financial year where that is 
longer than 12 months. 

9.7 In the case of the following service contracts, the basis for calculating the estimated 
contract value shall, where relevant, be as follows: 

(a) in the case of insurance services, the premium payable and other forms of 
remuneration; 

(b) in the case of banking and other financial service, the fees, commissions 
payable, interest and other forms of remuneration; and 

(c) in the case of design contracts, the fees, commissions payable and other 
forms of remuneration. 

9.8 In the case of a contract for works, the calculation of the estimated value shall take 
account of both the cost of the works and the total estimated value of the supplies 
and services that are made available to the contractor by the contracting authority 
provided that they are necessary for executing the works. 

9.9 The estimated value of a contract shall be calculated as at the moment at which the 
call for competition is sent or, in cases where a call for competition is not foreseen, at 
the moment at which the Council commences the relevant procurement procedure. 

9.10 The method of estimating the value of a public services or works concession contract 
(which shall be where the consideration for the provision of the services or works 
consists either solely in the right to exploit the service/work or in this right together 
with payment) shall be: 

(a) for a public services concession contract: the total turnover of the 
concessionaire in consideration of the services being the object of the 
concession, as well as for the supplies incidental to such services, generated 
over the duration of the contract; or 

Page 134

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

59 

 

(b) for a public works concession contract: the value of the consideration which 
the contracting authority would expect to give for the carrying out of the work 
or works if it did not propose to grant a concession. 

9.11 Where a contract is proposed to be awarded in the form of separate lots, account 
shall be taken of the total estimated value of all such lots except that the Council may 
separately award individual lots where the estimated value, net of VAT, of the lot(s) 
concerned: 

(a) is less than the threshold provided for this purpose in the Regulations; and 

(b) the aggregate value of the lots awarded on this basis does not exceed 20% of 
the aggregate value of all of the lots into which the proposed contract has 
been divided. 

9.12 In the case of Framework Agreements and Dynamic Purchasing Systems, the value 
to be taken into consideration shall be the maximum estimated value, net of VAT, of 
all the contracts envisaged for the total term of the Framework Agreement or the 
Dynamic Purchasing System. 

9.13 In the case of Innovation Partnerships, the value to be taken into consideration shall 
be the maximum estimated value, net of VAT, of the research and development 
activities to take place during all stages of the envisaged partnership as well as of 
the supplies, services or works to be developed and procured at the end of the 
envisaged partnership. 

9.14 For consistency, contract values should be calculated in accordance with the 
Regulations even when the Regulations are not applicable.  This includes the 
requirement to aggregate the value of a series of orders or contracts placed with the 
same supplier. 

9.15 Contracts for works, services and supplies, or any combination of them, are not to be 
split or subdivided with the effect of preventing them from falling within the scope of 
either these Contract Procedure Rules or the Regulations. 

10. Pre-Procurement Stage 

10.1 The Pre-Procurement Stage shall include:  

(a) ensuring that an appropriate Specification (relevant to the value of the 
contract) is prepared or otherwise put in place; 

(b) the identification of relevant contract terms; 

(c) where a contract is not exempt from the requirements of Part 3 of these 
Contract Procedure Rules pursuant to paragraph 4.2 above: 

(i) the preparation of all relevant Procurement Documentation (including, 
where applicable, an ITT prepared in accordance with paragraph 13.5 
below); and 

Page 135

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

60 

 

(ii) the engagement of all relevant officers (as appropriate to the value 
and/or complexity of the contract or procurement) to advise and assist; 
and 

(d) any other preparation which the relevant Head of Service and/or the Head of 
Corporate and Community Services deems appropriate. 

10.2 The Pre-Procurement Stage may, where the relevant Head of Service deems it fit, 
include conducting preliminary market consultations with a view to preparing the 
procurement and informing economic operators of the Council’s procurement plans 
and requirements. 

10.3 Such consultations referred to in 10.2 may include seeking or accepting advice from 
independent experts, authorities or from market participants.  Such advice can then 
be used in subsequent planning and conduct of contract and the procurement 
procedure provided that a suitable audit trail is maintained on the relevant Officer’s 
file and the advice does not, in the opinion of the Head of Corporate and Community 
Services, have the effect of distorting competition and does not breach requirements 
for non-discrimination and transparency. 

10.4 Where an economic operator has advised the Council, or has been otherwise 
involved, in the Pre-Procurement Stage for a specific procurement and then wishes 
to participate in that procurement process that economic operator cannot 
automatically be banned from participating however appropriate measures must be 
taken to ensure, to the satisfaction of the Head of Corporate and Community 
Services, that competition will not be distorted by the participation of that economic 
operator.  Such measures shall include: 

(a) providing all potential suppliers with relevant information exchanged or arising 
out of the economic operator’s prior involvement; and 

(b) where the procurement process involves tendering, the provision of adequate 
time limits for the return of tenders. 

An economic operator may only be excluded on the basis of their prior involvement 
where, in the opinion of the Head of Corporate and Community Services, there are 
no other means to ensure compliance with the duty to ensure equal treatment. 

Page 136

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

61 

 

PART 3 

Procurement 

11. Procurement generally 

11.1 All Procurement Documentation shall only be transmitted to interested parties via the 
Procurement Portal except in extenuating circumstances and with the authority of the 
relevant Head of Service. 

11.2 Suppliers should also be required to respond to, or ask questions/seek clarification 
about, Procurement Documentation via the Procurement Portal except where a 
procurement is being conducted separately of the Procurement Portal in accordance 
with11.1.   

11.3 Oral communication between Officers and potential suppliers is permitted provided it 
does not affect essential elements of the procurement and provided that a record is 
kept of decisions made. 

12. Obtaining Quotations 

12.1 Subject to 12.2 below (or unless Council or the Strategy and Resources Committee 
resolve, or there is an urgent decision of the Chief Executive, that a tender process 
contained in paragraph 13 shall be used in relation to the proposed contract) where 
the Council intends to enter into a contract with an estimated value between £5,000 
and £39,999 (or such other sum as the Council may from time to time determine):  

(a) quotations from at least three alternative suppliers shall be obtained using an 
RFQ in accordance with paragraph 11 above; and 

(b) only the lowest quotation received in respect to a RFQ shall be accepted 

12.2 Where an Officer considers that they are unable to comply with paragraph 12.1s: 

(a) it is not appropriate in the circumstances for three quotes to be obtained; or 

(b) the lowest quotation received is not acceptable 

the Officer may only set aside the requirements of paragraph 12.1 with the approval 
of the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer or the Head of Resources, such 
approval to be sought and recorded on a RFW.  Once approved, a copy of the RFW 
shall be held on the relevant file of the Officer undertaking the procurement for at 
least the duration of the contract. 

 
13. Lower value tendering under the Contract Procedure Rules 

13.1 Where at the time of the decision to purchase goods, services or works on behalf of 
the Council it is reasonably believed that the value of the goods, services or works to 
which the proposed contract or Framework Agreement relates will be between 

Page 137

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

62 

 

£40,000 and the relevant thresholds set out in the Regulations, then tenders shall be 
invited in accordance with the procedure set out below. 

13.2 A notice advertising the tendering opportunity and containing, as a minimum, the 
information set out in paragraph 13.3 shall be given in accordance with paragraph 14 
below. 

13.3 The notice shall: 

(a) express the nature and purpose of the contract; 

(b) invite tenders for its execution;  

(c) state the last date and time when tenders will be received, being a period not 
less than 10 working days from the date of the advert or such longer period as 
may be required by law; and 

(d) identify the form of the contract. 

13.4 An ITT (prepared in compliance with13.5) including a Specification and contract 
terms (or at least making specific reference to the applicable contract terms), all with 
content as agreed with the Head of Corporate and Community Services, shall be 
published on the Procurement Portal with the notice set out in 13.2. 

13.5 An ITT must include full details of the Council’s requirements for the contract which it 
is procuring and shall set out: 

(a) where deemed appropriate to a procurement by the relevant Head of Service, 
Suitability Questions that are (in the opinion of the Head of Corporate and 
Community Services): 

(i) relevant to the subject matter of the procurement; 

(ii) proportionate; 

(iii) limited to assessing whether minimum standards of suitability, 
capability, legal status and/or financial standing are met; and 

(iv) compliant with the Regulations, including any ministerial guidance 
issued by pursuant to the 2015 Regulations; and 

(b) the evaluation criteria pursuant to which the Council will award the contract 
although it may, if the Officer deems it fit, allow for the submission of variant 
bids to encourage supplier innovation. 

14. Notices 

14.1 Where an Officer wishes to place an advert for a contract or Framework Agreement 
of a value in excess of £25,000 in the public domain or to otherwise advertise to 
potential suppliers generally, and/or is required to do so pursuant to paragraph14.2, 

Page 138

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

63 

 

the Officer must (having regard to any guidance issued by the Minister for the 
Cabinet Office): 

(a) ensure that the opportunity is published on Contracts Finder within 24 hours of 
the time when it first advertises the contract award opportunity in any other 
way including publishing at least the following: 

(i) the time by which any interested supplier must respond if it wishes to 
be considered; 

(ii) how and to whom such a supplier is to respond; and 

(iii) any other requirements for participating in the procurement; 

(b) allow sufficient time for interested suppliers to become aware of the 
opportunity; and 

(c) ensure all relevant documents are made available free of charge by a 
hyperlink to the Procurement Portal. 

14.2 A contract compliant with paragraph 13.1 above shall be advertised by a suitably 
accessible advertisement published to an extent sufficient to enable the market to be 
opened up to competition.  This shall include a notice placed: 

 (a) on the Procurement Portal; 

 (b) where deemed appropriate by the relevant Head of Service, taking into 
account and recording in the relevant file the likely interest in the contract 
(including the likelihood of any cross border interest in the contract by other 
EU Member States): 

  (i) in at least one local newspaper or other publication; 

 (ii) in a newspaper or journal (paper or web-based) circulating among such 
persons or bodies that undertake such contracts; 

 (iii) in the OJEU; and  

(c) in such publications as the law may from time to time require. 

14.3 Without limiting the other requirements to publish details of an awarded contract as 
provided by the Regulations or as set out in paragraph 25 below, where an Officer 
has awarded a contract with a value in excess of £25,000 they must, regardless of 
how the contract was initially advertised, within a reasonable time following contract 
award, ensure that at least the following information is published on Contracts 
Finder: 

 (a) winning contractor's name;  

 (b) date of contract conclusion;  

Page 139

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

64 

 

 (c) value of the contract; and 

 (d) if the contractor is a small to medium sized enterprise or a voluntary, 
community or social enterprise. 

15. Tendering under the Regulations 

15.1 Where, at the time of the decision to purchase goods, services or works on behalf of 
the Council, it is reasonably believed that the value of the goods, services or works to 
which the proposed contract or Framework Agreement relates will be around or in 
excess of the relevant threshold set out in the Regulations, then the Procurement 
Documentation must be prepared in accordance with the Regulations and in full 
consultation with the Head of Corporate and Community Services. 

15.2 A procurement conducted pursuant to the Regulations must be undertaken using one 
of the following procedures to be decided by the relevant Head of Service in 
consultation with the Head of Corporate and Community Services: 

 (a) open procedure; 

 (b) restricted procedure; 

 (c) competitive procedure with negotiation;  

 (d) competitive dialogue procedure; or 

 (e) innovation partnerships procedure. 

15.3 The procedures provided at paragraphs 15.2(c), 15.2(d) or 15.2(e) may only be used 
with the authority of the Head of Paid Service and where: 

 (a) needs cannot be met without adaptation of readily available solutions; 

 (b) the contract includes design or innovative solutions; 

 (c) the requirement is complex in nature, in its legal and financial make-up or 
because of its risks; 

 (d) technical specifications cannot be established with sufficient precision; or 

 (e) unacceptable or irregular tenders have been received in response to a 
procurement conducted in accordance with the procedures provided at 
paragraphs 15.2(a) or15.2(b). 

15.4 For the avoidance of doubt the same notice provisions as that set out at paragraph 
14.2 shall apply when tendering under the Regulations save that all such contracts 
must be advertised by an appropriate notice in the OJEU and the content of such 
notice shall be as stipulated by the Regulations and agreed following full consultation 
with the Head of Corporate and Community Services. 

Page 140

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

65 

 

15.5 In addition to the procedures set out in paragraph 15.2 the Council may, in 
exceptional circumstances and only with the authority of the Head of Paid Service in 
consultation with the Head of Corporate and Community Services, award a contract 
by negotiation without prior publication of the contract opportunity in the OJEU where 
(subject to any additional justifications provided by the Regulations): 

(a) no tenders/suitable tenders or requests to participate have been received in 
response to a procedure provided in paragraph 15.2; 

(b) only one supplier could apply for artistic/technical/exclusive rights reasons (in 
the last two cases provided no reasonable alternative exists and that the 
absence of competition is not the result of an artificial narrowing of the 
requirement); 

(c) extreme urgency from events unforeseeable by the Council (which means that 
the time limits for the procedures set out in paragraph 15.2 cannot be 
complied with) and the extreme urgency of the need is not attributable to the 
Council; or 

(d) products involved are manufactured purely for the purpose of research, 
experimentation, study or development. 

16. Receipt of tenders 

16.1 In accordance with the notice requirements set out in paragraphs 14 and 15.4, a 
procurement must be placed on the Procurement Portal and therefore, in accordance 
with paragraph11, except where the relevant Head of Service determines the 
position should be otherwise (subject to the provisions of the Regulations), tenders 
must also be received through the Procurement Portal and should not be paper 
based.   

16.2 Any tender received after the time and date specified in the ITT shall be rejected and 
shall not be considered under any circumstances. 

16.3 Where the relevant Head of Service determines that a tendering process should be 
paper based the following tender receipt procedure shall be followed: 

(a) Every ITT shall contain a paragraph that makes it clear that no tender will be 
accepted unless:  

(i) it is enclosed in a plain sealed envelope which shall bear the word 
“Tender” – followed by the subject to which it relates; and  

(ii) the envelope does not include any other name or mark which is 
capable of identifying the sender. 

(c) Tenders received and accepted by the Council shall be kept in the custody of 
the Head of Corporate and Community Services until the time and date 
specified for their opening. 

Page 141

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

66 

 

(d) Where a Tender is received after the specified deadline, the time of receipt will 
be recorded and, in addition, the tender envelope shall be stamped as ‘Late’.  
Once all other tenders to which the contract relates have been opened the late 
tenders will be opened and stamped as ‘Late’.  The appropriate Officer can 
then inform the late tenderer that its tender was received after the deadline 
and therefore was not considered. 

17. Opening of tenders 

17.1 Tenders to be opened via the Procurement Portal shall be opened by a Verifying 
Officer at one time and only in accordance with the requirements of the Procurement 
Portal. 

17.2 Paper based tenders shall be opened at one time and only in the presence of: 

(a) one Member; and 

(b) one person from the Corporate and Community Services team (or such other 
team as the Head of Paid Service may otherwise direct); and 

(c) one of the following:  

(i) the project leader of the project to which the contract relates; or  

(ii) the Head of Service/Service Manager with responsibility for the function 
to which the contract relates; or  

(iii) any other Officer nominated by either of them to perform such a role. 

17.3 Details of tenders received, including the name of the organisation submitting the 
tender and the amount of the bid, shall be recorded in a register kept by the 
Corporate and Community Services team.  

18. Evaluation of tenders 

18.1 All tenders, whether subject to the Regulations or otherwise, will be evaluated in 
accordance with the evaluation criteria set out in the ITT and upon no other basis 
whatsoever. 

18.2 For each procurement subject to the Regulations, or where the value of the contract 
to be awarded exceeds £40,000, the project leader or the Head of Service/Business 
Unit Manager will form an evaluation panel with responsibility for evaluating the 
tenders in accordance with paragraph18.1.  

18.3 All contracts, except where the lowest price was predetermined to be the appropriate 
criteria in the ITT (beneath EU threshold procurements only), will be awarded on the 
basis of the offer that represents the most economically advantageous for the 
Council as determined in the ITT.   

Page 142

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

67 

 

18.4 An Officer shall require tenderers to explain the price or costs proposed in their 
tender where such a tender appears to be abnormally low in relation to the works, 
supplies or services being procured. 

18.5 Prior to the award of any contract due diligence will be carried out to ensure that the 
tenderer has the experience and/or financial means to perform the contract.  For the 
sake of clarity, this includes contracts for the provision of advice or consultancy 
services.  

19. Award of contract 

19.1 When a contract is awarded or a Framework Agreement is concluded pursuant to a 
tendering process under paragraphs 13 or 15 then all tenderers must be sent a 
notice simultaneously (via the Procurement Portal except where the tenders were 
paper based) notifying them of the Council’s decision to award and specifying: 

(a) the criteria for the award of the contract; 

(b) (or where the contract or Framework Agreement was concluded pursuant to a 
tendering process under paragraph 13, offering by way of a separate debrief) 
the reasons for the decision, including a brief summary of:  

(i) (for a successful tenderer) the characteristics and relative advantages 
of the successful tender; or 

(ii) (for an unsuccessful tenderer) the reasons why the tenderer was 
unsuccessful; 

(c) the score (if any) obtained by: 

(i) the tenderer which is to receive the notice; and 

(ii) the tenderer to be awarded the contract or to become a party to the 
Framework Agreement; 

(e) the name of the tenderer to be awarded the contract or to become a party to 
the framework agreement; and 

(f) a statement of when the Council expects to enter into the contract or conclude 
the framework agreement. 

19.2 When a contract is awarded or a Framework Agreement concluded pursuant to the 
procurement procedure in paragraph 15 any additional requirements as to contract 
award set out in the Regulations must also be complied with including:  

(a) that the notice set out in paragraph 19.1 must provide all additional 
information required by the Regulations including setting out the applicable 
Standstill Period; and  

Page 143

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

68 

 

(b) publishing a contract award notice compliant with the requirements of the 
Regulations in the OJEU not later than 30 days following the award of the 
contract or conclusion of the Framework Agreement. 

19.3 Where the Regulations require that a Standstill Period is observed by the Council, 
the Officer must ensure that the Council does not enter into a contract with its 
preferred supplier until the applicable Standstill Period has expired. 

19.4 Letters of intent must only be used in exceptional circumstances and after 
consultation with, and the approval of, the Head of Corporate and Community 
Services. 

PART 4 

Collaborative procurement 

20. Collaborative procurement  

20.1 The Council may, following consultation with and approval of the Head of Corporate 
and Community Services, procure goods, services or works from or through a 
Central Purchasing Body.   

20.2 The Council shall be deemed to have complied with the Regulations and EU 
procurement legislation to the extent that the Central Purchasing Body has itself 
complied.   

20.3 The Officer must ensure that the Council is clearly identified in the call for 
competition by the Central Purchasing Body and may only award a contract to the 
supplier(s) appointed by the Central Purchasing Body and in accordance with the 
terms of the multi-purchaser arrangement.   

20.4 Procurement through a Central Purchasing Body may include one or more of the 
following multi-purchaser structures: 

(a) Framework Agreements: subject to the provisions of the Framework 
Agreement, call-off contracts can be awarded: 

(i) directly to the supplier able to fulfil the order most efficiently (whether in 
terms of price, timing, scale or some other fact that is pre-determined 
by the Framework Agreement), if this can be established by applying 
the terms set out in the Framework Agreement; or 

(ii) following a mini-competition among those suppliers on the framework.  
The use of mini-competitions is required when: 

(A) not all the terms of the proposed contract are laid down in the 
Framework Agreement; or 

(B) it is not possible to select a supplier from the information made 
available when the Framework Agreement was awarded; 

Page 144

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

69 

 

(b) contract permitting further direct contracts with the Supplier: the Council will 
be bound by the terms agreed between the Central Purchasing Body and the 
supplier and the precise scope of the arrangement the Council may enter into 
with the supplier must be in compliance with that set out in the Central 
Purchasing Body’s contract; 

(c) contracting with the Central Purchasing Body as prime contractor: the Council 
will only deal with the supplier as a sub-contractor of the Central Purchasing 
Body and the Council must enter into an agreement with the Central 
Purchasing Body detailing the basis of their arrangement; and 

(d) Dynamic Purchasing Systems: the Officer must issue an ITT, provide 
adequate time for responses and award a contract in accordance with the 
Dynamic Purchasing System established by the Central Purchasing Body. 

PART 5 

Contracts 

21. Contract terms generally 

21.1 Every contract the Council enters into shall be in writing.  

21.2 Where a contract requires execution it shall be executed in accordance with Article 
12 of this Constitution. 

22. Terms and conditions of contracts of a value beneath the relevant EU 
threshold 

22.1 Subject to paragraph 22.2 below, where a contract is reasonably believed to be of a 
value beneath the relevant threshold set out in the Regulations then the Council’s 
standard terms and conditions shall apply to that contract to the exclusion of any 
supplier terms and conditions that are provided in soft or hard copy.  If supplier terms 
and conditions are provided they must be rejected and the rejection should be 
evidenced in writing. 

22.2 Paragraph 22.1 shall not apply where: 

(a) an ITT, with content approved by the Head of Corporate and Community 
Services, identifies alternative terms and conditions; 

(b) a Framework Agreement or Dynamic Purchasing System is being procured; 

(c) the contract for services is an IT contract; 

(d) the contract is for works; 

(e) the contract is being procured from a Framework Agreement or from a Central 
Purchasing Body in accordance with paragraph 20; 

Page 145

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

70 

 

(f) the relevant Head of Service and/or the Head of Corporate and Community 
Services deems that the Council’s standard terms and conditions are not 
appropriate and/or that other terms and conditions are preferable, provided 
that a written record is kept of this reasoning, to remain on the relevant file of 
the officer undertaking the procurement; 

provided such alternative terms and conditions are agreed with the Head of 
Corporate and Community Services in advance of being entered into. 

 

Page 146

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

71 

 

23. Terms and conditions of contracts of a value in excess of EU threshold 

23.1 Contracts and Framework Agreements must be entered into on the terms and 
conditions in the form provided with the ITT and must set out any provisions required 
for inclusion by the Regulations. 

23.2 Any exception to the requirement set out in paragraph 23.1 must be approved by the 
Head of Corporate and Community Services. 

24. Changes to contracts/Framework Agreements 

24.1 A contract or Framework Agreement may only be varied or changed without re-
advertisement if an Officer can show, to the satisfaction of the Head of Corporate 
and Community Services, that (having regard, where relevant, to any additional 
requirements set out in the Regulations): 

(a) the change is provided for in the contract/Framework Agreement in clear, 
precise and unequivocal review clauses; 

(b) the change: 

(i) requires additional works, services or supplies that have become 
necessary and where a change of supplier would not be practicable (for 
economic, technical or interoperability reasons) or involve substantial 
inconvenience/duplication of costs; and/or 

(ii) is unforeseeable by the Officer, acting diligently, provided these 
changes do not affect the nature of the contract/Framework 
Agreement; 

and the value of such a change does not exceed 50% of the original contract 
price.  Where such a change has been made to a contract procured pursuant 
to paragraph 15 the change must be in accordance with the Regulations and 
the appropriate notice must be published in the OJEU; 

(c) corporate changes have occurred in the supplier linked to merger, takeover or 
insolvency provided:  

(i) the new supplier complies with any pre qualification criteria assessed in 
the procurement; and  

(ii) the change in supplier does not require any other substantial 
amendments to the contract/Framework Agreement; 

(d) the modification to the original contract or Framework Agreement is not 
substantial, that is it: 

(i) is not a modification which renders the contract/Framework Agreement 
materially different in character from the one concluded; 

(ii) would not have resulted in a different outcome in the procurement; 

Page 147

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 4 

May 2019 

72 

 

25. Register of contracts 

25.1 In accordance with the Local Government Transparency Code 2014 (and any 
subsequent or similar statutory requirement) the Head of Corporate and Community 
Services shall keep and maintain a register of all contracts awarded by the Council of 
a value in excess of £5,000 including at least the following detail: 

(a) reference number; 

(b) title of the agreement 

(c) the Council department responsible; 

(d) description of the goods, services or works being provided; 

(e) the name and details of the supplier; 

(f) the sum to be paid over the length of the contract or the estimated annual 
spending or budget for the contract; 

(g) Value Added Tax that cannot be recovered; 

(h) start, end and review dates; 

(i) whether or not the contract was the result of a RFQ or an ITT; and 

(j) whether or not the supplier is a small or medium sized enterprise and/or a 
voluntary or community sector organisation and where it is, the relevant 
registration number must be provided. 

25.2 It shall be the responsibility of Officers to monitor their contracts and ensure that the 
Head of Corporate and Community Services is provided with correct, up to date and 
appropriate information to allow full compliance with paragraph 25.1. 

 

Page 148

Agenda Item 9
Appendix D



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 7 

MAY 2015 

1 

 

PART 7: MEMBERS’ ROLE DESCRIPTIONS 

In this part of the Constitution, descriptions of the various roles performed by 
Councillors are set out.   
 
CHAIR OF THE COUNCIL 
 
The Chair of the Council is 'the first citizen' of the District. 
 
1.  To uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution. 
 
2.  To preside over meetings of the Council so that its business can be carried out 

efficiently and with regard to the rights of Councillors and the interests of the 
community. 

 
3.  To ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of matters of 

concern to the local community. 
 
4.  To attend such civic and ceremonial functions as the Council and he determines 

appropriate. 
 
5. To represent the District at all civic and ceremonial functions and act as the 

ambassador for the Council at such functions. 
 
In the absence of the Chair, this role will be undertaken by the appointed Vice-Chair of 
the Council. 
 
LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 
 
1.  To represent the strategic leadership of the Council provided by the Full Council 

and Strategy and Resources Committee and ensure that the Council successfully 
discharges its responsibilities. 

 
2.  To provide visible political leadership in relation to citizens, stakeholders and 

partners in the overall co-ordination of Council policies, strategies and service 
delivery. 

 
3.  To lead the Strategy and Resources Committee in its work to develop the policy 

framework and budget, and be responsible for overall political control of the 
Council within the agreed policy framework. 

 
4.  To lead the development of local, regional, national and European policy and 

strategic partnerships. 

Page 149

Agenda Item 9
Appendix E



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 7 

MAY 2015 

2 

 

 
5.  To provide leadership to the Council and its political administration. 
 
6.  To chair the Strategy and Resources Committee and conduct meetings in 

accordance with the Council’s rules and procedures contained in the 
Constitution. 

 
7.  To act as the lead spokesperson for the Council, to issue press releases, and to 

present the Council’s position on any issue to the media. 
 
8.  To ensure effective communication between all political groups, officers, partners 

and the community. 
 
9. To encourage and facilitate cooperation between all political groups with a view 

to reaching consensus on major issues. 
 
10.  To respond to consultation documents issued by the government or any agency 

or body where the Council has been asked to give a response. 
 
MEMBER OF STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
 
1. To work collaboratively and to cooperate with all other members of the 

Committee in formulating the Councils policies, strategies, budget and other 
decisions referred to the Committee and to take decisions in accordance with 
those policies etc. 
 

2. To have a clear understanding of the challenges facing Local Government and 
the Council in particular and to take decisions with a view to meeting those 
challenges. 
 

3. To be open to imaginative and different ways of delivering services. 
 

4. To formulate and implement the strategies and policies of the Council and to take 
decisions on issues presented to the Committee for the benefit of the whole 
District and not particular wards or areas.   

 
LEAD MEMBER 
 
1.  To contribute actively to the formation of the Council’s policies, budget, strategies 

and service delivery so far as they affect the area for which they lead. 
 
2.  To have a clear understanding and in depth knowledge of the area of 

responsibility and an awareness of current agreed policies in respect of that area. 

Page 150

Agenda Item 9
Appendix E



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 7 

MAY 2015 

3 

 

 
3.  To consult and communicate with members of all party groups, Council officers 

and key partners as appropriate to ensure decisions are well informed and that 
Council policies are widely understood and positively promoted. 

 
4.  To attend, if required, the Policy Development Committee where necessary in 

order to participate and contribute to policy development or studies. 
 
5. To act as spokesperson for the relevant area unless the Leader considers 

differently. 
 
COUNCILLOR 
 
1.  To communicate with the public in a variety of ways including electronically and 

in person. 
 
2.  To look for ways to promote democracy and increase public and community 

engagement including town and parish councils and interest groups. 
 
3.  To represent effectively and be an advocate for local residents, their communities 

and wards in their relations with the Council and other local and national 
government bodies. 

 
4. To provide a conduit through which residents can make better use of Council 

services and be the key link between Council officers and local communities. 
 
5.  To keep up-to-date with local concerns by drawing information from diverse 

sources including hard to reach groups. 
 
6.  To communicate with constituents, for example, through holding ‘drop-in 

surgeries’, usually in community buildings such as a local community centre; a 
place where local people visit regularly. 

 
7.  To deal with constituent enquiries about aspects of Council business. 
 
8.  To undertake case work such as representing an individual or a family. 
 
9.  To support local partnerships and organisations. 
 
10. To campaign on local issues, championing the causes which further the interests, 

quality of life and development of the community. 
 

Page 151

Agenda Item 9
Appendix E



NDDC CONSTITUTION 

Part 7 

MAY 2015 

4 

 

11.  To listen to the needs of local people and take their views into account when 
considering policy proposals and in decision making. 

 
12.  To attend meetings of the Council and of any relevant committees. 
 
COMMITTEE CHAIR 
 
1.  To lead the work of the Committee ensuring the overall co-ordination and 

management of its functions. 
 
2.  To chair and manage committee meetings and ensure the committee acts within 

its terms of reference in accordance with the Constitution. 
 
3.  To ensure that the agenda items meet the needs of the committee. 
 
4.  To answer questions at a committee raised by a member of that committee on 

any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affect 
the district and which fall within the terms of reference of that committee. 

 
5. To answer questions from Councillors at Council on their committee. 
 
6.  To develop and maintain a working knowledge of the practices, procedure, 

services and functions which fall within the committee’s terms of reference. 
 
7.  To meet regularly with relevant officers to ensure the receipt of appropriate 

independent advice to inform the committee’s activities. 
 
In the absence of the Chair, this role will be undertaken by the appointed Vice-Chair of 
the Committee. 

Page 152

Agenda Item 9
Appendix E



Open 

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL 

 

REPORT TO: COUNCIL 

Date: 15th April 2019 

TOPIC: PROPOSED COMMITTEE TIMETABLE FOR 2019/2020 

REPORT BY: SENIOR CORPORATE AND COMMUNITY SERVICES 
OFFICER 

 

1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1  The report outlines the basic principles for timetabling standing Council, and 
Committee meetings and recommends a proposed timetable for the year 
2019/2020. 

2 RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 That following the previous decision made by Council regarding the Governance 
arrangements for the Council, Council adopt the timetable of Council and 
Committee meetings for 2019/2020 as detailed in Appendix A or Appendix B.  

3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1  To ensure that the Council has a timetable of Committee meetings for 2019/2020. 

4 REPORT 

4.1  The proposed Committee timetable for 2019/2020 (appendix A) is based on the 
following principles: 

 Council (scheduled for Wednesdays to commence at 6.00 pm).   

   Council meets 7 times a year 

- July 2019 (NOTE: The Statement of Accounts need to be approved 
and published by 31st July 2019) 

- September 2019  

- November 2019 

- January 2020 (to set the Council Tax Base) 

- February 2020 (to set the Council Tax.  DCC Budget setting meeting 
is scheduled to be held on 20th February 2020). 

- April 2020 (and Annual Council). 

 Strategy and Resources Committee has been scheduled on a monthly 
cycle on the first Monday at 10.00 am except: 

Page 153

Agenda Item 10



 August 2019 where a reserved date has been scheduled.   

 Licensing and Community Safety Committee has been scheduled bi-
monthly on Tuesdays at 10.00 am (June, with the exception of August, 
September, November, January and March).  

 Planning Committee has been scheduled monthly on the second 
Wednesday at 10.00 am.   Meetings will be held at the Rugby Club. 

 Policy Development Committee has been scheduled on Thursdays at 
2.00 pm (June, July, September, November, December, January, 
February and March). 

 Harbour Board has been scheduled quarterly on the second Tuesday of 
the month at 2 pm.  Meetings will be held at the Ilfracombe Centre. 

 Governance Committee has been scheduled on Tuesdays at 6.00 pm 
(June, July, September, November, January and March).  The meeting of 
the Committee in June will consider the draft statement of accounts for 
2018/19 and the draft Annual Governance Statement. The meeting of the 
Committee in July will consider the External Auditors audit findings report 
on the 2018/19 Financial Statements.  NOTE: The meeting scheduled in 
July 2019 has been scheduled on Monday 22nd July 2019 due to the 
requirement for the recommendations from the Committee to be 
presented to Council on 24th July 2019). 

 North Devon Crematorium Joint Committee has been scheduled on 
Fridays at 2:30 pm (June, August, November and February).  Meetings to 
be held at ND Crematorium. 

4.2   Appendix B shows a timetable for the Executive Style system where Executive 
Committee is shown instead of Strategy and Resources Committee and Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee is shown in place of Policy Development Committee. 

4.3   In preparing the draft timetable both Devon County Council and Exmoor National 
Park Authority schedule of meetings have been consulted to avoid clashes of 
meetings where possible.   

5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The cost of printing a diary for Members will be approximately £220 and is contained 
within existing budgets. 

5.2 The production of the diary can be accommodated within existing staff resources. 

6 CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT 

Appendix and paragraph Referred or 
delegated 

power? 

Article 4, paragraph 
4.5.15 

Delegated 

Page 154

Agenda Item 10



Part 4 Council Procedure 
Rules, paragraph 2 

Referred 

7 STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

7.1  This report does not contain any information that is confidential or exempt under the 
Access to Information Regulations. 

8 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

8.1   There are no background papers. 

9 STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE 

9.1 The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate 
Councillors and officers. 

Executive Member: Councillor Brailey 

Author: Beverley Triggs  Date: 4th April 2019 

Reference: committee timetable report 2019/20 

Page 155

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL 
 

COMMITTEE TIMETABLE 2019/2020 
 
 

CYCLE 1    (10 weeks) 
 
20th May 2019 – 26th July 2019 
  
MAY Monday 20  

 Tuesday 21  

 Wednesday 22  

 Thursday  23 (DCC Annual Meeting, Council 2.15pm) 

 Friday 24  

    

 Monday  27 ----------Bank Holiday---------- 
-----------Schools Half Term------------ 

 Tuesday 28  

 Wednesday 29  

 Thursday 30  

 Friday 31  

    

JUNE Monday 3 10:00AM STRATEGY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE 

 Tuesday 4 2:00PM HARBOUR BOARD                      
             (Exmoor National Park Authority (ENP) 10 AM) 

 Wednesday 5  

 Thursday  6                                               

 Friday 7  

    

 Monday 10  

 Tuesday 11 6:00PM GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 Wednesday 12 10:00AM PLANNING COMMITTEE 
          (DCC CABINET 10:30AM) 

 Thursday 13  

 Friday  14   

    

 Monday 17   

 Tuesday 18 10:00AM LICENSING  & COMMUNITY SAFETY 
COMMITTEE 

 Wednesday 19  

 Thursday 20 2:00PM POLICY DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

 Friday 21 2:30PM ND CREMATORIUM JOINT COMMITTEE 

    

 Monday 24  

 Tuesday 25  

 Wednesday 26  

 Thursday 27 (DCC 10.30 am North Devon Highways and Traffic 
Orders Committee(HATOC)) 

 Friday 28  

    

JULY Monday 1 10:00AM STRATEGY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE 

 Tuesday 2                                                    (ENP 10AM) 

 Wednesday 3                                                    

 Thursday 4  

 Friday 5  

    

 Monday 8  

Page 157

Agenda Item 10
Appendix A



2 
 

JULY Tuesday  9  

 Wednesday 10  10:00AM PLANNING COMMITTEE                 
(DCC CABINET10:30) 

 Thursday 11  

 Friday 12  

    

 Monday 15  

 Tuesday 16  

 Wednesday 17   

 Thursday 18  2:00PM POLICY DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE                                               

 Friday 19   

    

 Monday 22 6:00PM GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 Tuesday  23  

 Wednesday 24 6:00PM COUNCIL 

 Thursday 25 (DCC FULL COUNCIL 2:15pm) 

 Friday  26 ------  School Summer Holidays begin------- 

 
  

Page 158

Agenda Item 10
Appendix A



3 
 

CYCLE 2    (9 weeks) 
 
29th July 2019 – 27th September 2019 
 
JULY Monday 29  

 Tuesday 30  

 Wednesday 31  

AUG Thursday 1  

 Friday 2  

    

 Monday 5 10:00AM STRATEGY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
(RESERVED DATE) 

 Tuesday 6 (ENP Reserve date 10 AM) 

 Wednesday 7 ------------The North Devon Show--------- 

 Thursday 8  

 Friday 9 2:30 PM JOINT CREMATORIUM COMMITTEE 

    

 Monday 12  

 Tuesday 13 2:00 PM HARBOUR BOARD 

 Wednesday 14 10:00 AM PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 Thursday 15  

 Friday 16  

    

 Monday 19   

 Tuesday 20  

 Wednesday 21  

 Thursday 22   

 Friday 23   

    

 Monday 26 ---------------Bank Holiday--------------- 

 Tuesday 27  

 Wednesday 28  

 Thursday 29  

 Friday 30  

   --------New Academic Year--------- 

SEPT Monday 2 10:00AM STRATEGY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE 

 Tuesday 3 6:00PM GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE   
                  (ENP 10AM) 

 Wednesday 4  

 Thursday 5   

 Friday 6   

    

 Monday 9  

 Tuesday 10 10:00AM LICENSING & COMMUNITY SAFETY 
COMMITTEE 

 Wednesday 11 10:00AM PLANNING COMMITTEE 
(DCC 10.30am CABINET) 

 Thursday 12 2:00PM POLICY DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

 Friday 13   

    

 Monday 16  

 Tuesday 17  

 Wednesday  18  -------------Barnstaple Fair Day------------- 

 Thursday 19  

 Friday 20   

    

 Monday 23  

 Tuesday 24  

Page 159

Agenda Item 10
Appendix A



4 
 

 Wednesday  25 6:00PM COUNCIL 

 Thursday 26  

 Friday 27  

   

Page 160

Agenda Item 10
Appendix A



5 
 

CYCLE 3    (8 weeks) 
 

30th September 2019 – 22nd November 2019 
 

SEPT Monday 30  

OCT Tuesday 1                                                  (ENP 10AM) 

 Wednesday 2  

 Thursday 3                                           (DCC COUNCIL 2:15PM) 

 Friday 4  
    

 Monday 7 10:00AM STRATEGY & RESOURCES 
COMMITTEE 

 Tuesday 8  

 Wednesday  9 10:00AM PLANNING COMMITTEE 
          (DCC CABINET 10:30) 

 Thursday 10  

 Friday 11  
    

 Monday 14  

 Tuesday 15  

 Wednesday 16  

 Thursday 17  

 Friday  18  
    

 Monday 21 -----------Schools Half Term------------- 

 Tuesday 22  

 Wednesday 23  

 Thursday 24  

 Friday 25  
    

 Monday 28  

 Tuesday 29  

 Wednesday 30  

 Thursday 31 (DCC, HaTOC 10:30 AM) 

NOV Friday 1  

    

 Monday 4 10:00 AM STRATEGY & RESOURCES 
COMMITTEE 

 Tuesday 5 6:00 PM GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE    
(ENP 10:00 AM) 

 Wednesday  6  

 Thursday 7  

 Friday 8 2:30 PM ND CREMATORIUM JOINT COMMITTEE 

    

 Monday 11  

 Tuesday 12 10:00 AM LICENSING & COMMUNITY SAFETY 
COMMITTEE  
2:00 PM HARBOUR BOARD 

 Wednesday 13 10:00 AM PLANNING COMMITTEE 
(DCC 10.30am CABINET) 

 Thursday 14 2:00 PM POLICY DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE                                           

 Friday 15  

    

 Monday 18  

 Tuesday 19  

 Wednesday 20 6:00PM COUNCIL 

 Thursday 21  

 Friday 22  

    

Page 161

Agenda Item 10
Appendix A



6 
 

CYCLE 4    (8 weeks) 
 
 25th November 2019 – 17th January 2020 

NOV Monday 25  

 Tuesday 26  

 Wednesday 27  

 Thursday 28  

 Friday 29  

    

DEC Monday 2 10:00 AM STRATEGY & RESOURCES 
COMMITTEE 

 Tuesday 3                                                    (ENP 10:00 AM) 

 Wednesday 4  

 Thursday 5                                           (DCC COUNCIL 2:15PM) 

 Friday 6  

    

 Monday 9  

 Tuesday 10  

 Wednesday 11 10:00AM PLANNING COMMITTEE 
(DCC CABINET10:30 am) 

 Thursday 12 2:00PM POLICY DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

 Friday 13  

    

 Monday  16  

 Tuesday 17  

 Wednesday 18  

 Thursday 19  

 Friday 20 ------Last day of School Term------ 

    

 Monday 23  

 Tuesday 24  

 Wednesday 25 -------Christmas Day------ 

 Thursday 26 ------Boxing Day------ 

 Friday 27  

    

 Monday 30  

 Tuesday 31  

JAN Wednesday 1 -------------NEW YEARS DAY------------ 

 Thursday 2   

 Friday 3  

    

 Monday 6 10:00 AM STRATEGY & RESOURCES 
COMMITTEE 

------------Schools return----------- 

 Tuesday 7 6:00 PM GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 Wednesday 8 10:00 AM PLANNING COMMITTEE 
            (DCC CABINET 10:30am) 

 Thursday 9 2:00 PM POLICY DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

 Friday 10  

    

 Monday 13  

JAN Tuesday 14 10:00 AM LICENSING & COMMUNITY SAFETY 
COMMITTEE 

 Wednesday 15 6:00 PM COUNCIL 

 Thursday 16  

 Friday 17  

    

Page 162

Agenda Item 10
Appendix A



7 
 

CYCLE 5    (6 weeks) 
 
20th January 2020 –28th February 2020 
 
JAN Monday 20  

 Tuesday 21  

 Wednesday 22  

 Thursday 23  

 Friday 24  

    

 Monday 27  

 Tuesday 28  

 Wednesday  29  

 Thursday 30  

 Friday 31  

    

FEB Monday 3 10:00 AM STRATEGY AND RESOURCES 
COMMITTEE 

 Tuesday 4 2:00 PM HARBOUR BOARD 

 Wednesday 5  

 Thursday 6  

 Friday 7 2:30 PM ND CREMATORIUM JOINT COMMITTEE 

    

 Monday 10  

 Tuesday 11  

 Wednesday 12 10:00 AM PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 Thursday 13 2:00 PM POLICY DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

 Friday 14 (DCC CABINET 10:30 am) 

    

 Monday 17 -------------Schools Half Term--------------- 

 Tuesday 18  

 Wednesday  19  

 Thursday 20 (DCC BUDGET , COUNCIL 2:15 pm) 

 Friday 21  

    

 Monday 24  

 Tuesday 25   (DCC RESERVE BUDGET, COUNCIL10.30 am) 

 Wednesday  26 6:00 PM COUNCIL 

 Thursday 27  

 Friday 28  

  

Page 163

Agenda Item 10
Appendix A



8 
 

CYCLE 6   (6 weeks) 
 
2nd March 2020 – 3rd April 2020 
 
MAR Monday 2 10:00 AM STRATEGY AND RESOURCES 

COMMITTEE 

 Tuesday 3  

 Wednesday 4  

 Thursday 5  

 Friday 6  

    

 Monday 9  

 Tuesday 10 10:00 AM LICENSING & COMMUNITY 
SAFETY COMMITTEE 
6:00 PM GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 Wednesday 11 10:00 AM PLANNING COMMITTEE 
   (DCC CABINET 10:30 am) 

 Thursday 12  

 Friday 13  

    

 Monday 16  

 Tuesday 17  

 Wednesday 18  

 Thursday 19 2:00 PM POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
COMMITTEE 

 Friday 20  

    

 Monday 23  

 Tuesday 24  

 Wednesday 25  

 Thursday 26  

 Friday 27  

    

 Monday 30 -----------School Holidays------------ 
(DCC HATOC10:30) 

 Tuesday 31  

APR Wednesday 1 6:00 pm COUNCIL  
6:45 pm (Approximately) ANNUAL COUNCIL 

 Thursday 2  

 Friday 3  

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Ref: T:/ Democratic/Committee/Timetable 2019-2020  
 

Page 164

Agenda Item 10
Appendix A



1 
 

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL 
 

COMMITTEE TIMETABLE 2019/2020 
 
 

CYCLE 1    (10 weeks) 
 
20th May 2019 – 26th July 2019 
  
MAY Monday 20  

 Tuesday 21  

 Wednesday 22  

 Thursday  23 (DCC Annual Meeting, Council 2.15pm) 

 Friday 24  

    

 Monday  27 ----------Bank Holiday---------- 
-----------Schools Half Term------------ 

 Tuesday 28  

 Wednesday 29  

 Thursday 30  

 Friday 31  

    

JUNE Monday 3 10:00AM EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

 Tuesday 4 2:00PM HARBOUR BOARD                      
             (Exmoor National Park Authority (ENP) 10 AM) 

 Wednesday 5  

 Thursday  6                                               

 Friday 7  

    

 Monday 10  

 Tuesday 11 6:00PM AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 Wednesday 12 10:00AM PLANNING COMMITTEE 
          (DCC CABINET 10:30AM) 

 Thursday 13  

 Friday  14   

    

 Monday 17   

 Tuesday 18 10:00AM LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 Wednesday 19  

 Thursday 20 2:00PM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 Friday 21 2:30PM ND CREMATORIUM JOINT COMMITTEE 

    

 Monday 24  

 Tuesday 25  

 Wednesday 26  

 Thursday 27 (DCC 10.30 am North Devon Highways and Traffic 
Orders Committee(HATOC)) 

 Friday 28  

    

JULY Monday 1 10:00AM EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

 Tuesday 2                                                    (ENP 10AM) 

 Wednesday 3                                                    

 Thursday 4  

 Friday 5  

    

 Monday 8  

Page 165

Agenda Item 10
Appendix B



2 
 

JULY Tuesday  9  

 Wednesday 10  10:00AM PLANNING COMMITTEE                 
(DCC CABINET10:30) 

 Thursday 11  

 Friday 12  

    

 Monday 15  

 Tuesday 16 10:00AM LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 Wednesday 17   

 Thursday 18  2:00PM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE                                               

 Friday 19   

    

 Monday 22 6:00PM AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 Tuesday  23  

 Wednesday 24 6:00PM COUNCIL 

 Thursday 25 (DCC FULL COUNCIL 2:15pm) 

 Friday  26 ------  School Summer Holidays begin------- 

 
  

Page 166

Agenda Item 10
Appendix B



3 
 

CYCLE 2    (9 weeks) 
 
29th July 2019 – 27th September 2019 
 
JULY Monday 29  

 Tuesday 30  

 Wednesday 31  

AUG Thursday 1  

 Friday 2  

    

 Monday 5 10:00AM EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (RESERVED 
DATE) 

 Tuesday 6 (ENP Reserve date 10 AM) 

 Wednesday 7 ------------The North Devon Show--------- 

 Thursday 8  

 Friday 9 2:30 PM JOINT CREMATORIUM COMMITTEE 

    

 Monday 12  

 Tuesday 13 2:00 PM HARBOUR BOARD 

 Wednesday 14 10:00 AM PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 Thursday 15  

 Friday 16  

    

 Monday 19   

 Tuesday 20  

 Wednesday 21  

 Thursday 22   

 Friday 23   

    

 Monday 26 ---------------Bank Holiday--------------- 

 Tuesday 27  

 Wednesday 28  

 Thursday 29  

 Friday 30  

   --------New Academic Year--------- 

SEPT Monday 2 10:00AM EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

 Tuesday 3 6:00PM AUDIT COMMITTEE   
                  (ENP 10AM) 

 Wednesday 4  

 Thursday 5   

 Friday 6   

    

 Monday 9  

 Tuesday 10 10:00AM LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 Wednesday 11 10:00AM PLANNING COMMITTEE 
(DCC 10.30am CABINET) 

 Thursday 12 2:00PM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 Friday 13   

    

 Monday 16  

 Tuesday 17  

 Wednesday  18  -------------Barnstaple Fair Day------------- 

 Thursday 19  

 Friday 20   

    

 Monday 23  

 Tuesday 24  

 Wednesday  25 6:00PM COUNCIL 

Page 167

Agenda Item 10
Appendix B



4 
 

 Thursday 26  

 Friday 27  

   

Page 168

Agenda Item 10
Appendix B



5 
 

CYCLE 3    (8 weeks) 
 

30th September 2019 – 22nd November 2019 
 

SEPT Monday 30  

OCT Tuesday 1                                                  (ENP 10AM) 

 Wednesday 2  

 Thursday 3                                           (DCC COUNCIL 2:15PM) 

 Friday 4  
    

 Monday 7 10:00AM EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

 Tuesday 8 10:00AM LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 Wednesday  9 10:00AM PLANNING COMMITTEE 
          (DCC CABINET 10:30) 

 Thursday 10  

 Friday 11  
    

 Monday 14  

 Tuesday 15  

 Wednesday 16  

 Thursday 17  

 Friday  18  
    

 Monday 21 -----------Schools Half Term------------- 

 Tuesday 22  

 Wednesday 23  

 Thursday 24  

 Friday 25  
    

 Monday 28  

 Tuesday 29  

 Wednesday 30  

 Thursday 31 (DCC, HaTOC 10:30 AM) 

NOV Friday 1  

    

 Monday 4 10:00 AM EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

 Tuesday 5 6:00 PM AUDIT COMMITTEE    
(ENP 10:00 AM) 

 Wednesday  6  

 Thursday 7  

 Friday 8 2:30 PM ND CREMATORIUM JOINT COMMITTEE 

    

 Monday 11  

 Tuesday 12 10:00 AM LICENSING COMMITTEE  
2:00 PM HARBOUR BOARD 

 Wednesday 13 10:00 AM PLANNING COMMITTEE 
(DCC 10.30am CABINET) 

 Thursday 14 2:00 PM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE                                           

 Friday 15  

    

 Monday 18  

 Tuesday 19  

 Wednesday 20 6:00PM COUNCIL 

 Thursday 21  

 Friday 22  

    

CYCLE 4    (8 weeks) 
 

Page 169

Agenda Item 10
Appendix B



6 
 

 25th November 2019 – 17th January 2020 
CYCLE 5    (6 weeks) 
 

20th January 2020 –28th February 2020 

NOV Monday 25  

 Tuesday 26  

 Wednesday 27  

 Thursday 28  

 Friday 29  

    

DEC Monday 2 10:00 AM EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

 Tuesday 3                                                    (ENP 10:00 AM) 

 Wednesday 4  

 Thursday 5                                           (DCC COUNCIL 2:15PM) 

 Friday 6  

    

 Monday 9  

 Tuesday 10 10:00AM LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 Wednesday 11 10:00AM PLANNING COMMITTEE 
(DCC CABINET10:30 am) 

 Thursday 12 2:00PM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

 Friday 13  

    

 Monday  16  

 Tuesday 17  

 Wednesday 18  

 Thursday 19  

 Friday 20 ------Last day of School Term------ 

    

 Monday 23  

 Tuesday 24  

 Wednesday 25 -------Christmas Day------ 

 Thursday 26 ------Boxing Day------ 

 Friday 27  

    

 Monday 30  

 Tuesday 31  

JAN Wednesday 1 -------------NEW YEARS DAY------------ 

 Thursday 2   

 Friday 3  

    

 Monday 6 10:00 AM EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 
------------Schools return----------- 

 Tuesday 7 6:00 PM AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 Wednesday 8 10:00 AM PLANNING COMMITTEE 
            (DCC CABINET 10:30am) 

 Thursday 9 2:00 PM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

 Friday 10  

    

 Monday 13  

JAN Tuesday 14 10:00 AM LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 Wednesday 15 6:00 PM COUNCIL 

 Thursday 16  

 Friday 17  

    

Page 170

Agenda Item 10
Appendix B



7 
 

 
JAN Monday 20  

 Tuesday 21  

 Wednesday 22  

 Thursday 23  

 Friday 24  

    

 Monday 27  

 Tuesday 28  

 Wednesday  29  

 Thursday 30  

 Friday 31  

    

FEB Monday 3 10:00 AM EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

 Tuesday 4 2:00 PM HARBOUR BOARD 

 Wednesday 5  

 Thursday 6  

 Friday 7 2:30 PM ND CREMATORIUM JOINT COMMITTEE 

    

 Monday 10  

 Tuesday 11 10:00 AM LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 Wednesday 12 10:00 AM PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 Thursday 13 2:00 PM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

 Friday 14 (DCC CABINET 10:30 am) 

    

 Monday 17 -------------Schools Half Term--------------- 

 Tuesday 18  

 Wednesday  19  

 Thursday 20 (DCC BUDGET , COUNCIL 2:15 pm) 

 Friday 21  

    

 Monday 24  

 Tuesday 25   (DCC RESERVE BUDGET, COUNCIL10.30 am) 

 Wednesday  26 6:00 PM COUNCIL 

 Thursday 27  

 Friday 28  

  

Page 171

Agenda Item 10
Appendix B



8 
 

CYCLE 6   (6 weeks) 
 
2nd March 2020 – 3rd April 2020 
 
MAR Monday 2 10:00 AM EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

 Tuesday 3  

 Wednesday 4  

 Thursday 5  

 Friday 6  

    

 Monday 9  

 Tuesday 10 10:00 AM LICENSING COMMITTEE 
6:00 PM AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 Wednesday 11 10:00 AM PLANNING COMMITTEE 
   (DCC CABINET 10:30 am) 

 Thursday 12  

 Friday 13  

    

 Monday 16  

 Tuesday 17  

 Wednesday 18  

 Thursday 19 2:00 PM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

 Friday 20  

    

 Monday 23  

 Tuesday 24  

 Wednesday 25  

 Thursday 26  

 Friday 27  

    

 Monday 30 -----------School Holidays------------ 
(DCC HATOC10:30) 

 Tuesday 31  

APR Wednesday 1 6:00 pm COUNCIL  
6:45 pm (Approximately) ANNUAL COUNCIL 

 Thursday 2  

 Friday 3  

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Ref: T:/ Democratic/Committee/Exec Timetable 2019-2020  
 

Page 172

Agenda Item 10
Appendix B



NORTH DEVON COUNCIL 
 
 

REPORT TO: 
 

COUNCIL 

TOPIC 
 

Head of Paid Service: Remuneration 

DATE  15th April 2019 
  
Report By: 
 

HR Manager 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 This report details the setting of the salary for the Head of Paid 
Service.  

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1 That the report and suggested salary, as outlined in 5.1, be approved. 
 

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

3.1 There is a requirement for Full Council to agree the salary of a Head of 
Paid Service; all other posts below this are determined by the Job 
Evaluation Scheme used by North Devon Council called ‘Inbucon’. 

 
4. REPORT 
 

4.1 The salary for a Head of Paid Service is a ‘spot salary’ and this needs 
to be and will continue to be, agreed through a transparent process by 
Council.  The salary level set will be consistent with similar 
organisations, which aim to pay according to median salaries.  

 
4.2 There will be due regard to balance the need to ensure value for 

money, but enable North Devon Council to recruit and/or retain high 
quality officers in the context of national, regional and local labour 
markets through seeking guidance from South West Councils. 

 
4.3 Any salary increases in relation to cost of living will be made in line with 

National Joint Council recommendations. 
 
 
5. COST IMPLICATIONS 
 

5.1 The proposed salary for the Head of Paid Service is £90,000 which is 
lower than the remuneration of our current Chief Executive, but the  
new structure reflects that the post will be supported by a Director level 
post. 

Page 173

Agenda Item 11



5.2 The proposed salary level is comparable with our neighbouring 
councils and reflects the new management structure being proposed.   
South West Councils are supportive of the proposed salary level. 

 
 
6. EQUALITY AND HUMAN RIGHTS 
 

6.1 Compliant 
 
 
 
7. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT 

Article and paragraph Appendix & 
paragraph 

Referred or 
delegated 
power? 

Article 4, Part 2 Para 4.5.11 
Para 4.5.15 

Delegated 

 
 
 
8. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL ADVICE 
 

8.1 The Leader of the Council, Chief Finance Officer and South West 
Councils  

 
 
9. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 
 

9.1 There is no reason for this report to remain confidential. 
 
10. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

10.1 Localism Act 2011 
 
10.2 North Devon Council Constitution 

 
. 
 
 
 
Author: Nikki Gordon  Date: 2nd April 2019 
 
 

Page 174

Agenda Item 11



NORTH DEVON COUNCIL 
 
 

REPORT TO: 
 

COUNCIL 

TOPIC 
 

Head of Paid Service: Appointment 

DATE 15th April 2019 
  
Report By: 
 

HR Manager 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1 This report details the recommendation from the Interview Panel for the 
appointment to the post of Head of Paid Service.  

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

2.1 That the Council approve the recommendation to make an offer of 
appointment to Ken Miles for the position of Head of Paid Service. 

 
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

3.1 The offer of appointment to the position of Head of Paid Service needs 
to be approved by Council. 

 
4. REPORT 
 

4.1  Following the interview process on 26th March 2019, the Panel put 
forward Ken Miles as the recommended candidate. 

 
4.2  The Proper Officer notified all Members of Executive and no well- 

founded objections to the recommendation were received by the 
deadline.    

   
 
5. COST IMPLICATIONS 
 

5.1 The proposed annual salary for the Head of Paid Service is £90,000. 
 

 
6. EQUALITY AND HUMAN RIGHTS 
 

6.1 Compliant 
 
 
 
 

Page 175

Agenda Item 12



 
 
 
7. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT 
 

Article and paragraph Appendix & 
paragraph 

Referred or 
delegated 
power? 

Article 4, Part 2 Para 4.5.11 Delegated 
 
 
 
8. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL ADVICE 
 

8.1 The Leader of the Council, Chief Finance Officer, Interview Panel 
(Group Leaders and Chair of Personnel).   

 
9. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 
 

9.1 There is no reason for this report to remain confidential. 
 
10. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

10.1 North Devon Council Constitution 
 
. 
 
 
 
Author: Nikki Gordon  Date: 2nd April 2019 
 
 

Page 176

Agenda Item 12



 
 
 

Open 

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL 

 

REPORT TO: FULL COUNCIL 

Date: 15th April 2019 

TOPIC: APPOINTMENT OF RETURNING OFFICER AND 
ELECTORAL REGISTRATION OFFICER 

REPORT BY: CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 

1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Under the Representation of the People Act 1983, every District Council is 
required to appoint an officer to be the Returning Officer (RO) for relevant 
elections and to be the Electoral Registration Officer (ERO). 

1.2 Full Council has responsibility for confirming these appointments.  

2 RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 To appoint Ken Miles as Returning Officer and Electoral Registration Officer with 
effect from 31st May 2019, subject to the prior acceptance of the role of Head of 
Paid Service. 

3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1 To ensure that the statutory roles are filled. 

4 REPORT 

4.1 The role of RO is a personal responsibility and the duties are separate from the 
duties as local government officer.  A failure to comply with the duties set down 
in legislation could leave the RO open to criminal sanctions. 

4.2 The role of ERO is responsible for preparation and maintenance of the register 
of electors for their area.  It is usual for the ERO to be the same officer as the 
RO.  

4.3 Both roles are currently undertaken by the Chief Executive.   

4.4 Subject to previous reports on the agenda, there will be a change in 
management of the Council and so as a result, provision needs to be made for 
a replacement for both roles. 

Page 177

Agenda Item 13



4.5 The recommendation above fits with the recommendations of other reports on 
the agenda. 

5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 There are none arising from this report. 

6 CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT 

Article or Appendix 
and paragraph 

Referred or 
delegated power? 

4.5.15 Delegated 

7 STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

7.1  This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under the 
provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act. 

8 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

8.1 The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 

o  

The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author of 
the report. 

9 STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE 

9.1 The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate 
Councillors and Officers. 

Author: Mike Mansell   Date: 2nd April 2019 
Reference:  

Page 178

Agenda Item 13


	Agenda
	9 Adoption of Constitution
	2019.04.15 Constitution Part 1 - Summary and Explanation
	2019.04.15 Constitution Part 2 - District Articles without OS (km amends)
	2019.04.15 Constitution Part 3 - Committee Structure without OS
	2019.04.15 Constittution Part 4 - rules of procedure without OS
	2019.04.15 Constitution Part 7 - Members Role descriptions

	10 Proposed Committee Timetable 2019/20
	2019.04.15 committee timetable 2019-20 appendix A
	2019.04.15 Exec Style committee timetable 2019-20 appendix B

	11 Head of Paid Service: Remuneration
	12 Head of Paid Service: Appointment
	13 Appointment of Returning Officer and Electoral Registration Officer

